## SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D. C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT FILED PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended August 1, 1998 Commission file number 1-8897

CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION

A Delaware Corporation IRS No. 06-1119097 1105 North Market Street, Suite 1300 P. O. Box 8985 Wilmington, Delaware 19899 (302) 478-4896

Indicate whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months, and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes [X] No [ ]

The number of shares of Common Stock \$.01 par value per share, outstanding as of September 4, 1998, was 109,482,649 and there were no shares of Nonvoting Common Stock, \$.01 par value per share outstanding at that date.

## CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q

## INDEX

	Page
PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1. Financial Statements	
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets	3
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income	4
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	5
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	6
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	7
PART II - OTHER INFORMATION	
Items 1 - 6	11
Signature	13

## CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

## CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PAR VALUE)

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PAR VALUE)	August 1, 1998	January 31, 1998
ASSETS		
CURRENT ASSETS:		
Cash and cash equivalents Inventories Deferred income taxes Other current assets	\$ 39,408 1,190,195 70,720 92,116	910,668
Total current assets	1,392,439	1,107,474
Property and equipment - net Other assets	652,531 23,895	613,478 25,429 \$1,746,381
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	========	
CURRENT LIABILITIES:		
Accounts payable Accrued liabilities and income taxes Current maturities of long-term obligations	\$ 345,593 88,717 100,836	\$ 280,117 173,208 71,943
Total current liabilities	535,146	525, 268
Long-term obligations Deferred income taxes Commitments and contingencies STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:	385,168 71,264	•
Preferred stock - authorized 2,000 shares, \$.01 par value: none issued		
Common stock - authorized 290,000 shares, \$.01 par value; issued 109,431 and 107,796 shares, respectively Nonvoting common stock - authorized 8,000 shares, \$.01 par value; none issued	1,094	1,078
Additional paid-in capital Retained earnings	370,444 705,749	
Total stockholders' equity		
======================================	\$2,068,865	1,034,542 \$1,746,381

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.

# CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT INCOME PER COMMON SHARE DATA)

	Thirteen weeks ended		Twenty-six	weeks ended	
	August 1, 1998	August 2, 1997	August 1, 1998	August 2, 1997	
Net sales	\$ 823,870	\$ 801,306	\$1,647,172	\$1,579,644	
Costs and expenses:    Cost of sales    Selling and administrative expenses    Interest expense	481,645 325,881 5,690	466,827 317,527 7,316	660,476	927,800 632,346 12,191	
	813,216	791,670	1,635,178	1,572,337	
Income before income taxes Income taxes	10,654 4,148	9,636 3,855	11,994 4,671	7,307 2,850	
Net income	\$ 6,506 =========	\$ 5,781 ========	\$ 7,323 =======	\$ 4,457 =======	
Income per common share Income per common share - diluted	\$ 0.06 \$ 0.06	\$ 0.05 \$ 0.05	\$ 0.07 \$ 0.06	\$ 0.04 \$ 0.04	
Average common shares outstanding Dilutive effect of stock options	109,355 3,757	107,604 4,469	108,928 4,029	107,464 4,508	
Diluted	113,112	112,073 =======	112,957 =======	111,972 =======	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.

# CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (IN THOUSANDS)

	Twenty-six weeks ended		
	August 1, 1998	1997	
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:	=========	=========	
Net income Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:	\$ 7,323	\$ 4,457	
Depreciation and amortization Deferred income taxes Other Change in assets and liabilities	45,655 17,342 17,484 (323,494)	39,739 8,570 7,441 (406,747)	
Net cash used in operating activities	(235,690)	(346,540)	
INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES:			
Capital expenditures Other	(86,562) 27	(74,193) 2,861	
Net cash used for investment activities	(86,535)	(71,332)	
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:			
Proceeds from credit agreements, net Payment of other debt , net Proceeds from exercise of stock options Increase in deferred credits Purchase of Mac Frugal's treasury stock Other	298,953 (172) 18,617 2,521	418,759 (157) 10,382 2,685 (18,020) 157	
Net cash provided by financing activities	319,919	413,806	
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents	\$ (2,306)	\$ (4,066) ======	
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:			
Income taxes paid Interest paid	\$ 43,137 10,757	\$ 84,548 15,359	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.

## CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## NOTE 1 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

THE I BROTE OF TREEDERFRITOR

The condensed consolidated balance sheet at August 1, 1998, and the condensed consolidated statements of income and statements of cash flows for the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 1998, have been prepared by the Company without audit. In the opinion of management, all adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows at August 1, 1998, and for the thirteen and twenty-six week periods presented have been made. Such adjustments consisted only of normal recurring items.

Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principals have been omitted or condensed. It is suggested that the condensed consolidated financial statements be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report for the year ended January 31, 1998. The results of operations for the period ended August 1, 1998, may not necessarily be indicative of the operating results for the full year.

## NOTE 2 - BUSINESS COMBINATION

- -----

In January 1998, 23,371,639 common shares were issued in exchange for all outstanding common shares of Mac Frugal's Bargains o Close-outs, Inc. (Mac Frugal's) a closeout retailer.

The combination constituted a tax-free reorganization and has been accounted for as a pooling of interests. Accordingly, the accompanying financial statements have been restated to include the accounts of Mac Frugal's.

In connection with the Mac Frugal's combination the Company recorded a charge in the fourth quarter of 1997 to operating expense of \$45,000,000 for direct and other related costs pertaining to the combination. Merger transaction costs were primarily comprised of fees for professional services, severance and similar related costs. Additionally, the Company recorded a \$70,000,000 charge to cost of sales in the fourth quarter of 1997 for combination related expenses for discontinued products, inventory consolidation and retail price equalization for the combined inventories.

Details of the merger and other related costs before applicable taxes are as follows:

	Provided for in fiscal	Utili	Utilized in	
(In thousands)	10 1150a1 1997 	1997 ======	1998 ======	Balance ======
Inventory charges included in cost of sales Merger transaction costs:	\$ 70,000	\$ 10,137	\$ 59,863	\$
Professional fees and services	15,500	9,028	5,658	814
Employee severence/termination costs	22,000	12,002	4,164	5,834
Other	7,500	725	1,247	5,528
Total merger transaction costs	45,000	21,755	11,069	12,176
	\$115,000	\$ 31,892	\$ 70,932	\$ 12,176
		=======	=======	=======

### RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW. Management's discussion and analysis has been prepared giving effect to the pooling of interest business combination with Mac Frugal's Bargains o Close-outs, Inc. (Mac Frugal's) on January 16, 1998. Accordingly, the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ending August 2, 1997, operating results and cash flows have been restated to reflect the business combination.

The Company's goal is to build upon its leadership position in closeout retailing, a growing segment of the retailing industry, and toy retailing by expanding its market presence in both existing and new markets. The Company believes that the combination of its strengths in merchandising, purchasing, site selection, distribution and cost-containment has made it a low-cost, value retailer well-positioned for future growth.

The Company is the nation's largest closeout retailer and a leading toy retailer with 2,317 stores located in all 50 states and Puerto Rico. The Company operates 1,050 retail closeout stores under the names Odd Lots, Big Lots, Mac Frugal's Bargains o Close-outs, and Pic `N' Save (Closeout Stores) and 1,267 retail toy and closeout toy stores primarily under the names K B Toys, K B Toy Works, and K B Toy Outlet (Toy Stores). The Company is the largest enclosed shopping mall-based toy retailer in the United States. As a value retailer focused on closeout merchandise, the Company seeks to provide the budget-conscious consumer with a broad range of quality, name-brand products at exceptional values. The Company's name-brand closeout merchandise primarily consists of products obtained from manufacturers' excess inventories, which generally result from production overruns, package changes, discontinued products and returns.

The Company has historically experienced, and expects to continue to experience, seasonal fluctuations with a significant percentage of its net sales and income being realized in the fourth fiscal quarter. In addition, the Company's quarterly results can be affected by the timing of store openings and closings, the amount of net sales contributed by new and existing stores and the timing of certain holidays. Quarterly fluctuations in inventory balances are normal reflecting the opportunistic purchases available at any given time and the expansion of the Company's store base. Historically, on a per store basis, inventory levels are lower at the end of the Company's fiscal year and build through the remaining three quarters of the year to a peak level in the third quarter. Accounts payable generally follow a trend similar to inventories.

The following tables compare components of the statement of income as a percent of net sales and reflects the number of stores in operation at the end of each period.

	Thirteen weeks ended August 1, August 2, 1998 1997		Twenty-six we August 1, 1998	
	(Percent to total net sales)			
Net sales	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
Gross Profit	41.5	41.7	41.4	41.3
Selling and administrative expenses	39.6	39.6	40.1	40.0
Operating profit	1.9	2.1	1.3	1.3
Interest expense	0.7	0.9	0.6	0.8
Income before income taxes Income taxes	1.2	1.2	0.7	0.5
	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.2
Net income	0.7%	0.7%	0.4%	0.3%

	August 1, 1998	August 2, 1997
Retail stores in operation at end of period: $ \\$		
Closeout Toy	1,050 1,267	970 1,220
	2,317	2,190

SALES. Net sales for the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 1998, increased 2.8% and 4.3%, respectively. Comparable store sales for stores open two years at the beginning of the fiscal year declined 1.7% for the quarter and 0.5% for the year to date period.

Sales in the closeout segment were negatively impacted by appreciably lower 1998 inventory levels in Odd Lots and Big Lots stores resulting from the planned strategic realignment in merchandise mix to offer customers a wider selection of value oriented brand name merchandise. Additionally, the continued integration of Mac Frugal's operations with the Company's existing closeout operations and the planned initial phase-in of a new merchandise management system contributed to the lower store level inventories. Restoration of Odd Lots and Big Lots store inventories to planned levels is anticipated to be completed throughout the third quarter of 1998.

Toy segment 1998 sales were influenced by the timing of new toy releases compared to 1997, a reduced sales volume associated with certain action figures which occurred in the first half of 1997 and price adjustments on video and related products. A significant number of new toy product introduction is anticipated from manufacturers in the second half of 1998.

Net sales by operating segment were as follows:

THIRTEEN	WEEKS	ENDED	(\$	in	thousands)
----------	-------	-------	-----	----	------------

_		INTRICEN MEEKS	ENDED (\$ III CHOUSAHUS)		
	August :	1, 1998	August 2, 1	997	Doroontogo
Operating Segment	\$	%	\$	% 	Percentage Change
Closeout Toys Other	\$551,415 263,740 8,715	66.9% 32.0 1.1	\$541,928 251,023 8,355	67.6% 31.3 1.1	1.8% 5.1 4.3
	\$823,870	100.0%	\$801,306	100.0%	2.8%
		TWENTY-SIX WE	EEKS ENDED (\$ in thousan	ds)	
-	August :	1, 1998	August 2, 1	997	
- -	\$	% 	\$	%	Percentage Change
Closeout Toys Other	\$1,109,048 518,236 19,888	67.3% 31.5 1.2	\$1,058,053 501,606 19,985	67.0% 31.8 1.2	4.8% 3.3 (0.5)
-	\$1,647,172	100.0%	\$1,579,644	100.0%	4.3%

Comparable store sales by operating segment were as follows:

	Thirteen w	Thirteen weeks ended		weeks ended
	August 1, 1998	August 2, 1997	August 1, 1998	August 2, 1997
Closeout Toys	(2.5)% 	7.0% 16.3%	(0.1)% (1.5)%	6.4% 18.3%
Total	(1.7)%	10.0%	(0.5)%	10.2%

GROSS PROFIT. Gross profit as a percent of net sales was 41.5% for the second quarter of fiscal 1998 compared to 41.7% in the same 1997 period. Gross profit was 41.4% and 41.3% for the first six months of fiscal 1998 and 1997, respectively. Closeout Stores gross profit percentage is reflective of a higher initial markup on the mix of inventories at fiscal 1997 year end offset in part by the impact of offering a increased selection of brand name product which traditionally has a lower markup. Conversely, the decline in Toy Stores gross profit percentage is primarily associated to the merchandise mix at fiscal 1997 year end which carried a lower initial markup than the prior fiscal year end.

Components of gross profit as a percent to each operating segments sales were as follows:

	Thirteen wee	Thirteen weeks ended		eks ended
Operating Segment	August 1, 1998	August 2, 1997	August 1, 1998	August 2, 1997
Closeout Toys	42.9% 39.2	42.2% 41.2	43.2% 38.2	41.9% 40.5
Other	23.9	27.2	24.5	25.7
	41.5%	41.7%	41.4%	41.3%

SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. As a percent to net sales, selling and administrative expenses were 39.6% in each of the second quarters of fiscal 1998 and 1997 and 40.1% and 40.0% in the respective 1998 and 1997 year to date periods. In addition to cost control programs, the reduced 1998 inventory levels in the Odd Lots and Big Lots stores resulted in lower store payroll expenditures and lower distribution and transportation costs. As inventory levels at the Odd Lots and Big Lots stores are replenished to planned levels throughout the third quarter of fiscal 1998 the company anticipates a higher than historical ratio of selling and administrative expenses for the third quarter.

INTEREST EXPENSE. Interest expense decreased \$1.6 million, or 22.2%, in the second quarter of 1998 and declined \$2.4 million, or 19.9%, for the year to date period. The reduction reflects lower weighted average debt levels for borrowings utilized for inventory purchases and seasonal operating requirements in addition to lower effective interest rates.

INCOME TAXES. The effective tax rate of the Company is 39.0% in the first two quarters of 1998 quarter and comparative 1997 period.

## CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

The primary sources of liquidity for the Company has been cash flow from operations and borrowings under available credit facilities. As detailed in the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows net cash used in operations in each of the twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 1998, and August 2, 1997, was \$235.7 million and \$346.5 million, respectively. This decrease is mainly attributable to the reduction of comparative period inventory levels and improved accounts payables to inventory leverage.

Capital expenditures in 1998 are expected to be approximately \$180 million principally for the anticipated opening of 265 stores and approximately 100 seasonal toy stores plus capital requirements for warehouse expansion and equipment needs.

As necessary, the Company supplemented its capital and operating cash requirements in the first quarter with borrowings under available credit facilities. In the second quarter of fiscal 1998, the Company amended its Revolving Credit Facility (Revolver) increasing availability to \$700 million for a five year period. At August 1, 1998, approximately \$260.9 million was available for borrowings under the Revolver and an additional \$129.5 million of uncommitted credit facilities were available, subject to the terms of the

The Company continues to believe that it will have adequate resources to fund ongoing operating requirements and future capital expenditures related to the expansion of existing businesses and development of new projects. Additionally, management is not aware of any current trends, events, demands, commitments, or uncertainties which reasonably can be expected to have a material impact on the liquidity, capital resources, financial position or results of operations of the Company.

## IMPACT OF YEAR 2000

The Company has been addressing computer software modifications or replacements to enable transactions to process properly in the year 2000. All necessary changes are anticipated to occur in a timely manner and the cost will not have a significant impact on the ongoing results of operations.

## PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

- Item 1. Legal Proceedings. Not applicable.
- Item 2. Changes in Securities. Not applicable.
- Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities. Not applicable.
- Item 4. Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders.
- (a) The Company's Annual Meeting was held on May 19, 1998.
- (b) The number of shares of voting Common Stock, \$.01 par value per share, outstanding as of March 27, 1998, the record date was 107,378,774.
- (c) The number of shares of Common Stock of the Company represented in person or by proxy and eligible to vote was 94,895,621.
- (d) Proxies were solicited by management pursuant to Regulation 14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. There was no solicitation in opposition to management's nominees as listed in the proxy statement. All of the nominee's were elected pursuant to a vote of the stockholders.
- (e) A proposal to approve The 1998 Consolidated Stores Corporation Key Associate Annual Incentive Compensation Plan was approved by a majority vote of the stockholders.

The vote on this proposal was:

92,059,549	2,217,028	619,044	
(For)	(Against)	(Abstain)	

(f) To transact other business as properly presented before the meeting.

The vote on this proposal was:

50,705,497	25,661,344	18,528,779
(For)	(Against)	(Abstain)

FORM 10-Q

Item 5. Other Information.

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 ("the Act") provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Company. Certain statements contained in Management's Discussion and Analysis and in other Company filings are forward-looking statements. These statements discuss among other things, expected growth, future revenues, future cash flows and future performance. The forward looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties including but not limited to competitive pressures, inflation, consumer debt levels, currency exchange fluctuations, trade restrictions, changes in tariff and freight rates, capital market conditions, and other risks indicated in the Company's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Actual results may materially differ from anticipated results described in these statements.

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K.

## (a) Exhibits.

Exhibit No.	Document
10(a)	Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of May 15, 1998
10(b)	Employment Agreement with William G. Kelley dated May 19, 1998 $$
27	Financial Data Schedule

(b) Reports on Form 8-K.

None.

## SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION
(Registrant)

Dated: September 10, 1998

By: /s/ Michael J. Potter

Michael J. Potter, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Principal Accounting Officer

\$700,000,000 REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY

AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

by and among

CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION, an Ohio corporation, as Borrower

and

THE BANKS PARTY HERETO

and

THE BANK OF NEW YORK, as Syndication Agent and Managing Agent

and

NATIONAL CITY BANK, as Administrative Agent and Managing Agent

and

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Arranger, Documentation Agent and Managing Agent

and

BANK ONE, N.A., as Co-Syndication Agent and Managing Agent

and

NATIONSBANK, N.A., as Managing Agent

FLEET NATIONAL BANK, as Managing Agent

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK, as Managing Agent

and

BANK OF AMERICA NT & SA, as Managing Agent

Dated as of May 15, 1998

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
1.	CERTAIN DEFINITIONS	
	1.1 Certain Definitions.  1.2 Construction.	16
2.	1.3 Accounting Principles	
۷.	2.1 Revolving Credit Commitments.	
	2.2 Nature of Banks' Obligations With Respect to Revolving Credit Loans	
	2.3 Facility Fees	19
	2.5 Revolving Credit Loan Requests	
	2.6 Making Revolving Credit Loans	. 20
	2.7 Revolving Credit Notes	
	2.8 Use of Proceeds	
	2.10 Swing Loans.	
	2.11 Bid Loan Facility	
3.	INTEREST RATES	
	3.2 Interest Periods	30
	3.3 Interest After Default	
	3.4 Euro-Rate Unascertainable	
	3.5 Selection of Interest Rate Options	
4.	PAYMENTS	
	4.1 Payments	
	4.3 Interest Payment Dates	
	4.4 Voluntary Prepayments	
	4.5 Additional Compensation in Certain Circumstances.	
5.	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	
	5.1 Representations and Warranties	
	5.2 Subsidiaries Other Than Material Subsidiaries	
	5.3 Updates to Schedules	
6.	CONDITIONS OF LENDING	
	6.2 Each Additional Loan	48
7.	COVENANTS	48
• •	7.1 Affirmative Covenants.	
	7.2.1 Indebtedness	

8.

10.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	P	age
	-	
DE 8. 8. TH 9. 9.	.3 Reporting Requirements.  EFAULT .1 Events of Default2 Consequences of Event of Default3 Notice of Sale. HE MANAGING AGENTS .1 Appointment2 Delegation of Duties3 Nature of Duties; Independent Credit Investigation4 Actions in Discretion of Documentation Agent and Administrative Agent; Instructions From the Banks.	61 64 66 66 66 67 67
9.	.5 Reimbursement and Indemnification of Administrative Agent and Documentation Agent by the Borrower	68
	.6 Exculpatory Provisions	
9. 9. 9. 9. 9. 9. 9. 16	.8 Reliance by Documentation Agent, Administrative Agent, Managing Agents and Syndication Agent	70 70 70 70 71 71 72 72 72 72 72 73 74 74
10	D.5 Funding by Branch, Subsidiary or Affiliate	74

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

																										_	• • •			~ ~		_												
age	Pa																																											
75																																								_	001	o.t.	N	LO.6
13	• •	٠.	٠.	•	٠.	٠.	٠.	 •	٠.	٠.	٠.	٠.	٠.	٠.	•	٠.	٠	٠.	٠.	•	•	٠.	٠.	٠.	٠.	٠.		•	٠.	٠.	٠.	٠.					٠.	• •	. : •	٠	CES	ULL	IV	10.0
75								 																														Эy.	∟it	)il	rat	eve	S	L0.7
76								 																	٠.												١.	aw	j L	ing	rni	ove	G	10.8
76																																			ng.	dir	an	st	ler	Jnd	rι	rio	Ρ	L0.9
76								 																										1.	va]	٧i١	ur	S	n;	tio	rat	Dι	0	10.1
76								 																	٠.								١s.	igr	ssi	As	nd	a	rs	380	ces	Suc	1	L0.1
78								 																	٠.											у.	it	lal	nti	den	fic	Cor	2	L0.1
79																																						ts	oar	erp	nte	Coı	3	L0.1
79								 																nt	se	on	C	S	k'	an	В	or	3 (	t's	ent	Age	n .	Ξiο	at	ent	ume	Dod	4	L0.1
79																																						<b>3</b> .	งทร	:io	ept	Exc	5	L0.1
79																								L.	IΑ	TR	1	JR۱	JU	F	0	ΞR	[VE	IA۷	; h	UM;	0R	) F	TO	١T	SEI	100	6	L0.1
80								 																									se.	aus	${\tt Cl} a$	g (	lin	old	ιho	ith	Wi	Tax	7	L0.1
80																																	3.	ors	nto	rar	ua	G	of	٩r	nde	Jo:	8	L0.1

## LIST OF SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS

## SCHEDULE

SCHEDULE	1.1(A)	-	PRICING GRID
SCHEDULE	1.1(B)	-	COMMITMENTS OF BANKS
SCHEDULE	1.1(P)	-	PERMITTED LIENS
SCHEDULE	5.1.1	-	SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE	5.1.3	-	SUBSIDIARY MATTERS
SCHEDULE	5.1.13	-	CONSENTS AND APPROVALS
SCHEDULE	5.1.18	-	MATERIAL CONTRACTS
SCHEDULE	5.1.20	-	EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN DISCLOSURES
SCHEDULE	5.1.22	-	ENVIRONMENTAL DISCLOSURES
SCHEDULE	7.2.1	-	EXISTING INDEBTEDNESS
SCHEDULE	7.2.4	-	LOANS AND INVESTMENTS

## EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT 1.1(B) EXHIBIT 1.1(D)	-	DESIGNATION AGREEMENT
EXHIBIT $1.1(I)(1)$	-	FORM OF INTERCOMPANY NOTE
		FORM OF REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE
EXHIBIT 1.1(S)	-	FORM OF SWING LOAN NOTE
EXHIBIT 2.5	-	FORM OF LOAN REQUEST
EXHIBIT 2.10.2	-	FORM OF SWING LOAN REQUEST
EXHIBIT 2.11.1		
EXHIBIT 2.11.2		
EXHIBIT 2.11.3(A)	-	NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE TO SUCCESSFUL BIDDERS
EXHIBIT 2.11.3(B)	-	NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE TO OTHER REVOLVING CREDIT BANKS
EXHIBIT 6.1.3.3(A)	-	ACKNOWLEDGMENT RE GUARANTY AGREEMENT AND INTERCOMPANY SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT
EXHIBIT 6.1.3.3(B)	-	JOINDER TO GUARANTY AGREEMENT AND INTERCOMPANY SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT
EXHIBIT 6.1.4	-	OPINION OF COUNSEL
EXHIBIT 7.3.3	-	FORM OF COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

## AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT is dated as of May 15, 1998 and is made by and among CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION, an Ohio corporation (the "Borrower"), the BANKS (as hereinafter defined), and THE BANK OF NEW YORK, in its capacity as Syndication Agent and as a Managing Agent, NATIONAL CITY BANK, in its capacity as Administrative Agent ("Administrative Agent") and as a Managing Agent, PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, in its capacity as Arranger, as Documentation Agent (the "Documentation Agent") and as a Managing Agent, and BANK ONE, N.A., in its capacity as a Co-Syndication Agent and a Managing Agent and NationsBank, N.A., Fleet National Bank, Bank of America NT & SA, and First Union National Bank, as Managing Agents.

### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Borrower had requested a revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of \$700,000,000; and

WHEREAS, the Banks which executed a Credit Agreement dated as of May 3, 1996, as amended (the "Prior Credit Agreement"), provided a revolving credit facility not to exceed \$600,000,000; and

WHEREAS, the Banks are willing to provide a credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of \$700,000,000 upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth;

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, in consideration of their mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and intending to be legally bound hereby, covenant and agree as follows:

### 1. CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

## 1.1 CERTAIN DEFINITIONS.

In addition to words and terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement, the following words and terms shall have the following meanings, respectively, unless the context hereof clearly requires otherwise:

ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT shall mean National City Bank, in its capacity as Administrative Agent and its successors and assigns.

ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT'S FEE shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section 9.15.

AFFILIATE as to any Person shall mean any other Person (i) which directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such Person, (ii) which beneficially owns or holds 15% or more of any class of the voting or other equity interests of such Person, or (iii) 15% or more of any class of voting or other equity interests of which is beneficially owned or held, directly or indirectly, by such Person. Control, as used in this definition, shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise, including the power to elect a majority of the directors or trustees of a corporation or trust, as the case may be.

AGREEMENT shall mean this Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, as the same may be supplemented or amended from time to time, including all schedules and exhibits.

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{ACKNOWLEDGMENT}}$  shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.1.3.3.

ANNUAL STATEMENTS shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section 5.1.9(i).

APPLICABLE DOCUMENTARY ACCEPTED TIME DRAFT LC PERCENTAGE shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section

APPLICABLE DOCUMENTARY LC PERCENTAGE shall mean that percentage rate per annum based on the level of Debt Rating then in effect according to the pricing grid on SCHEDULE 1.1(A) below the heading "Documentary LC Percentage." The Applicable Documentary LC Percentage shall be computed in accordance with the parameters set forth on Schedule 1.1(A).

APPLICABLE FACILITY PERCENTAGE shall mean the percentage rate per annum based on the level of Debt Rating then in effect according to the pricing grid on SCHEDULE 1.1(A) below the heading "Facility Fee.". The Applicable Facility Fee Percentage shall be computed in accordance with the parameters set forth on Schedule 1.1(A).

APPLICABLE MARGIN shall mean, as applicable:

- (A) the percentage spread to be added to Euro-Rate under the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option based on the level of Debt Rating then in effect according to the pricing grid on SCHEDULE 1.1(A) below the heading "Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Spread", or
- (B) the percentage spread to be added to Base Rate under the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option which is zero; or

The Applicable Margin shall be computed in accordance with the parameters set forth on Schedule 1.1(A).

ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT shall mean an Assignment and Assumption Agreement by and among a Purchasing Bank, a Transferor Bank and the Administrative Agent on behalf of the other Revolving Credit Banks, substantially in the form of EXHIBIT 1.1(A).

AUTHORIZED OFFICER shall mean those individuals, designated by written notice to the Administrative Agent from the Borrower, authorized to execute notices, reports and other documents on behalf of the Loan Parties required hereunder. The Borrower may amend such list of individuals from time to time by giving written notice of such amendment to the Administrative Agent.

 $\,$  BANKS shall mean each of the Revolving Credit Banks and each of the Designated Lenders.

BASE RATE shall mean the greater of (i) the interest rate per annum announced from time to time by National City Bank at its Principal Office as its then prime rate, which rate may not be the lowest rate then being charged commercial borrowers by National City Bank, or (ii) the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 1/2% per annum.

BASE TANGIBLE NET WORTH shall mean the sum of (i) \$900,000,000 plus (ii) 50% of net income of the Company and its Subsidiaries for each fiscal quarter in which net income was earned (as opposed to a net loss) from and after January 31, 1998, through the date of determination as determined and consolidated in accordance with GAAP plus (iii) 50% of the net cash proceeds from the sale of any capital stock or other equity interest of the Company less any sums paid or owing by the Company since the date hereof with respect to the redemption, repurchase or other retirement or cancellation of any of its capital stock or other equity interests.

BENEFIT ARRANGEMENT shall mean at any time an "employee benefit plan," within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA, which is neither a Plan nor a Multiemployer Plan and which is maintained, sponsored or otherwise contributed to by any member of the ERISA Group.

BID shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.11.2.

BID LOAN FIXED RATE OPTION shall mean the option of the Borrower to request that the Revolving Credit Banks submit Bids to make Bid Loans bearing interest at a fixed rate per annum quoted by such Revolving Credit Banks as a numerical percentage (and not as a spread over another rate such as the Euro-Rate).

BID LOAN INTEREST PERIOD shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.11.1.

 $\,$  BID LOAN REQUEST shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.11.1.

BID LOANS shall mean collectively and BID LOAN shall mean separately all of the loans or any loan made by any of the Revolving Credit Banks to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.11.

BID NOTES shall mean collectively and BID NOTE shall mean separately all of the promissory notes or any promissory note of the Borrower in the form of EXHIBIT 1.1(B) evidencing the Bid Loans together with all amendments, extensions, renewals, replacements, refinancings or refunds thereof in whole or in part.

BORROWING DATE shall mean, with respect to any Loan, the date for the making thereof or the renewal or conversion thereof at or to the same or a different Interest Rate Option, which shall be a Business Day.

BORROWING TRANCHE shall mean specified portions of Revolving Credit Loans or Bid Loans outstanding as follows: (i) any Loans to which a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option or a Bid Loan Fixed Rate Option applies under the applicable Loan Request by the Borrower and which have the same Interest Period shall constitute one Borrowing Tranche, and (ii) all Revolving Credit Loans to which a Revolving Credit Base Rate Option applies shall constitute one Borrowing Tranche.

BUSINESS DAY shall mean any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or a legal holiday on which commercial banks are authorized or required to be closed for business in Columbus, Ohio or New York, New York, and, if the applicable Business Day relates to any Revolving Credit Loan to which the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies, such day must also be a day on which dealings in Dollar deposits are carried on in the London interbank market.

CAPITALIZED LEASE shall mean any lease of Property by a Person as lessee which is a capital lease in accordance with GAAP.

CLOSING DATE shall mean May 15, 1998.

 ${\tt CO\textsc{-}AGENTS}$  shall mean Bank of Tokyo - Mitsubishi Trust Company and KeyBank National Association.

COMPANY shall mean Consolidated Stores Corporation, a Delaware corporation, which beneficially owns directly or indirectly all of the capital stock of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.

CONSOLIDATED EBIT for any period of determination shall mean an amount equal to (A) the sum of (i) the net income for such period plus (ii) interest expense in respect of Indebtedness to the extent deducted in determining net income for such period ("Interest Expense"), plus (iii) the provision for taxes for such period based on income or profits to the extent such income or profits were included in computing net income for such period, minus (B) all extraordinary income and gains to net income to the extent included in net income for such period, in each case of the Company and its Subsidiaries for such period determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

CONSOLIDATED INTEREST EXPENSE for any period of determination shall be equal to the Interest Expense of the Company and its Subsidiaries as determined in subclause (ii) of clause (A) of the definition of the term "Consolidated EBIT" for such period on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

CONSOLIDATED MATURING RENTALS shall mean the aggregate rental amounts payable by the Company and its Subsidiaries for the most recent four (4) full consecutive fiscal quarters immediately preceding the date of determination under any lease of Property having a remaining term (including any required renewals or any renewals at the option of the lessor or lessee) of less than one year (but does not include any amounts payable under Capitalized Leases), determined in accordance with GAAP.

CONSOLIDATED RENTALS shall mean the aggregate rental amounts payable by the Company and its Subsidiaries for the most recent four (4) full consecutive fiscal quarters immediately preceding the date of determination under any lease of Property having a remaining term (including any required renewals or any renewals at the option of the lessor or lessee) of one year or more (but does not include any amounts payable under Capitalized Leases), determined in accordance with GAAP.

CONSOLIDATED TANGIBLE NET WORTH shall mean as of any date of determination total stockholders' equity less intangible assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of such date determined and consolidated in accordance with GAAP.

 ${\tt CO-SYNDICATION}$  AGENT shall mean Bank One, N.A., in its capacity as the Co-Syndication Agent hereunder.

DEBT RATING shall mean the rating by either Standard & Poor's or Moody's of the senior unsecured Indebtedness of the Borrower having an original maturity of more than one year.

DESIGNATED LENDER shall mean any Person who has been designated by a Revolving Credit Bank to fund Bid Loans and has executed a Designation Agreement and thereby become a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 10.11.3.1.

 $\,$  DESIGNATING BANK shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.11.3.1.

DESIGNATION AGREEMENT means a designation agreement entered into by a Revolving Credit Bank and a Designated Lender and accepted by the Administrative Agent, in substantially the form of EXHIBIT 1.1(D).

DOCUMENTARY LETTER OF CREDIT shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.9.1.

DOCUMENTARY LETTER OF CREDIT OUTSTANDINGS shall mean at any time the sum of (i) the aggregate undrawn face amount of outstanding Documentary Letters of Credit (which excludes Documentary Letter of Credit of (Time Draft) Outstandings) and (ii) without duplication, the aggregate amount of all unpaid and outstanding Reimbursement Obligations relating to Documentary Letters of Credit.

DOCUMENTARY LETTER OF CREDIT (TIME DRAFT) OUTSTANDINGS shall mean at any time the aggregate face amount of all drafts outstanding under any Documentary Letters of Credit which the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank has accepted for payment, but has not yet paid, because such drafts are payable at a later date that has not yet occurred.

 $\hbox{ DOCUMENTATION AGENT shall mean PNC Bank, National Association, and its successors and assigns, in its capacity as Documentation Agent. \\$ 

DOLLAR, DOLLARS, U.S. DOLLARS and the symbol \$ shall mean lawful money of the United States of America.

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLAINT shall mean any written complaint setting forth a cause of action for personal or property damage or natural resource damage or equitable relief, order, notice of violation, citation, request for information issued pursuant to any Environmental Laws by an Official Body, subpoena or other written notice of any type relating to, arising out of, or issued pursuant, to any of the Environmental Laws or any Environmental Conditions, as the case may

ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS shall mean any conditions of the environment, including the workplace, the ocean, natural resources (including flora or fauna), soil, surface water, groundwater, any actual or potential drinking water supply sources, substrata or the ambient air, relating to or arising out of, or caused by, the use, handling, storage, treatment, recycling, generation, transportation, release, spilling, leaking, pumping, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, disposal, dumping, threatened release or other management or mismanagement of Regulated Substances resulting from the use of, or operations on, any Property.

ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS shall mean all federal, state, local and foreign Laws and regulations, including permits, licenses, authorizations, bonds, orders, judgments, and consent decrees issued, or entered into, pursuant thereto, relating to pollution or protection of human health or the environment or employee safety in the workplace.

ERISA shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time, and any successor statute of similar import, and the rules and regulations thereunder, as from time to time in effect.

ERISA GROUP shall mean, at any time, the Company and all members of a controlled group of corporations and all trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) under common control and all other entities which, together with the Borrower, are treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Internal Revenue Code.

EURO-RATE shall mean with respect to the Revolving Credit Loans comprising any Borrowing Tranche to which the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies for any Interest Period, the interest rate per annum determined by the Administrative Agent by dividing (the resulting quotient rounded upward to the nearest 1/16 of 1% per annum) (i) the rate of interest determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with its usual procedures (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) to be the average of the London interbank offered rates set forth on the "LIBO" page of the Reuters Monitor Money Rate Service (or appropriate successor) or, if Reuters or its successor ceases to provide such quotes, a comparable replacement determined by the Administrative Agent, at approximately 11:00 a.m. London time two (2) Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period for an amount comparable to such Borrowing Tranche and having a maturity comparable to such Interest Period by (ii) a number equal to 1.00 minus the Euro-Rate Reserve Percentage. The Euro-Rate may also be expressed by the following formula:

Average of London interbank offered rates on LIBO page of Reuters Monitor Money

Euro-Rate = Rate Service or appropriate successor

1.00 - Euro-Rate Reserve Percentage

The Euro-Rate shall be adjusted with respect to any Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option outstanding on the effective date of any change in the Euro-Rate Reserve Percentage as of such effective date. The Administrative Agent shall give prompt notice to the Borrower of the Euro-Rate as determined or adjusted in accordance herewith, which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

EURO-RATE RESERVE PERCENTAGE shall mean the maximum percentage (expressed as a decimal rounded upward to the nearest 1/100 of 1%) as determined by the Managing Agents which is in effect during any relevant period, as prescribed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor) for determining the reserve requirements (including supplemental, marginal and emergency reserve requirements) with respect to eurocurrency funding (currently referred to as "Eurocurrency Liabilities") of a member bank in such System.

EVENT OF DEFAULT shall mean any of the events described in Section 8.1.

EXECUTIVE OFFICER shall mean as to any designated Person a natural Person who constitutes an executive officer of such designated Person for purposes of item 401(b) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

EXPIRATION DATE shall mean May 15, 2003.

 $\,$  FACILITY FEE shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.3.

FEDERAL FUNDS EFFECTIVE RATE for any day shall mean the rate per annum (based on a year of 360 days and actual days elapsed and rounded upward to the nearest 1/100 of 1%) announced by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or any successor) on such day as being the weighted average of the rates on overnight federal funds transactions arranged by federal funds brokers on the previous trading day, as computed and announced by such Federal Reserve Bank (or any successor) in substantially the same manner as such Federal Reserve Bank computes and announces the weighted average it refers to as the "Federal Funds Effective Rate" as of the date of this Agreement; PROVIDED, if such Federal Reserve Bank (or its successor) does not announce such rate on any day, the "Federal Funds Effective Rate" for such day shall be the Federal Funds Effective Rate for the last day of which such rate was announced.

FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section  $5.1.9(\mbox{ii})$ .

FIXED CHARGE COVERAGE RATIO shall mean on any date of determination, the ratio of (i) the sum of (a) Consolidated EBIT for the most recent four (4) full consecutive fiscal quarters immediately preceding the date of determination plus (b) Consolidated Rentals plus (c) Consolidated Maturing Rentals, to (ii) Fixed Charges.

FIXED CHARGES shall mean for any period of determination the sum of (i) Consolidated Interest Expense for the most recent four (4) full consecutive fiscal quarters immediately preceding the date of determination, plus (ii) Consolidated Rentals plus (iii) Consolidated Maturing Rentals, plus (iv) dividends paid by the Company and payments by Company for the purchase or redemption of its capital stock for the four (4) full consecutive fiscal quarters immediately preceding the date of determination.

FIXED RATE shall mean a fixed interest rate quoted by a Revolving Credit Bank in its Bid to apply to such Revolving Credit Bank's Bid Loan over the term of such Bid Loan if such Revolving Credit Bank's Bid is accepted.

GAAP shall mean generally accepted accounting principles as are in effect from time to time, subject to the provisions of Section 1.3, and applied on a consistent basis both as to classification of items and amounts.

 $\mbox{\sc GOVERNMENTAL}$  ACTS shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.9.8.

GUARANTOR shall mean each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company which is designated as a "Guarantor" on the signature page to the Master Guaranty Agreement and each other Subsidiary of the Company which joins the Master Guaranty Agreement and the other Loan Documents as a Guarantor after the date hereof pursuant to Section 10.18.

 ${\tt GUARANTOR}$  JOINDER shall mean a joinder to the Master Guaranty Agreement as provided in the Master Guaranty Agreement.

GUARANTY of any Person shall mean any obligation of such Person guaranteeing or in effect guaranteeing any liability or obligation of any other Person in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, including any agreement to indemnify or hold harmless any other Person, any performance bond or other suretyship arrangement and any other form of assurance against loss, except endorsement of negotiable or other instruments for deposit or collection in the ordinary course of business.

HISTORICAL STATEMENTS shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section 5.1.9(i).

INDEBTEDNESS shall mean, as to any Person at any time, any and all indebtedness, obligations or liabilities (whether matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, or joint or several) of such Person for or in respect of: (i) borrowed money, (ii) amounts raised under or liabilities in respect of any note purchase or acceptance credit facility, (iii) reimbursement obligations (contingent or otherwise) under any letter of credit, currency swap agreement, interest rate swap, cap, collar or floor agreement or other interest rate management device, (iv) any other transaction (including forward sale or purchase agreements, capitalized leases (but not operating leases) and conditional sales agreements) having the commercial effect of a borrowing of money entered into by such Person to finance its operations or capital requirements (but not including trade payables, trade credits and accrued expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business which are not represented by a promissory note or other evidence of indebtedness and which are not more than thirty (30) days past due), or (v) any Guaranty of Indebtedness for borrowed money. For purposes only of determining the ratio of total indebtedness to total capitalization in Section 0, the Subordinated Notes shall be excluded from the term "Indebtedness" used in such section.

INTERCOMPANY LOANS shall mean loans made by one Loan Party to one or more other Loan Parties or their Subsidiaries and, in the case of loans between the Borrower and the Material Subsidiaries, evidenced by intercompany notes (the "Intercompany Notes") in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 1.1(I)(1).

INTERCOMPANY NOTES shall have the meaning assigned to that term in the definition of the term "Intercompany Loans".

 $\,$  INTEREST PAYMENT DATE shall mean each date specified for the payment of interest in Section 4.3.

INTEREST PERIOD shall mean either a Bid Loan Interest Period or a Revolving Credit Interest Period.

INTEREST RATE OPTION shall mean any Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option, the Bid Loan Fixed Rate Option or Revolving Credit Base Rate Option.

INTERNAL REVENUE CODE shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time, and any successor statute of similar import, and the rules and regulations thereunder, as from time to time in effect.

ISSUING LETTER OF CREDIT BANK shall mean with respect to a Letter of Credit a Qualified Letter of Credit Bank which has issued that Letter of Credit pursuant to Section 2.9."

JOINDER shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.1.3.3.

LABOR CONTRACTS shall mean all employment agreements, employment contracts, collective bargaining agreements and other agreements among any Loan Party or Subsidiary of a Loan Party and its employees.

LAW shall mean any law (including common law), constitution, statute, treaty, regulation, rule, ordinance, opinion, release, ruling, order, injunction, writ, decree or award of any Official Body.

LETTER OF CREDIT shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.9.1.

LETTER OF CREDIT OUTSTANDINGS shall mean at any time the sum of (i) the Documentary Letter of Credit Outstandings, (ii) the Standby Letter of Credit Outstandings, (iii) the Documentary Letter of Credit (Time Draft) Outstandings and (iv) without duplication, the aggregate amount of all unpaid and outstanding Reimbursement Obligations.

LETTERS OF CREDIT FEES shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.9.3.

LIEN shall mean any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, lien, security interest, charge or other encumbrance or security arrangement of any nature whatsoever, whether voluntarily or involuntarily given, including any conditional sale or title retention arrangement, and any assignment, deposit arrangement or lease intended as, or having the effect of, security and any filed financing statement or other notice of any of the foregoing (whether or not a lien or other encumbrance is created or exists at the time of the filing).

LOAN DOCUMENTS shall mean this Agreement, the Master Guaranty Agreement, the Master Intercompany Subordination Agreement, the Revolving Credit Notes, the Bid Notes, the Joinder and the Acknowledgment, and any other instruments, certificates or documents delivered or contemplated to be delivered hereunder or thereunder or in connection herewith or therewith, as the same may be supplemented or amended from time to time in accordance herewith or therewith, and LOAN Document shall mean any of the Loan Documents.

LOAN PARTIES shall mean the Borrower and the Guarantors.

LOAN REQUEST shall mean either a Revolving Credit Loan Request or a Bid Loan Request.

LOANS shall mean collectively and LOAN shall mean separately all Revolving Credit Loans, Swing Loans and Bid Loans or any Revolving Credit Loan, Swing Loan or Bid Loan.

MANAGING AGENTS shall mean all of the financial institutions identified as a Managing Agent on the first page hereof, each of which is referred to herein as a "Managing Agent", and their successors and assigns, in their capacity as Managing Agents.

MASTER GUARANTY AGREEMENT shall mean the Master Guaranty and Suretyship Agreement, dated as of May 3, 1996, as amended, executed and delivered by the Company and the other Guarantors to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Revolving Credit Banks.

MASTER INTERCOMPANY SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT shall mean the Master Intercompany Subordination Agreement, dated as of May 3, 1996, as amended, among the Loan Parties.

MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE shall mean any set of circumstances or events which (a) has or could reasonably be expected to have any material adverse effect whatsoever upon the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (b) is or could reasonably be expected to be material and adverse to the business, properties, assets, financial condition, results of operations or prospects of the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (c) impairs materially or could reasonably be expected to impair materially the ability of the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries taken as a whole to duly and punctually pay or perform their Indebtedness, or (d) impairs materially or could reasonably be expected to impair materially the ability of the Documentation Agent or any of the Revolving

Credit Banks, to the extent permitted, to enforce their legal remedies pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

MATERIAL SUBSIDIARY shall mean any of C.S. Ross Company, an Ohio corporation, KB Toy of California, Inc., a Delaware corporation, K.B. Consolidated, Inc., an Ohio corporation, Kay-Bee Center, Inc., a California corporation, and any Subsidiary of the Borrower or the Company having at least 10% of the total consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries or at least 10% of the total consolidated revenues of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the 12-month period ending on the last day of the most recent fiscal quarter of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each of KB Toy of Wisconsin, Inc., TRO, Inc. and Kay-Bee Toy & Hobby Shops, Inc. (each a "Deemed NM" Subsidiary") shall not be considered to be a Material Subsidiary so long as the operating assets (as opposed to assets consisting of capital stock) of such Deemed NM Subsidiary shall not exceed 10% of the total consolidated operating assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries and the revenues of such Deemed NM Subsidiary (excluding revenues of Subsidiaries of such Deemed NM Subsidiary which may be consolidated with the revenues of such Deemed NM Subsidiary under GAAP) shall not exceed 10% of the total consolidated revenues of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the 12-month period ending on the last day of the most recent fiscal quarter of the Company.

MONTH, with respect to an Interest Period under the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option, shall mean the interval between the days in consecutive calendar months numerically corresponding to the first day of such Interest Period. If any Euro-Rate Interest Period begins on a day of a calendar month for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the month in which such Interest Period is to end, the final month of such Interest Period shall be deemed to end on the last Business Day of such final month.

 ${\tt MOODY'S}$  shall mean Moody's Investors Service, Inc., or any successor thereto.

MULTIEMPLOYER PLAN shall mean any employee benefit plan which is a "multiemployer plan" within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA and to which the Borrower or any member of the ERISA Group is then making or accruing an obligation to make contributions or, within the preceding five plan years, has made or had an obligation to make such contributions.

MULTIPLE EMPLOYER PLAN shall mean a Plan which has two or more contributing sponsors (including the Borrower or any member of the ERISA Group) at least two of whom are not under common control, as such a plan is described in Sections 4063 and 4064 of ERISA.

NOTES shall mean the Revolving Credit Notes and the Bid Notes and NOTE shall mean any Revolving Credit Note or Bid Note.

NOTICES shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section 10.6.

OBLIGATION shall mean any obligation or liability of any of the Loan Parties to the Documentation Agent, the Syndication Agents, the Administrative Agent, the Managing Agents, the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks or any of the Revolving Credit Banks, howsoever created, arising or evidenced, whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, now or hereafter existing, or due or to become due, under or in connection with this Agreement, the Notes, the Letters of Credit or any other Loan Document.

 $\,$  OFFERED AMOUNT shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.11.2.

OFFICIAL BODY shall mean any national, federal, state, local or other government or political subdivision or any agency, authority, bureau, central bank, commission, department or instrumentality of either, or any court, tribunal, grand jury or arbitrator, in each case whether foreign or domestic.

PBGC shall mean the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation established pursuant to Subtitle A of Title IV of ERISA or any successor thereto.

### PERMITTED INVESTMENTS shall mean:

- (i) direct obligations of the United States of America or any agency or instrumentality thereof or obligations backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America maturing in twelve (12) months or less from the date of acquisition;
- (ii) commercial paper maturing in 180 days or less rated not lower than A-1 by Standard & Poor's or P-1 by Moody's on the date of acquisition; and
- (iii) demand deposits, time deposits or certificates of deposit maturing within one year in commercial banks whose obligations are rated A-1, A or the equivalent or better by Standard & Poor's on the date of acquisition.

## PERMITTED LIENS shall mean:

- (i) Liens for taxes, assessments, or similar charges, incurred in the ordinary course of business and which are not yet due and payable;
- (ii) Pledges or deposits made in the ordinary course of business to secure payment of workmen's compensation, or to participate in any fund in connection with workmen's compensation, unemployment insurance, old-age pensions or other social security programs;
- (iii) Liens of mechanics, materialmen, warehousemen, carriers, or other like Liens, securing obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business that are not yet due and payable and Liens of landlords securing obligations to pay lease payments that are not yet due and payable or in default;
- (iv) Good-faith pledges or deposits made in the ordinary course of business to secure performance of bids, tenders, contracts (other than for the repayment of borrowed money) or leases, not in excess of the aggregate amount due thereunder, or to secure statutory obligations, or surety, appeal, indemnity, performance or other similar bonds required in the ordinary course of business;
- (v) Encumbrances consisting of zoning restrictions, easements or other restrictions on the use of real property, none of which materially impairs the use of such property or the value thereof, and none of which is violated in any material respect by existing or proposed structures or land use;

- (vi) Liens and security interests in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Revolving Credit Banks or any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank in the application for a Letter of Credit;
- (vii) Liens on property leased by any Loan Party or Subsidiary of a Loan Party or other interest or title of the lessor under capital and operating leases securing obligations of such Loan Party or Subsidiary to the lessor under such leases:
- (viii) Any Lien existing on the date of this Agreement and described on Schedule 1.1(P), provided that the principal amount secured thereby is not hereafter increased (although it may be refinanced), and no additional assets become subject to such Lien;
- (ix) Purchase Money Security Interests to the extent that (X) such Purchase Money Security Interests attach to inventory purchased in the ordinary course of business pursuant to customary payment terms and are not perfected by the filing of financing statements or other public filings or (Y) the aggregate amount of loans and deferred payments secured by Purchase Money Security Interests not described in the foregoing clause (X) do not exceed at any one time outstanding \$10,000,000 (excluding for the purpose of this computation any loans or deferred payments secured by Liens described on Schedule 1.1(P));
- (x) Liens relating to the licensing by Borrower, the other Loan Parties or their Subsidiaries of intellectual property;
- $\mbox{(xi)}$  Liens relating to a sublease entered into by a Loan Party or its Subsidiary;
- (xii) The following, (A) if the validity or amount thereof is being contested in good faith by appropriate and lawful proceedings diligently conducted so long as levy and execution thereon have been stayed and continue to be stayed or (B) if a final judgment is entered and such judgment is discharged within thirty (30) days of entry or (C) if payments thereof are covered in full (subject to customary deductibles) by an insurance company of reputable standing which insurance company has acknowledged that the applicable policy applies to the following and is not reserving any right to contest applicability, and in any case they do not in the aggregate, materially impair the ability of any Loan Party to perform its Obligations hereunder or under the other Loan Documents:
  - (1) Claims or Liens for taxes, assessments or charges by the United States, or any department, agency or instrumentality thereof, or by any state, county, municipal or other governmental agency, including the PBGC, due and payable and subject to interest or penalty, provided that the applicable Loan Party maintains such reserves or other appropriate provisions as shall be required by GAAP and pays all such taxes, assessments or charges forthwith upon the commencement of proceedings to foreclose any such Lien;
  - (2) Claims, Liens or encumbrances upon, and defects of title to, real or personal property, including any attachment of personal or real property or other legal process prior to adjudication of a dispute on the merits; and
  - (3) Claims or Liens of mechanics, materialmen, warehousemen, carriers, or other statutory nonconsensual Liens; and

(xiii) additional Liens securing Indebtedness not to exceed \$10,000,000.

PERSON shall mean any individual, corporation, partnership, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, joint venture, limited liability company, government or political subdivision or agency thereof, or any other entity.

PLAN shall mean at any time an employee pension benefit plan (including a Multiple Employer Plan, but not a Multiemployer Plan) which is covered by Title IV of ERISA or is subject to the minimum funding standards under Section 412 of the Internal Revenue Code and either (i) is maintained by any member of the ERISA Group for employees of any member of the ERISA Group or (ii) has at any time within the preceding five years been maintained by any entity which was at such time a member of the ERISA Group for employees of any entity which was at such time a member of the ERISA Group.

 $\,$  PNC BANK shall mean PNC Bank, National Association, its successors and assigns.

POTENTIAL DEFAULT shall mean any event or condition which with notice, passage of time or a determination by the Managing Agents or the Required Banks, or any combination of the foregoing, would constitute an Event of Default.

PRINCIPAL OFFICE shall mean the main banking office of the Administrative Agent in Columbus, Ohio or the main banking office of a Managing Agent at the address shown on the signature page hereto, as the case may be.

 $\,$  PRIOR CREDIT AGREEMENT shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preambles to this Agreement.

PROHIBITED TRANSACTION shall mean any prohibited transaction as defined in Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code or Section 406 of ERISA for which neither an individual nor a class exemption has been issued by the United States Department of Labor.

PROPERTY shall mean all real property, both owned and leased, of any Loan Party or Subsidiary of a Loan Party.

PURCHASE MONEY SECURITY INTEREST shall mean Liens upon real or personal property securing loans to any Loan Party or Subsidiary of a Loan Party or deferred payments by such Loan Party or Subsidiary for the purchase of such property.

PURCHASING BANK shall mean a Revolving Credit Bank which becomes a party to this Agreement by executing an Assignment and Assumption Agreement.

QUALIFIED LETTER OF CREDIT BANK shall mean any Revolving Credit Bank designated as such in a written notice by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent to which the Administrative Agent has not reasonably objected or such Revolving Credit Bank has not objected to a Revolving Credit Bank's designation as such within five (5) Business Days of receipt of the Borrower's written notice of such designation and which designation has not been revoked in a written notice by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent, provided, however, that the Borrower may not have more than four (4) Revolving Credit Banks so designated at any one time.

RATABLE SHARE shall mean the proportion that a Revolving Credit Bank's Revolving Credit Commitment bears to the Revolving Credit Commitments of all of the Revolving Credit Banks.

REGULATED SUBSTANCES shall mean any substance including any solid, liquid, semisolid, gaseous, thermal, thoriated or radioactive material, refuse, garbage, wastes, chemicals, petroleum products, by-products and coproducts, impurities, dust, scrap, and heavy metals defined as a "hazardous substance," "pollutant," "pollution," "contaminant," "hazardous or toxic substance," "extremely hazardous substance," "toxic chemical," "toxic waste," "hazardous waste," "industrial waste," "residual waste," "solid waste," "municipal waste," "mixed waste," "infectious waste," "chemotherapeutic waste," "medical waste," or "regulated substance" or any related materials, substances or wastes as now or hereafter defined pursuant to any Environmental Laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or other directives of any Official Body, the generation, manufacture, extraction, processing, distribution, treatment, storage, disposal, transport, recycling, reclamation, use, reuse, spilling, leaking, dumping, injection, pumping, leaching, emptying, discharge, escape, release or other management or mismanagement of which is regulated by the Environmental Laws.

REGULATION U shall mean Regulation U, T, G or X as promulgated by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as amended from time to time.

REIMBURSEMENT OBLIGATION shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.9.4.

REPORTABLE EVENT shall mean a reportable event described in Section 4043 of ERISA and regulations thereunder with respect to a Plan or Multiemployer Plan.

REQUESTED AMOUNT shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.11.1.

REQUIRED BANKS shall be defined as follows: (i) prior to the termination of the Revolving Credit Commitments, "Required Banks" shall mean Revolving Credit Banks whose Revolving Credit Commitments aggregate at least 66 2/3% of the Revolving Credit Commitments of all of the Revolving Credit Banks, and (ii) after the earlier of the date on which the Revolving Credit Commitments are terminated or the date on which Revolving Credit Loans or any other Indebtedness of the Borrower to the Revolving Credit Banks shall have become due and payable pursuant to Section 8.2, "Required Banks" shall mean Banks whose outstanding Loans and Ratable Share (as determined pursuant to Section 2.9.2) in the face amount of outstanding Letters of Credit and Reimbursement Obligations aggregate at least 66 2/3% of the total principal amount of the Loans and the face amount of Letters of Credit and Reimbursement Obligations outstanding hereunder.

REVOLVING CREDIT BANKS shall mean the financial institutions named on SCHEDULE 1.1(B) and their respective successors and assigns as permitted hereunder, each of which is referred to herein as a "Revolving Credit Bank."

REVOLVING CREDIT BASE RATE OPTION shall mean the option of the Borrower to have Revolving Credit Loans bear interest at the rate and under the terms and conditions set forth in Section 3.1.1(i).

REVOLVING CREDIT COMMITMENT shall mean, as to any Revolving Credit Bank at any time the amount initially set forth opposite its name on SCHEDULE 1.1(B) in the column labeled "Revolving Credit Commitment" and thereafter on Schedule I to the most recent Assignment and Assumption Agreement, as the same may have been reduced in accor-

dance with Section 2.4 and REVOLVING CREDIT COMMITMENTS shall mean the aggregate Revolving Credit Commitments of all of the Revolving Credit Banks.

REVOLVING CREDIT EURO-RATE OPTION shall mean the option of the Borrower to have Revolving Credit Loans bear interest at the rate and under the terms and conditions set forth in Section 3.1.1(ii).

REVOLVING CREDIT INTEREST PERIOD shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3.2.

REVOLVING CREDIT LOAN REQUEST shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.5.

REVOLVING CREDIT LOANS shall mean collectively and REVOLVING CREDIT LOAN shall mean separately all loans or any loan made by the Revolving Credit Banks or one of the Revolving Credit Banks to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.1 or 2.9.4. A Bid Loan is not a Revolving Credit Loan, except that it will be treated as a Revolving Credit Loan following a termination of the Revolving Credit Commitments or an acceleration of the Revolving Credit Loans hereunder pursuant to Section 8.2.1 or 8.2.2 as provided in Section 8.2.3.

REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES shall mean collectively and REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE shall mean separately all the Revolving Credit Notes of the Borrower in the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT 1.1(R) evidencing the Revolving Credit Loans together with all amendments, extensions, renewals, replacements, refinancings or refundings thereof in whole or in part.

REVOLVING FACILITY USAGE shall mean at any time the sum of the Revolving Credit Loans outstanding, the Bid Loans outstanding, the Swing Loans outstanding and the Letter of Credit Outstandings.

ROLLOVER LCS shall mean all letters of credit which were issued by the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks under the Prior Credit Agreement prior to the date hereof upon the application of the Borrower or one of its Subsidiaries and are outstanding on the Closing Date.

 $\,$  SETTLEMENT DATE shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.10.5.

SHARES shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section 5.1.2.

STANDARD & POOR'S shall mean Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw Hill Companies, or any successor thereto.

STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.9.1.

STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT OUTSTANDINGS shall mean at any time the sum of (i) the aggregate undrawn face amount of outstanding Standby Letters of Credit and (ii) without duplication, the aggregate amount of all unpaid and outstanding Reimbursement Obligations relating to Standby Letters of Credit.

SUBORDINATED NOTE AGREEMENT shall mean that certain Note Agreement dated as of May 9, 1997, between the Borrower and the purchasers thereof for the purchase of \$100,000,000 principal amount of 7% Senior Subordinated Notes due May 4, 2000 as hereafter amended, replaced or restated.

SUBORDINATED NOTES shall mean the Notes issued by the Borrower on May 16, 1997 pursuant to the Subordinated Note Agreement as hereafter amended, replaced or restated, including replacement Subordinated Notes issued thereafter to transferees of holders thereof.

SUBSIDIARY of any Person at any time shall mean (i) any corporation or trust of which 50% or more (by number of shares or number of votes) of the outstanding capital stock or shares of beneficial interest normally entitled to vote for the election of one or more directors or trustees (regardless of any contingency which does or may suspend or dilute the voting rights) is at such time owned directly or indirectly by such Person or one or more of such Person's Subsidiaries, or any partnership of which such Person is a general partner or of which 50% or more of the partnership interests is at the time directly or indirectly owned by such Person or one or more of such Person's Subsidiaries, or (ii) any corporation, trust, partnership or other entity which is controlled or capable of being controlled by such Person and/or one or more of such Person's Subsidiaries.

SUBSIDIARY SHARES shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Section 5.1.3.

SWING LENDER shall mean National City Bank.

SWING LOAN COMMITMENT shall mean the Swing Lender's commitment to make Swing Loans to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.10 in an aggregate principal amount up to but not in excess of \$30,000,000.

SWING NOTE shall mean the Swing Note of the Borrower in the form of EXHIBIT 1.1(S) evidencing the Swing Loans, together with all amendments, extensions, renewals, replacements, refinancings or refundings thereof in whole or in part.

SWING LOAN REQUEST shall mean a request for Swing Loans made in accordance with Section 2.10.2.

SWING LOANS shall mean collectively and SWING LOAN shall mean separately all Swing Loans or any Swing Loan made by the Swing Lender to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.10.

 $\hbox{SYNDICATION AGENT shall mean The Bank of New York, in its capacity as the Syndication Agent hereunder. } \\$ 

TRANSFEROR BANK shall mean the selling Bank pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption Agreement.

YEAR 2000 PROBLEM shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.1.24.

## 1.2 CONSTRUCTION.

Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise clearly requires, the following rules of construction shall apply to this Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents:

### 1.2.1 NUMBER; INCLUSION.

References to the plural include the singular, the plural, the part and the whole; "or" has the inclusive meaning represented by the phrase "and/or," and "including" has the meaning represented by the phrase "including without limitation";

### 1.2.1 DETERMINATION.

References to "determination" of or by the Administrative Agent or the Banks shall be deemed to include good-faith estimates by the Administrative Agent or the Banks (in the case of quantitative determinations) and good-faith beliefs by the Administrative Agent or the Banks (in the case of qualitative determinations) and such determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error:

### 1.2.3 DOCUMENTATION AGENT'S DISCRETION AND CONSENT.

Whenever the Documentation Agent or the Banks are granted the right herein to act in its or their sole discretion or to grant or withhold consent such right shall be exercised in good-faith;

## 1.2.4 DOCUMENTS TAKEN AS A WHOLE.

The words "hereof," "herein," "hereunder," "hereto" and similar terms in this Agreement or any other Loan Document refer to this Agreement or such other Loan Document as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement or such other Loan Document;

### 1.2.5 HEADINGS.

The section and other headings contained in this Agreement or such other Loan Document and the Table of Contents (if any) preceding this Agreement or such other Loan Document are for reference purposes only and shall not control or affect the construction of this Agreement or such other Loan Document or the interpretation thereof in any respect;

## 1.2.6 IMPLIED REFERENCES TO THIS AGREEMENT.

Article, section, subsection, clause, schedule and exhibit references are to this Agreement or such other Loan Document, as the case may be, unless otherwise specified;

## 1.2.7 PERSONS.

Reference to any Person includes such Person's successors and assigns but, if applicable, only if such successors and assigns are permitted by this Agreement or such other Loan Document, as the case may be, and reference to a Person in a particular capacity excludes such Person in any other capacity;

### 1.2.8 MODIFICATIONS TO DOCUMENTS.

Reference to any agreement (including this Agreement and any other Loan Document together with the schedules and exhibits hereto or thereto), document or instrument means such agreement, document or instrument as amended, modified, replaced, substituted for, superseded or restated;

### 1.2.9 FROM, TO AND THROUGH.

Relative to the determination of any period of time, "from" means "from and including," "to" means "to but excluding," and "through" means "through and including"; and

### 1.2.10 SHALL; WILL.

References to "shall" and "will" are intended to have the same meaning.

### 1.3 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES.

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all computations and determinations as to accounting or financial matters and all financial statements to be delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall be made and prepared in accordance with GAAP (including principles of consolidation where appropriate), and all accounting or financial terms shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms by GAAP. In the event that on or after the date hereof, a material change occurs in GAAP, the Banks and the Borrower will consult in good faith regarding whether such change in GAAP affects any financial covenants contained herein that should be adjusted due to such change in GAAP.

## 2. REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY

### 2.1 REVOLVING CREDIT COMMITMENTS.

Subject to the terms and conditions hereof and relying upon the representations and warranties herein set forth, each Revolving Credit Bank severally agrees to make Revolving Credit Loans to the Borrower at any time or from time to time on or after the date hereof to the Expiration Date in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed at any one time such Revolving Credit Bank's Revolving Credit Commitment minus such Revolving Credit Bank's Ratable Share of the Letter of Credit Outstandings. Within such limits of time and amount and subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, the Borrower may borrow, repay and reborrow pursuant to this Section 2.1; provided that in no event shall the Revolving Facility Usage exceed, at any one time, an amount equal to the Revolving Credit Commitments less the face amount of commercial paper issued by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.

## 2.2 NATURE OF BANKS' OBLIGATIONS WITH RESPECT TO REVOLVING CREDIT LOANS.

Each Revolving Credit Bank shall be obligated to participate in each request for Revolving Credit Loans pursuant to Section 2.5 in accordance with its Ratable Share. The aggregate of each Revolving Credit Bank's Revolving Credit Loans outstanding hereunder to the Borrower at any time shall never exceed its Revolving Credit Commitment minus its Ratable Share of the Letter of Credit Outstandings. The obligations of each Revolving Credit Bank hereunder are several. The failure of any Revolving Credit Bank to perform its obligations hereunder shall not affect the Obligations of the Borrower to any other party nor shall any other party be liable for the failure of such Revolving Credit Bank

to perform its obligations hereunder. The Revolving Credit Banks shall have no obligation to make Revolving Credit Loans hereunder on or after the Expiration Date.

### 2.3 FACILITY FEES.

The Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Revolving Credit Bank, as consideration for such Revolving Credit Bank's Revolving Credit Commitment hereunder, a nonrefundable facility fee (the "Facility Fee") at the times and in the amounts as follows:

- (A) on the Closing Date in an amount equal to the product of the following: (i) a fraction equal to the number of days remaining in the quarter ending on May 31, 1998 as of such Closing Date divided by 365, (ii) the Applicable Facility Percentage as of such Closing Date, and (iii) the amount of such Bank's Revolving Credit Commitment (regardless of usage) as of such effective date, and
- (B) on the first Business Day of each June, September, December and March after the Closing Date until the Expiration Date in an amount equal to the product of the following: (i) 25%, (ii) the Applicable Facility Percentage in effect on the due date of such payment, and (iii) the amount of such Revolving Credit Bank's Revolving Credit Commitment (regardless of usage) as of the due date of such payment; except that the Facility Fee on the last payment date prior to the Expiration Date shall equal the product of the following: (i) a fraction equal to the number of days remaining in the quarter in which the Expiration Date falls through the Expiration Date divided by 365 or 366, as applicable, (ii) the Applicable Facility Percentage in effect on the due date of such payment, and (iii) the amount of such Bank's Revolving Credit Commitment (regardless of usage) as of the due date of such payment.

### 2.4 REDUCTION OF REVOLVING CREDIT COMMITMENTS.

#### 2.4.1 VOLUNTARY REDUCTION OF REVOLVING CREDIT COMMITMENTS.

The Borrower shall have the right at any time and from time to time upon not less than three (3) Business Days' prior written notice to the Revolving Credit Banks to permanently reduce, in whole multiples of \$10,000,000, or terminate the Revolving Credit Commitments without penalty or premium, except as hereinafter set forth, provided that any such reduction or termination shall be accompanied by (a) the payment in full of any Facility Fee then accrued on the amount of such reduction or termination and (b) prepayment of the Notes, together with the full amount of interest accrued on the principal sum to be prepaid (and all amounts referred to in Section 4.5) and the Borrower shall deposit in a non-interest bearing account (provided that with the consent of the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks and the Administrative Agent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, such account may be an interest bearing account) with the Administrative Agent, as cash collateral for its Obligations in respect of the Letters of Credit and related applications and agreements, an amount equal to the maximum amount currently or at any time thereafter available to be drawn on all outstanding Letters of Credit, and the Borrower hereby pledges to the Administrative Agent and the Revolving Credit Banks, and grants to the Administrative Agent and the Revolving Credit Banks a security interest in, all such cash as security for such Obligations, to the extent that the Revolving Facility Usage then exceeds the difference between the Revolving Credit Commitments as so reduced or terminated and the face amount of the commercial paper issued by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries. From time to time the Administrative Agent shall return to the Borrower any excess of the amount held in such account over the amount by which the Revolving Facility Usage then exceeds the Revolving Credit Commitments. From the effective date of any such reduction or termination, the obligations of Borrower to pay the Facility Fee pursuant to Section 2.3 shall correspondingly be reduced or cease.

### 2.5 REVOLVING CREDIT LOAN REQUESTS.

Except as otherwise provided herein, the Borrower may from time to time prior to the Expiration Date request the Revolving Credit Banks to make Revolving Credit Loans, or renew or convert the Interest Rate Option applicable to existing Revolving Credit Loans pursuant to Section 3.2, by delivering to the Administrative Agent, not later than 2:00 p.m., Columbus, Ohio time, (i) three (3) Business Days prior to the proposed Borrowing Date with respect to the making of Revolving Credit Loans to which the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies or the conversion to or the renewal of the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option for any Revolving Credit Loans; and (ii) one (1) Business Day prior to either the proposed Borrowing Date with respect to the making of a Revolving Credit Loan to which the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option applies or the last day of the preceding Interest Period with respect to the conversion to the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option for any Revolving Credit Loan, of a duly completed request therefor substantially in the form of EXHIBIT 2.5 or a request by telephone immediately confirmed in writing by letter, facsimile or telex in such form (each, a "Revolving Credit Loan Request"), it being understood that the Administrative Agent may rely on the authority of any individual making such a telephonic request without the necessity of receipt of such written confirmation. Each Revolving Credit Loan Request shall be irrevocable and shall specify (i) the proposed Borrowing Date; (ii) the aggregate amount of the proposed Revolving Credit Loans comprising each Borrowing Tranche, which shall be in integral multiples of \$1,000,000 and not less than \$5,000,000 for each Borrowing Tranche to which the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies and not less than the lesser of \$5,000,000 or the maximum amount available for Borrowing Tranches to which the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option applies; (iii) whether the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option or Revolving Credit Base Rate Option shall apply to the proposed Revolving Credit Loans comprising the applicable Borrowing Tranche; and (iv) in the case of a Borrowing Tranche to which the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies, an appropriate Interest Period for the proposed Revolving Credit Loans comprising such Borrowing Tranche.

#### 2.6 MAKING REVOLVING CREDIT LOANS.

The Administrative Agent shall, promptly after receipt by it of a Revolving Credit Loan Request pursuant to Section 2.5, notify the Revolving Credit Banks of its receipt of the related Revolving Credit Loan Request specifying: (i) the proposed Borrowing Date of such Revolving Credit Loans; (ii) the amount and type of each such Revolving Credit Loan and the applicable Interest Period (if any); and (iii) the apportionment among the Revolving Credit Banks of such Revolving Credit Loans as determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with Section 2.2. Each Revolving Credit Bank shall remit the principal amount of each Revolving Credit Loan to the Administrative Agent such that the Administrative Agent is able to, and the Administrative Agent shall, to the extent the Revolving Credit Banks have made funds available to it for such purpose, fund such Revolving Credit Loans to the Borrower in Dollars and immediately available funds at the Principal Office prior to 2:00 p.m., Columbus, Ohio time, on the applicable Borrowing Date, PROVIDED that if the Administrative Agent assumes pursuant to Section 9.16 that a Revolving Credit Bank will make available to the Administrative Agent such Revolving Credit Bank's portion of a Revolving Credit Loan and such Revolving Credit Bank fails to remit such funds to the Administrative Agent in a timely manner, the Administrative Agent may elect in its sole discretion to fund with its own funds the Revolving Credit Loans of such Revolving Credit Bank on such Borrowing Date, and such Revolving Credit Bank shall be subject to the repayment obligation in Section 9.16.

#### 2.7 REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES.

The Obligation of the Borrower to repay the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Revolving Credit Loans made to it by each Revolving Credit Bank, together with interest thereon, shall be evidenced by a Revolving Credit Note payable to the order of such Revolving Credit Bank in a face amount equal to the Revolving Credit Commitment of such Revolving Credit Bank.

#### 2.8 USE OF PROCEEDS.

The proceeds from Loans made shall be used for working capital and similar general corporate purposes and in accordance with Section 7.1.10 [Use of Proceeds], and to make other payments as permitted herein.

#### 2.9 LETTERS OF CREDIT SUBFACILITY.

### 2.9.1 ISSUANCE OF LETTERS OF CREDIT.

Borrower or a Material Subsidiary may request the issuance of (or modification of any issued) commercial letters of credit in connection with the Borrower's or Subsidiary of the Borrower's purchase of goods and services (each a "Documentary Letter of Credit") and standby letters of credit for the benefit of workmen's compensation or liability insurers, state and federal agencies to assure compliance with applicable Laws and other Persons in support of refund, warranty or other obligations of the Borrower or a Subsidiary of the Borrower (each a "Standby Letter of Credit" and together with Documentary Letters of Credit referred to as "Letters of Credit" in the aggregate or individually as a "Letter of Credit") on behalf of itself or another Loan Party by delivering by no later than 10:00 a.m., Columbus, Ohio time, two (2) Business Days in the case of a Documentary Letter of Credit and three (3) Business Days in case of a Standby Letter of Credit prior to the requested date of issuance of such Letter of Credit to the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank with a copy to the Administrative Agent a written notice specifying the proposed beneficiary, date of issuance and expiry date for such Letter of Credit or modification to an existing Letter of Credit and the nature of the transactions to be supported thereby. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof and to the execution of a completed application and agreement for letters of credit in such form as the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank may specify from time to time and in reliance on the agreements of the Revolving Credit Banks set forth in this Section 2.9, such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank will issue a Letter of Credit provided that each Letter of Credit shall (A) have a maximum maturity of 364 days from the date of issuance, (B) in no event expire later than five Business Days prior to the Expiration Date and provided further that in no event shall (i) the sum of the Standby Letter of Credit Outstandings exceed \$75,000,000, or (ii) the Revolving Facility Usage exceed, at any one time, the Revolving Credit Commitments. Each of the Rollover LC shall be deemed to have been issued hereunder on the Closing Date by the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank as a Documentary Letter of Credit or Standby Letter of Credit, as the case may be, and shall be deemed to be a Letter of Credit for all purposes of this Agreement. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank's application and agreement for letters of credit, the terms of this Agreement shall control (provided that terms of any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank's application and agreement for letters of credit which are in addition to those contained herein and which do not expressly conflict with the terms contained herein shall not be deemed to be in conflict with this Agreement).

#### 2.9.2 PARTICIPATIONS.

Immediately upon issuance of each Letter of Credit, and without further action, each Revolving Credit Bank shall be deemed to, and hereby agrees that it shall, have irrevocably purchased for such Revolving Credit Bank's own account and risk from the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank an individual participation interest in such Letter of Credit and drawings thereunder in an amount equal to such Revolving Credit Bank's Ratable Share of the maximum amount which is or at any time may become available to be drawn thereunder, and each Revolving Credit Bank shall be responsible to reimburse such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank immediately for its Ratable Share of any disbursement under any Letter of Credit which has not been reimbursed by Borrower in accordance with Section 2.9.4 by making its Ratable Share of the Revolving Credit Loans referred to in Section 2.9.4 available to such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank. Upon the request of any Revolving Credit Bank and no less frequently than once in each calendar month, the Administrative Agent shall notify each Revolving Credit Bank of the amount of such Revolving Credit Bank's participation in Letters of Credit.

#### 2.9.3 LETTER OF CREDIT FEES.

The Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent for the ratable account of the Revolving Credit Banks (a) fees ("Documentary Letters of Credit Fees") with respect to Documentary Letters of Credit and (b) fees ("Standby Letters of Credit Fees") with respect to Standby Letters of Credit, in each case in the amounts set forth in Sections 2.9.3.1 and 2.9.3.2 (as the same may be increased as provided in Section 3.3). All Documentary Letters of Credit Fees and Standby Letters of Credit Fees (collectively, "Letters of Credit Fees") shall be payable quarterly in arrears commencing with the first Business Day of each March, June, September and December following issuance of each Letter of Credit and on the earlier of the Expiration Date or the acceleration of the Revolving Credit Notes.

### 2.9.3.1 DOCUMENTARY LETTER OF CREDIT FEES.

Documentary Letters of Credit Fees on Documentary Letters of Credit shall be determined by multiplying the then Applicable Documentary LC Percentage times the average daily Documentary Letter of Credit Outstandings.

The Company shall also pay Documentary Letters of Credit Fees in respect of Documentary Letter of Credit (Time Draft) Outstandings determined by multiplying two (2) times the Applicable Documentary LC Percentage times the average daily Documentary Letter of Credit (Time Draft) Outstandings.

The Borrower shall also pay to the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank for its sole account (i) a fronting fee as determined by such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank and the Borrower and (ii) such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank's then in effect customary issuance fees and administrative expense payable with respect to its Documentary Letters of Credit as such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank may generally charge or incur from time to time in connection with the issuance, maintenance, modification (if any), assignment or transfer (if any), negotiation, and administration of commercial letters of credit, payable at such times as such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank may specify.

#### 2.9.3.2 STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT FEES.

Standby Letters of Credit Fees shall be determined by multiplying the Applicable Margin then applicable to Revolving Credit Loans outstanding under the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option times the average daily Standby Letter of Credit Outstandings.

The Borrower shall also pay to the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank for its sole account (i) a fronting fee as determined by such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank and the Borrower and (ii) such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank's then in effect customary issuance fees and administrative expense payable with respect to its Standby Letters of Credit as such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank may generally charge or incur from time to time in connection with the issuance, maintenance, modification (if any), assignment or transfer (if any), negotiation, and administration of standby letters of credit payable at such times as such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank may specify.

### 2.9.4 DISBURSEMENTS, REIMBURSEMENT.

Borrower shall be obligated immediately to reimburse the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank (each a "Reimbursement Obligation") for all amounts which such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank is required to pay pursuant to the Letters of Credit issued by such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank on or before the date on which the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank is required to make payment with respect to a draft presented thereunder; provided, however, that a Reimbursement Obligation with respect to a Documentary Letter of Credit time draft which has been accepted for payment by an Issuing Letter of Credit Bank shall not arise until the date on which the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank is obligated to make a payment with respect to such draft which it has accepted for payment. The applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank will promptly notify (A) the Borrower of each demand or presentment for payment or draft accepted for payment or other drawing under each Letter of Credit issued by such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank, and (B) the Administrative Agent of the amount required to be paid by such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank pursuant to each such Letter of Credit. The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Revolving Credit Bank of the amount required to be paid by such Revolving Credit Bank as a result of a drawing upon such Letter of Credit if the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank shall have notified the Administrative Agent that the Borrower has not timely reimbursed such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank for such draw. If such notice is received by a Revolving Credit Bank before 1:00 p.m., Columbus, Ohio time, such Revolving Credit Bank shall deliver such Revolving Credit Bank's Ratable Share of such payment in immediately available funds to the Administrative Agent on that Business Day. If such notice is received by a Revolving Credit Bank after 1:00 p.m., Columbus, Ohio time, such Revolving Credit Bank shall before 10:00 a.m., Columbus, Ohio time, on the next succeeding Business Day deliver to the Administrative Agent such Revolving Credit Bank's Ratable Share of such payment as a Revolving Credit Loan from such Revolving Credit Bank in immediately available funds. Upon receipt of each Revolving Credit Bank's Ratable Share of such payment, the Administrative Agent shall immediately deliver such Revolving Credit Bank's Ratable Share of such payment to the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank.

### 2.9.5 DOCUMENTATION.

Each Loan Party agrees to be bound by the terms of each Issuing Letter of Credit Bank's application and agreement for letters of credit and each Issuing Letter of Credit Bank's written regulations and customary practices relating to letters of credit, though such interpretation may be different from such Loan Party's own. In the event of a conflict between such application or agreement and this Agreement, this Agreement shall govern (provided that terms of any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank's application and agreement for letters of credit which are in addition to those con-

tained herein and which do not expressly conflict with the terms contained herein shall be deemed not to be in conflict with this Agreement). It is understood and agreed that, except in the case of gross negligence or willful misconduct, the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank shall not be liable for any error, negligence and/or mistakes, whether of omission or commission, in following any Loan Party's instructions or those contained in the Letters of Credit issued by such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank or any modifications, amendments or supplements thereto.

### 2.9.6 DETERMINATIONS TO HONOR DRAWING REQUESTS.

In determining whether to honor any request for drawing under any Letter of Credit by the beneficiary thereof, the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank shall be responsible only to determine that the documents and certificates required to be delivered under such Letter of Credit have been delivered and that they appear to comply on their face with the requirements of such Letter of Credit.

#### 2.9.7 NATURE OF PARTICIPATION AND REIMBURSEMENT OBLIGATIONS.

The obligation of the Revolving Credit Banks to participate in Letters of Credit pursuant to Section 2.9.2 and the obligation of the Revolving Credit Banks pursuant to Section 2.9.4 to fund Revolving Credit Loans upon a draw under a Letter of Credit or to acquire participations in Letters of Credit and the Obligations of the Borrower to reimburse the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank upon a draw under any Letter of Credit pursuant to Section 2.9 shall be absolute unconditional and irrevocable, and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of such sections under all circumstances, including the following circumstances:

- (i) the failure of any Loan Party or any other Person to comply with the conditions set forth in Sections 2.1, 2.5, 2.6 or 6.2 or as otherwise set forth in this Agreement for the making of a Revolving Credit Loan, it being acknowledged that such conditions are not required for the making of a Revolving Credit Loan under Section 2.9.4;
- (ii) any lack of validity or enforceability of any Letter of Credit;
- (iii) the existence of any claim, set-off, defense or other right which any Loan Party or any Revolving Credit Bank may have at any time against a beneficiary or any transferee of any Letter of Credit (or any Persons for whom any such transferee may be acting), such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank or any Revolving Credit Bank or any other Person or whether in connection with this Agreement, the transactions contemplated herein or any unrelated transaction (including any underlying transaction between any Loan Party or Subsidiaries of a Loan Party and the beneficiary for which any Letter of Credit was procured);
- (iv) any draft, demand, certificate or other document presented under any Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect even if such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank has been notified thereof;
- (v) payment by such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank under any Letter of Credit against presentation of a demand, draft or certificate or other document which does not comply with the terms of such Letter of Credit;

- (vi) any adverse change in the business, operations, properties, assets, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of any Loan Party or Subsidiaries of a Loan Party;
- (vii) any breach of this Agreement or any other Loan Document by any party thereto;
- (viii) any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing;
- (ix) the fact that an Event of Default or a Potential Default shall have occurred and be continuing; and
- (x) the fact that the Expiration Date shall have passed or this Agreement or the Revolving Credit Commitments hereunder shall have been terminated.

#### 2.9.8 INDEMNITY.

In addition to amounts payable as provided in Section 9.5, the Borrower hereby agrees to pay and to protect, indemnify and save harmless each Issuing Letter of Credit Bank from and against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, damages, losses, costs, charges and expenses (including reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of counsel and allocated costs of internal counsel) which such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank may incur or be subject to as a consequence, direct or indirect, of (i) the issuance of any Letter of Credit, other than as a result of (A) the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank as determined by a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction or (B) subject to the following clause (ii), the wrongful dishonor by such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank of a proper demand for payment made under any Letter of Credit or (ii) the failure of such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank to honor a drawing under any such Letter of Credit as a result of any act or omission, whether rightful or wrongful, of any present or future de jure or de facto government or governmental authority (all such acts or omissions herein called "Governmental Acts").

#### 2.9.9 LIABILITY FOR ACTS AND OMISSIONS.

As between any Loan Party and each Issuing Letter of Credit Bank, such Loan Party assumes all risks of the acts and omissions of, or misuse of the Letters of Credit by, the respective beneficiaries of the Letters of Credit. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the applicable Issuing Letter of Credit Bank shall not be responsible for: (i) the form, validity, sufficiency, accuracy, genuineness or legal effect of any document submitted by any party in connection with the application for an issuance of any Letter of Credit issued by such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank, even if it should in fact prove to be in any or all respects invalid, insufficient, inaccurate, fraudulent or forged (even if such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank shall have been notified thereof); (ii) the validity or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or assigning or purporting to transfer or assign any such Letter of Credit or the rights or benefits thereunder or proceeds thereof, in whole or in part, which may prove to be invalid or ineffective for any reason; (iii) failure of the beneficiary of any such Letter of Credit to comply fully with any conditions required in order to draw upon such Letter of Credit; (iv) errors, omissions, interruptions or delays in transmission or delivery of any messages, by mail, cable, telegraph, telex or otherwise, whether or not they be in cipher; (v) errors in interpretation of technical terms; (vi) any loss or delay in the transmission or otherwise of any document required in order to make a drawing under any such Letter of Credit or of the proceeds thereof; (vii) the misapplication by the beneficiary of any such Letter of Credit of the proceeds of any drawing under such Letter of Credit; or (viii) any consequences arising from causes beyond the control of

such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank, including any Governmental Acts, and none of the above shall affect or impair, or prevent the vesting of, any of such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank's rights or powers hereunder.

In furtherance and extension and not in limitation of the specific provisions set forth above, any action taken or omitted by any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank under or in connection with the Letters of Credit issued by it or any documents and certificates delivered thereunder, if taken or omitted in good faith, shall not put such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank under any resulting liability to the Borrower or any Revolving Credit Banks.

The Revolving Credit Banks and any Loan Party may not commence a proceeding against any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank for wrongful disbursement under a Letter of Credit issued by such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank as a result of acts or omissions constituting gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank, until the Revolving Credit Banks have made and the Borrower has repaid the Revolving Credit Loans described in Section 2.9.4; provided, however, that nothing in this Section 2.9 shall adversely affect the right of any Loan Party, after such payment, to commence any proceeding against such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank for any breach of its obligations hereunder.

### 2.10 SWING LOANS.

#### 2.10.1 SWING LOAN COMMITMENT.

Subject to the terms and conditions hereof and relying upon the representations and warranties herein set forth, and in order to facilitate loans and repayments in amounts of \$30,000,000 or less, the Swing Lender may, at its option, cancelable at any time for any reason whatsoever, make swing loans (the "Swing Loans") to the Borrower at any time or from time to time after the date hereof to, but not including, the Expiration Date, in an aggregate principal amount up to the Swing Loan Commitment, subject to reduction as provided herein and to be made in accordance with the following provisions. The Swing Lender may in its discretion make Swing Loans provided that the Revolving Facility Usage shall not at any time exceed an amount equal to the Revolving Credit Commitments less the face amount of commercial paper issued by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries. Within such limits of time and amount and subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, the Borrower may borrow, repay and reborrow pursuant to this Section 2.10.

### 2.10.2 SWING LOAN REQUESTS.

Except as otherwise provided herein, the Borrower may from time to time prior to the Expiration Date request the Swing Lender to make Swing Loans by delivery to the Swing Lender not later than 12:00 p.m. Columbus, Ohio time on the proposed Borrowing Date of a duly completed request therefor substantially in the form of EXHIBIT 2.10.2 hereto or a request by telephone immediately confirmed in writing by letter, facsimile or telex (each, a "Swing Loan Request"), it being understood that the Swing Lender may rely on the authority of any individual making such a telephonic request without the necessity of receipt of such written confirmation. Each Swing Loan Request shall be irrevocable and shall specify the proposed Borrowing Date and the principal amount of such Swing Loan, which shall be not less than \$100,000 and in integral multiples of \$100,000.

#### 2.10.3 MAKING OF SWING LOANS.

So long as the Swing Lender elects to make Swing Loans, the Swing Lender shall, after receipt by it of a Swing Loan Request pursuant to Section 2.10.2, fund a Swing Loan to the Borrower in U.S. Dollars and immediately available funds at its Principal Office prior to 2:00 p.m. Columbus, Ohio time on the related Borrowing Date.

### 2.10.4 SWING NOTE.

The obligation of the Borrower to repay the unpaid principal amount of the Swing Loans made to it by the Swing Lender together with interest thereon shall be evidenced by a demand promissory note of the Borrower in substantially the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT 1.1(S) payable to the order of the Swing Lender in a face amount equal to the Swing Loan Commitment.

# 2.10.5 REPAYMENT OF SWING LOANS WITH REVOLVING CREDIT LOANS BORROWINGS.

The Swing Lender may at its option, exercisable at any time for any reason whatsoever, and shall no later than the fifth (5th) Business Day following the making of a Swing Loan if the outstanding Swing Loans exceed \$15,000,000 on such date (a "Settlement Date"), demand repayment of all Swing Loans (or at the Swing Lender's option, such portion of the outstanding Swing Loans which results in the aggregate of such Swing Loans not exceeding \$15,000,000), and each Revolving Credit Bank shall make a Revolving Credit Loan in an amount equal to such Revolving Credit Bank's Ratable Share of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Swing Loans for which repayment is demanded, plus, if the Swing Lender so requests, accrued interest thereon, provided that no Revolving Credit Bank shall be obligated in any event to make Revolving Credit Loans in excess of its Revolving Credit Commitment less its Ratable Share of Letter of Credit Outstandings. In that event, such Revolving Credit Loans shall bear interest at the Base Rate and shall be deemed to have been properly requested in accordance with Section 2.5 without regard to any of the requirements of that provision. The Swing Lender shall provide notice to the Administrative Agent (which may be a telephonic or written notice by letter, facsimile or telex) that such Revolving Credit Loans are to be made under this Section 2.10.5; the Administrative Agent shall then provide notice to the Revolving Credit Banks (which may be a telephonic or written notice by letter, facsimile or telex) that such Revolving Credit Loans are to be made under this Section 2.10.5 and of the apportionment among the Revolving Credit Banks, the Revolving Credit Banks shall be unconditionally obligated to fund such Revolving Credit Loans (whether or not the conditions specified in Section 6.2 are then satisfied, including, without limitation, the existence or continuance of any Event of Default) by the time the Administrative Agent so requests, which shall not be earlier than 2:00 p.m. Columbus, Ohio time, on the Business Day next succeeding the date the Revolving Credit Banks receive such notice from the Administrative Agent; and the Administrative Agent shall promptly deliver the funds it receives from the Revolving Credit Banks to the Swing Lender.

### 2.11 BID LOAN FACILITY.

### 2.11.1 BID LOAN REQUESTS.

Except as otherwise provided herein, the Borrower may from time to time prior to the Expiration Date request that the Revolving Credit Banks make Bid Loans by delivery to the Administrative Agent not later than 2:00 P.M., Columbus time of a duly completed request therefor substantially in the form of EXHIBIT 2.11.1 or a request by telephone immediately confirmed in writing by letter, facsimile or telex (each, a "Bid Loan Request") at least three (3) Business

Days prior to the proposed Borrowing Date. The Administrative Agent may rely on the authority of any individual making a telephonic request referred to in the preceding sentence without the necessity of receipt of written confirmation. Each Bid Loan Request shall be irrevocable and shall specify (i) the proposed Borrowing Date, (ii) the term of the proposed Bid Loan (the "Bid Loan Interest Period") which may be no less than seven (7) days and no longer than thirty (30) days, and (iii) the maximum principal amount (the "Requested Amount") of such Bid Loan, which shall be not less than \$5,000,000 and shall be an integral multiple of \$1,000,000. After giving effect to such Bid Loan and any other Loan made on or before the Borrowing Date, the Revolving Facility Usage shall not exceed an amount equal to the Revolving Credit Commitments [less the face amount of commercial paper issued by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries .

#### 2.11.2 BIDDING.

The Administrative Agent shall promptly after receipt by it of a Bid Loan Request pursuant to Section 2.11.1 notify the Revolving Credit Banks of its receipt of such Bid Loan Request specifying (i) the proposed Borrowing Date, (ii) the Bid Loan Interest Period and (iii) the principal amount of the proposed Bid Loan. Each Revolving Credit Bank may submit a bid (a "Bid") in the form of EXHIBIT 2.11.2 to the Administrative Agent not later than 10:00 A.M. Columbus time one (1) Business Day before the proposed Borrowing Date in writing by facsimile. Each Bid shall specify: (A) the principal amount of proposed Bid Loans offered by such Revolving Credit Bank (such Bid Loans may be funded by such Revolving Credit Bank's Designated Lender as provided in Section 2.11.4, however, such Revolving Credit Bank shall not be required to specify in its Bid whether such Bid Loans will be funded by such Designated Lender) (the "Offered Amount") which (i) may be less than, but shall not exceed, the Requested Amount, (ii) shall be at least \$5,000,000 and shall be an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 and (iii) may exceed such Revolving Credit Bank's Revolving Credit Commitment, and (B) the Fixed Rate which shall apply to such proposed Bid Loan. If any Bid omits information required hereunder, the Administrative Agent may in its sole discretion attempt to notify the Revolving Credit Bank submitting such Bid. If the Administrative Agent so notifies a Revolving Credit Bank, such Revolving Credit Bank may resubmit its Bid provided that it does so prior to the time set forth above in this Section 2.11 by which such Revolving Credit Bank is required to submit its Bid to the Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower of the Bids which it timely received from the Revolving Credit Banks. If the Administrative Agent in its capacity as a Revolving Credit Bank shall, in its sole discretion, make a Bid, it shall notify the Borrower of such Bid before 9:00 A.M., Columbus time, one (1) Business Day before the proposed Borrowing Date.

### 2.11.3 ACCEPTING BIDS.

The Borrower shall irrevocably accept or reject Bids by notifying the Administrative Agent of such acceptance or rejection by telephone (immediately confirmed in writing by letter, facsimile or telex) not later than 11:00 A.M., Columbus time, one (1) Business Day before the proposed Borrowing Date. If the Borrower elects to accept any Bids, its acceptance must meet the following conditions: (1) the total amount which the Borrower accepts from all Revolving Credit Banks must exceed \$5,000,000 and be in integral multiples of \$1,000,000 and may not exceed the Requested Amount; (2) the Borrower must (subject to clause (4) below) accept Bids based solely on the Fixed Rates which the Revolving Credit Banks quoted in their Bids in ascending order of such Fixed Rates; (3) the Borrower may not borrow Bid Loans from any Revolving Credit Bank (or such Revolving Credit Bank's Designated Lender) on the Borrowing Date in an amount exceeding such Revolving Credit Bank's Offered Amount; (4) if two or more Revolving Credit Banks make Bids at the same Fixed Rate and the Borrower desires to accept a portion but not all of the Bids at such Fixed Rate, the Borrower shall accept a portion of each Bid equal to the product of the Offered Amount of such Bid times the fraction obtained by dividing the total amount of Bids which Borrower is accepting at such Fixed Rate by the sum of

the Offered Amounts of the Bids at such Fixed Rate; provided that the Borrower shall round the Bid Loans allocated to each such Revolving Credit Bank upward or downward as the Borrower may select to integral multiples of \$100,000. The Administrative Agent shall (i) promptly notify a Revolving Credit Bank that has made a Bid of the amount of its Bid that was accepted or rejected by the Borrower by delivering a notice in the form of EXHIBIT 2.11.3(A) and (ii) as promptly as practical notify all of the Revolving Credit Banks (other than those described in clause (i) immediately above) of the amount of all Bids which the Borrower has accepted by delivering a notice in the form of EXHIBIT 2.11.3(B).

#### 2.11.4 FUNDING BID LOANS.

Each Revolving Credit Bank whose Bid or portion thereof is accepted shall, or at its option shall cause its Designated Lender to, remit the principal amount of its Bid Loan to the Administrative Agent by 12:00 Noon on the Borrowing Date. The Administrative Agent shall make such funds available to the Borrower on or before 1:00 A.M. on the Borrowing Date provided that the conditions precedent to the making of such Bid Loan set forth in Section 6.2 have been satisfied not later than 10:00 A.M., Columbus time, on the proposed Borrowing Date. If such conditions precedent have not been satisfied prior to such time, then (i) the Administrative Agent shall not make such funds available to the Borrower, (ii) the Bid Loan Request shall be deemed to be canceled and (iii) the Administrative Agent shall return the amount previously funded to the Administrative Agent by each applicable Bank no later than the following Business Day. The Borrower shall immediately notify the Administrative Agent of any failure to satisfy the conditions precedent to the making of Bid Loans under Section 6.2. The Administrative Agent may assume that the Borrower has satisfied such conditions precedent if the Borrower (i) has delivered to the Administrative Agent the documents required to be delivered under Section 6.2, (ii) the Borrower has not notified the Administrative Agent that the Loan Parties have not satisfied any other conditions precedent, and (iii) the Administrative Agent has no actual notice of such a failure. Any Designated Lender which funds a Bid Loan shall on and after the time of such funding become the oblique under such Bid Loan and be entitled to receive payment thereof when due. A Revolving Credit Bank shall be relieved of its obligation to fund a Bid Loan upon the funding of such Bid Loan by its Designated Lender and not prior to such time.

### 2.11.5 SEVERAL OBLIGATIONS.

The obligations of the Revolving Credit Banks to make Bid Loans after their Bids have been accepted are several. No Revolving Credit Bank shall be responsible for the failure of any other Bank to make any Bid Loan which another Revolving Credit Bank has agreed to make.

### 2.11.6 BID NOTES.

The obligation of the Borrower to repay the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Bid Loans made to it by each Revolving Credit Bank or its Designated Lender, as the case may be, together with interest thereon, shall be evidenced by a Bid Note dated as of the Closing Date payable to the order of such Revolving Credit Bank and a Bid Note dated as of the date of the applicable Designation Agreement in favor of the Designated Lender named in such Designation Agreement in a face amount equal to the aggregate Revolving Credit Commitments of all of the Banks.

#### 2.11.7 PAYMENTS AND PREPAYMENTS.

The Borrower shall repay each Bid Loan on the last day of the Interest Period with respect to such Bid Loan. The Borrower may not prepay the Bid Loans.

# 3. INTEREST RATES

#### 3.1 INTEREST RATE OPTIONS.

The Borrower shall pay interest in respect of the outstanding unpaid principal amount of the Revolving Credit Loans as selected by it from the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option or Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option set forth below applicable to the Revolving Credit Loans, it being understood that, subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the Borrower may select different Interest Rate Options and different Interest Periods to apply simultaneously to the Revolving Credit Loans comprising different Borrowing Tranches and may convert to or renew one or more Interest Rate Options with respect to all or any portion of the Revolving Credit Loans comprising any Borrowing Tranche, PROVIDED that there shall not be at any one time outstanding more than eight (8) Borrowing Tranches in the aggregate among all the Revolving Credit Loans. If at any time the designated rate applicable to any Revolving Credit Loan made by any Revolving Credit Bank exceeds such Revolving Credit Bank's highest lawful rate, the rate of interest on such Revolving Credit Bank's Revolving Credit Loan shall be limited to such Revolving Credit Bank's highest lawful rate.

#### 3.1.1 REVOLVING CREDIT INTEREST RATE OPTIONS.

The Borrower shall have the right to select from the following Interest Rate Options applicable to the Revolving Credit Loans:

- (i) REVOLVING CREDIT BASE RATE OPTION: A fluctuating rate per annum (computed on the basis of a year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be, and actual days elapsed) equal to the Base Rate, such interest rate to change automatically from time to time effective as of the effective date of each change in the Base Rate;
- (ii) REVOLVING CREDIT EURO-RATE OPTION: A rate per annum (computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and actual days elapsed) equal to the Euro-Rate plus the Applicable Margin

Swing Loans shall bear interest in accordance with Section 3.1.1(i) [Revolving Credit Base Rate Option] except to the extent that the Swing Lender agrees in writing to a different rate of interest; provided, however, that any Swing Loans with respect to which the Swing Lender demands payment pursuant to Section 2.10.5 shall bear interest on and after such demand for payment in accordance with Section 3.1.1(i) [Revolving Credit Base Rate Option] notwithstanding any other interest rate agreed to by the Administrative Agent.

### 3.2 INTEREST PERIODS.

At any time when the Borrower shall select, convert to or renew a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option, the Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent thereof at least three (3) Business Days prior to the effective date of such Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option by delivering a Loan Request. Such notice shall specify an interest period (the "Re-

volving Credit Interest Period") during which such Interest Rate Option shall apply, such Interest Period to be one, two, three or six Months, PROVIDED, that:

### 3.2.1 ENDING DATE AND BUSINESS DAY.

Any Interest Period which would otherwise end on a date which is not a Business Day shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless such Business Day falls in the next calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day;

### 3.2.2 AMOUNT OF BORROWING TRANCHE.

Each Borrowing Tranche of a Loan to which the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies shall be in integral multiples of \$1,000,000 and not less than \$5,000,000;

### 3.2.3 TERMINATION BEFORE EXPIRATION DATE.

The Borrower shall not select, convert to or renew an Interest Period for any portion of the Loans that would end after the Expiration Date; and

#### 3.2.4 RENEWALS.

In the case of the renewal of a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option at the end of an Interest Period, the first day of the new Interest Period shall be the last day of the preceding Interest Period, without duplication in payment of interest for such day.

#### 3.3 INTEREST AFTER DEFAULT.

To the extent permitted by Law, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and until such time such Event of Default shall have been cured or waived:

### 3.3.1 LETTERS OF CREDIT FEES, INTEREST RATE.

The Letters of Credit Fees and the rate of interest for each Loan otherwise applicable pursuant to Section 2.9 or Section 3.1, respectively, shall be increased by 2.0% per annum;

### 3.3.2 OTHER OBLIGATIONS.

Each other Obligation hereunder if not paid when due shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the sum of the rate of interest applicable under the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option plus an additional 2.0% per annum from the time such Obligation becomes due and payable and until it is paid in full; and

### 3.3.3 ACKNOWLEDGMENT.

The Borrower acknowledges that the increased rates referred to in this Section 3.3 reflect, among other things, the fact that such Loans or other amounts have become a substantially greater risk given their default status

and that the Banks are entitled to additional compensation for such risk. All such interest shall be payable by Borrower upon demand by the Administrative Agent.

### 3.4 EURO-RATE UNASCERTAINABLE.

#### 3.4.1 UNASCERTAINABLE.

If on any date on which a Euro-Rate would otherwise be determined, the Administrative Agent shall have determined that:

- (i) adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining such Euro-Rate, or
- (ii) a contingency has occurred which materially and adversely affects the London interbank eurodollar market relating to the Euro-Rate,

then the Administrative Agent shall have the rights specified in Section  $\ 3.4.3.$ 

3.4.2 ILLEGALITY; INCREASED COSTS; DEPOSITS NOT AVAILABLE.

If at any time any Revolving Credit Bank shall have determined that:

- (i) the making, maintenance or funding of any Revolving Credit Loan to which a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies has been made impracticable or unlawful by compliance by such Revolving Credit Bank in good faith with any Law or any interpretation or application thereof by any Official Body or with any request or directive of any Official Body (whether or not having the force of Law), or
- (ii) such Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Revolving Credit Bank of the establishment or maintenance of any such Revolving Credit Loan, or
- (iii) after making all reasonable efforts, deposits of the relevant amount in Dollars for the relevant Interest Period for a Revolving Credit Loan to which a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies, are not available to such Revolving Credit Bank with respect to such Revolving Credit Loan in the London interbank market,

then such Revolving Credit Bank shall have the rights specified in Section 3.4.3.

3.4.3 ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT'S AND REVOLVING CREDIT BANK'S RIGHTS.

In the case of any event specified in Section 3.4.1, the Administrative Agent shall promptly so notify the Revolving Credit Banks and the Borrower thereof, and in the case of a determination specified in Section 3.4.2, such Revolving Credit Bank shall promptly so notify the Administrative Agent and endorse a certificate to such notice as to the specific circumstances of such notice, and the Administrative Agent shall promptly send copies of such notice and certificate to the other Revolving Credit Banks and the Borrower. Upon such date as shall be specified in such notice (which shall not be earlier than the date such notice is given) the obligation of (A) the Revolving Credit Banks, in the

case of such notice given by the Administrative Agent in respect of Section 3.4.1, or (B) such Revolving Credit Bank, in the case of such notice given by such Revolving Credit Bank in respect of Section 3.4.2, to allow the Borrower to select, convert to or renew a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option shall be suspended until the Administrative Agent shall have later notified the Borrower, or such Revolving Credit Bank shall have later notified the Administrative Agent, of the Administrative Agent's or such Revolving Credit Bank's, as the case may be, determination that the circumstances giving rise to such previous determination no longer exist. If at any time the Administrative Agent makes a determination under Section 3.4.1 and the Borrower has previously notified the Administrative Agent of its selection of, conversion to or renewal of a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option and such Interest Rate Option has not yet gone into effect, such notification shall be deemed to provide for selection of, conversion to or renewal of the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option otherwise available with respect to the affected Revolving Credit Loans. If any Revolving Credit Bank notifies the Administrative Agent of a determination under Section 3.4.2, the Borrower shall, subject to the Borrower's indemnification Obligations under Section 4.5.2, as to any Revolving Credit Loan of such Revolving Credit Bank to which a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies, on the date specified in such notice convert such Revolving Credit Loan to the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option otherwise available with respect to such Revolving Credit Loan. Absent due notice from the Borrower of conversion, such Revolving Credit Loan shall automatically be converted to the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option otherwise available with respect to such Revolving Credit Loan upon such specified date. Upon any such conversion, the Borrower shall have the right to prepay Revolving Credit Loans in the amount of such Revolving Credit Loan on the date of such conversion without providing the notice otherwise required by Section 4.4.1.

#### 3.5 SELECTION OF INTEREST RATE OPTIONS.

If the Borrower fails to select a new Interest Period to apply to any Borrowing Tranche to which a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies at the expiration of an existing Interest Period applicable to such Borrowing Tranche in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.2, the Borrower shall be deemed to have converted such Borrowing Tranche to the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option commencing upon the last day of such Interest Period.

# 4. PAYMENTS

### 4.1 PAYMENTS.

All payments and prepayments to be made in respect of principal, interest, Facility Fees, Letters of Credit Fees, the Administrative Agent's Fee, or other amounts due from the Borrower hereunder (other than the fees and expenses referenced in Section 2.9.3.1 and Section 2.9.3.2 which are to be paid to the Issuing Letter of Credit Bank as provided in such sections and the fees and expenses referenced in Section 9.15, each of which shall be paid in accordance with such sections) shall be payable prior to 11:00 a.m., Columbus, Ohio time, on the date when due without presentment, demand, protest or notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower, and without set-off, counterclaim or other deduction of any nature, and an action therefor shall immediately accrue. Payments of principal and interest on Loans and of Facility Fees and Letters of Credit Fees shall be made to the Administrative Agent at the Principal Office for the ratable accounts of the Banks in Dollars and in immediately available funds, and the Administrative Agent shall promptly distribute such amounts to the Banks in immediately available funds. The Administrative Agent's and each Bank's statement of account, ledger or other relevant record shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive as the statement of the amount of principal of and interest on the Loans and other amounts owing under this Agreement and shall be deemed an "account stated."

#### 4.2 PRO RATA TREATMENT OF REVOLVING CREDIT BANKS.

Each borrowing of a Revolving Credit Loan and each reduction of the Revolving Credit Commitments shall be allocated to each Revolving Credit Bank according to its Ratable Share, and each selection of, conversion to or renewal of any Interest Rate Option and each payment or prepayment by the Borrower with respect to principal, interest, Facility Fees, Letters of Credit Fees, or other fees (except for the Administrative Agent's Fee and any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank's fees) or amounts due from the Borrower hereunder to the Revolving Credit Banks with respect to the Revolving Credit Loans, shall (except as provided in Section 3.4.2 [Illegality, Increased Costs; Deposits not Available], [Voluntary Prepayments] or [Additional Compensation in Certain Circumstances]) be made in proportion to the applicable Revolving Credit Loans outstanding from each Revolving Credit Bank and, if no such Revolving Credit Loans are then outstanding, in proportion to the Ratable Share of each Revolving Credit Bank.

#### 4.3 INTEREST PAYMENT DATES.

Interest on Revolving Credit Loans to which the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option applies and on Swing Loans shall be due and payable in arrears on the first Business Day of each March, June, September and December after the date hereof and on the Expiration Date or upon acceleration of the Revolving Credit Notes. Interest on Revolving Credit Loans to which the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies and on any Bid Loans shall be due and payable on the last day of each Interest Period for those Loans and, if any Interest Period applicable to a Revolving Credit Loan is longer than three Months, also on the last day of every third Month during such Interest Period. Without limitation on Section 4.4.1 interest on mandatory prepayments of principal under Section 4.5 shall be due on the date such mandatory prepayment is due. Interest on the principal amount of each Loan or other monetary Obligation shall be due and payable on demand after such principal amount or other monetary Obligation becomes due and payable (whether on the stated maturity date, upon acceleration or otherwise).

#### 4.4 VOLUNTARY PREPAYMENTS.

#### 4.4.1 RIGHT TO PREPAY.

The Borrower shall have the right at its option from time to time to prepay the Revolving Credit Loans and Swing Loans in whole or part without premium or penalty (except as provided in Section 4.5):

- (i) at any time with respect to any Revolving Credit Loan to which the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option applies or with respect to any Swing Loan,
- (ii) on the last day of the applicable Interest Period with respect to Revolving Credit Loans to which a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies, and
- (iii) on the date specified in a notice by any Revolving Credit Bank pursuant to Section 3.4.3 [Euro-Rate Unascertainable] with respect to any Revolving Credit Loan to which a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies.

Whenever the Borrower desires to prepay any part of the Revolving Credit Loans, it shall provide a prepayment notice to the Administrative Agent not later than noon, Columbus, Ohio time on the Business Day prior to the

date of prepayment of Revolving Credit Loans setting forth the following information (provided no notice from Borrower is required pursuant to subsection (iii) above):

- (x) the date, which shall be a Business Day, on which the proposed prepayment is to be made;
- (y) a statement indicating the application of the prepayment to the Revolving Credit Loans or Swing Loans; and
- (z) the total principal amount of such prepayment, which shall not be less than \$1,000,000.

All prepayment notices shall be irrevocable. The principal amount of the Revolving Credit Loans and Swing Loans for which a prepayment notice is given, together with interest on such principal amount except with respect to Revolving Credit Loans to which the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option applies, shall be due and payable on the date specified in such prepayment notice as the date on which the proposed prepayment is to be made. If the Borrower prepays a Revolving Credit Loan pursuant to this section or otherwise prepays a Revolving Credit Loan, but fails to specify the applicable Borrowing Tranche which the Borrower is prepaying, the prepayment shall be applied first to Revolving Credit Loans to which the Revolving Credit Base Rate Option applies, then to Revolving Credit Loans to which the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies. Any prepayment hereunder shall be subject to the Borrower's Obligation to indemnify the Revolving Credit Banks under Section 4.5.2.

#### 4.5 ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES.

4.5.1 INCREASED COSTS OR REDUCED RETURN RESULTING FROM TAXES, RESERVES, CAPITAL ADEQUACY REQUIREMENTS, EXPENSES, ETC.

If any Law, guideline or interpretation or any change in any Law, guideline or interpretation or application thereof by any Official Body charged with the interpretation or administration thereof or compliance with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of Law) of any central bank or other Official Body:

- (i) subjects any Bank to any tax or changes the basis of taxation with respect to this Agreement, the Notes, the Loans or payments by the Borrower of principal, interest, Facility Fees, or other amounts due from the Borrower hereunder or under the Notes (except for taxes on the overall net income of such Bank),
- (ii) imposes, modifies or deems applicable any reserve, special deposit or similar requirement against credits or commitments to extend credit extended by, or assets (funded or contingent) of, deposits with or for the account of, or other acquisitions of funds by, any Bank, or
- (iii) imposes, modifies or deems applicable any capital adequacy or similar requirement (A) against assets (funded or contingent) of, or letters of credit, other credits or commitments to extend credit extended by, any Bank, or (B) otherwise applicable to the obligations of any Bank under this Agreement,

and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to, reduce the income receivable by, or impose any expense (including loss of margin) upon any Bank with respect to this Agreement, the Notes or the making, maintenance or funding of any part of the Loans (or, in the case of any capital adequacy or similar requirement, to have the effect of

reducing the rate of return on any Bank's capital, taking into consideration such Bank's customary policies with respect to capital adequacy) by an amount which such Bank in its sole discretion deems to be material, such Bank shall from time to time notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent of the amount determined in good faith (using any averaging and attribution methods employed in good faith and shall be binding upon the parties absent manifest error) by such Bank to be necessary to compensate such Bank for such increase in cost, reduction of income or additional expense or reduced rates of return. Such notice shall set forth in reasonable detail the basis for such determination. Such amount shall be due and payable by the Borrower to such Bank ten (10) Business Days after such notice is given.

#### 4.5.2 INDEMNITY.

In addition to the compensation required by Section 4.6.1, the Borrower shall indemnify each Bank against all liabilities, losses or expenses (including loss of margin, any loss or expense incurred in liquidating or employing deposits from third parties and any loss or expense incurred in connection with funds acquired by a Bank to fund or maintain Revolving Credit Loans subject to a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option or Bid Loans ) which such Bank sustains or incurs as a consequence of any

- (i) payment, prepayment, conversion or renewal of any Revolving Credit Loan to which a Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies or any Bid Loan on a day other than the last day of the corresponding Interest Period (whether or not such payment or prepayment is mandatory, voluntary or automatic and whether or not such payment or prepayment is then due),
- (ii) attempt by the Borrower to revoke (expressly, by later inconsistent notices or otherwise) in whole or part any Loan Requests under Section 2.5 or 2.11 or any notice relating to prepayments under Section 4.4, or
- (iii) default by the Borrower in the performance or observance of any covenant or condition contained in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, including any failure of the Borrower to pay when due (by acceleration or otherwise) any principal, interest, Facility Fee or any other amount due hereunder.

If any Bank sustains or incurs any such loss or expense, it shall from time to time notify the Borrower of the amount determined in good faith by such Bank (which determination may include such assumptions, allocations of costs and expenses and averaging or attribution methods as such Bank shall deem reasonable and shall be binding on the parties absent manifest error) to be necessary to indemnify such Bank for such loss or expense. Such notice shall set forth in reasonable detail the basis for such determination. Such amount shall be due and payable by the Borrower to such Bank ten (10) Business Days after such notice is given.

# 5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

### 5.1 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.

The Borrower represents and warrants to the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Syndication Agents, the Managing Agents, the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks and each of the Banks as follows:

#### 5.1.1 ORGANIZATION AND QUALIFICATION.

Each Loan Party and each Subsidiary of any Loan Party is a corporation or partnership, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization. Each Loan Party and each Subsidiary of any Loan Party has the lawful power to own or lease its properties and to engage in the business it presently conducts or proposes to conduct. Each Loan Party and each Subsidiary of any Loan Party is listed on SCHEDULE 5.1.1 and duly licensed or qualified and in good standing in each jurisdiction where the property owned or leased by it or the nature of the business transacted by it or both makes such licensing or qualification necessary (except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified would not constitute a Material Adverse Change), and upon request of the Administrative Agent, the Borrower will promptly furnish a written list of every jurisdiction where each Subsidiary and Loan Party is so qualified.

#### CAPITALIZATION AND OWNERSHIP.

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 290 million authorized shares of voting common stock, 107,378,774 of which were outstanding as of March 27, 1998 (referred to herein as the "Shares"); 8 million authorized shares of non-voting common stock, none of which are outstanding; and 2 million authorized shares of preferred stock, none of which are outstanding. All of the Shares have been validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable.

### 5.1.3 SUBSIDIARY MATTERS.

Other than as set forth on SCHEDULE 5.1.3, each of the Company's Subsidiaries is directly or indirectly wholly owned by the Company and all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each such Subsidiary (referred to herein as the "Subsidiary Shares") are owned free and clear in each case of any Lien. All Subsidiary Shares have been validly issued, and all Subsidiary Shares are fully paid and nonassessable. There are no options, warrants or other rights outstanding to purchase any Subsidiary Shares except as indicated on SCHEDULE 5.1.3.

### 5.1.4 POWER AND AUTHORITY.

Each Loan Party has full power to enter into, execute, deliver and carry out this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which it is a party, to incur the Indebtedness contemplated by the Loan Documents and to perform its Obligations under the Loan Documents to which it is a party, and all such actions have been duly authorized by all necessary proceedings on its part.

# 5.1.5 VALIDITY AND BINDING EFFECT.

This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by each Loan Party, and each other Loan Document which any Loan Party is required to execute and deliver on or after the date hereof will have been duly executed and delivered by such Loan Party on the required date of delivery of such Loan Document. This Agreement and each other Loan Document constitutes, or will constitute, legal, valid and binding obligations of each Loan Party which is or will be a party thereto on and after its date of delivery thereof, enforceable against such Loan Party in accordance with its terms, except to the extent that enforceability of any such Loan Document may be limited by bankruptcy, insol-

vency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the enforceability of creditors' rights generally or limiting the right of specific performance.

#### 5.1.6 NO CONFLICT.

Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents by any Loan Party nor the consummation of the transactions herein or therein contemplated or compliance with the terms and provisions hereof or thereof by any of them will conflict with, constitute a default under or result in any breach of (i) the terms and conditions of the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents of any Loan Party or (ii) any Law or any material agreement or instrument or order, writ, judgment, injunction or decree to which any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which it or any of its Subsidiaries is bound or to which it or any of its Subsidiaries is subject, or result in the creation or enforcement of any Lien whatsoever upon any property (now or hereafter acquired) of any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries (other than Liens granted under the Loan Documents).

#### 5.1.7 LITIGATION.

There are no actions, suits, proceedings or investigations pending or, to the knowledge of any Loan Party, threatened against such Loan Party or any Subsidiary of any Loan Party at law or equity before any Official Body which individually or in the aggregate may result in any Material Adverse Change. None of the Loan Parties or any Subsidiaries of any Loan Party is in violation of any order, writ, injunction or any decree of any Official Body which may result in any Material Adverse Change.

#### 5.1.8 TITLE TO PROPERTIES.

Each Loan Party and each Subsidiary of any Loan Party has good and marketable title to or a valid leasehold interest in all material properties, assets and other rights which it purports to own or lease or which are reflected as owned or leased on its books and records, free and clear of all Liens except Permitted Liens, and subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable leases. All material leases of property are in full force and effect without the necessity for any consent which has not previously been obtained upon consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

### 5.1.9 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

- (i) HISTORICAL STATEMENTS. The Company has delivered to the Administrative Agent copies of its audited consolidated year-end financial statements for and as of the end of the three fiscal years ended January 31, 1998 (the "Annual Statements" and the Annual Statements are sometimes collectively referred to as the "Historical Statements"). The Historical Statements were compiled from the books and records maintained by the Company's management, are correct and complete and fairly represent the consolidated financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of their dates and the results of operations for the fiscal periods then ended and have been prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied;
- (ii) FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS. The Company has delivered to the Administrative Agent financial projections of the Company and its Subsidiaries for fiscal years 1998 through 2003 and derived from various assumptions of the Company's management (the "Financial Projections"). The Financial Projections reflect the reasonable expectations of the Company's management as of the Closing

Date in light of the history of the business, present and foreseeable conditions and intentions of the Company's management, all based on the assumptions thereto. The Financial Projections accurately reflect the liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries incurred pursuant to the Loan Documents upon consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby as of the Closing Date; and

(iii) ACCURACY OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has as of the date of the Historical Statements any material liabilities, contingent or otherwise, or forward or long-term commitments that are not disclosed in the Historical Statements or in the notes thereto, and except as disclosed therein there are no unrealized or anticipated losses from any commitments of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company which may cause a Material Adverse Change. Since January 31, 1998, no Material Adverse Change has occurred.

### 5.1.10 MARGIN STOCK.

None of the Loan Parties or any Subsidiaries of any Loan Party engages or intends to engage principally, or as one of its important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose, immediately, incidentally or ultimately, of purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U). No part of the proceeds of any Loan or issued Letter of Credit has been or will be used, immediately, incidentally or ultimately, to purchase or carry any margin stock or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any margin stock or to refund Indebtedness originally incurred for such purpose, or for any purpose which entails a violation of or which is inconsistent with the provisions of the regulations of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. None of the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary of any Loan Party holds or intends to hold margin stock in such amounts that more than 25% of the reasonable value of the assets of any Loan Party or Subsidiary of any Loan Party are or will be represented by margin stock.

### 5.1.11 FULL DISCLOSURE.

Neither this Agreement nor any other Loan Document, nor any certificate, statement, agreement or other documents furnished to the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Syndication Agent, the Managing Agents, the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks or any Bank in connection herewith or therewith, contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained herein and therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. There is no fact known to any Loan Party which materially adversely affects the business, property, assets, financial condition, results of operations or prospects of any Loan Party or Subsidiary of any Loan Party which has not been set forth in this Agreement or in the certificates, statements, agreements or other documents furnished in writing to the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Syndication Agent, the Managing Agents, the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks and the Banks prior to or at the date hereof in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.

### 5.1.12 TAXES.

All federal, state, local and other tax returns required to have been filed with respect to each Loan Party and each Subsidiary of any Loan Party have been filed, and payment or adequate provision has been made for the payment of all taxes, fees, assessments and other governmental charges shown to be owing pursuant to said returns or to assessments received, except to the extent that such taxes, fees, assessments and other charges are being con-

tested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted and for which such reserves or other appropriate provisions, if any, as shall be required by GAAP shall have been made. There are no agreements or waivers extending the statutory period of limitations applicable to any federal income tax return of any Loan Party or Subsidiary of any Loan Party for any period.

#### 5.1.13 CONSENTS AND APPROVALS.

No consent, approval, exemption, order or authorization of, or a registration or filing with, any Official Body or any other Person is required by any Law or any agreement in connection with the execution, delivery and carrying out of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents by any Loan Party, except as listed on SCHEDULE 5.1.13, all of which shall have been obtained or made on or prior to the Closing Date except as otherwise indicated on SCHEDULE 5.1.13.

### 5.1.14 NO EVENT OF DEFAULT; COMPLIANCE WITH INSTRUMENTS.

No event has occurred and is continuing and no condition exists now or will exist after giving effect to and as a result of the extensions of credit to be made on the Closing Date under the Loan Documents which constitutes an Event of Default or Potential Default. None of the Loan Parties or any Subsidiaries of any Loan Party is in violation of (i) any term of its certificate of incorporation, bylaws, or other organizational documents or (ii) any material agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it or any of its properties may be subject or bound where such violation would constitute a Material Adverse Change.

### 5.1.15 PATENTS, TRADEMARKS, COPYRIGHTS, LICENSES, ETC.

A Loan Party or a Subsidiary of a Loan Party owns or possesses all the material patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, licenses, registrations, franchises, permits and rights necessary to own and operate its properties and to carry on its business as presently conducted and planned to be conducted by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, without known conflict by, or with the rights of, others.

#### 5.1.16 INSURANCE.

The Borrower has delivered to the Administrative Agent a true and correct listing of the property and general liability insurance of the Borrower. No notice has been given or claim made and no grounds exist to cancel or avoid any of such policies or bonds or to reduce the coverage provided thereby. Such policies and bonds provide adequate coverage from reputable and financially sound insurers in amounts sufficient to insure the assets and risks of each Loan Party and each Subsidiary of any Loan Party in accordance with prudent business practice in the industry of the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries.

### 5.1.17 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.

The Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws (other than Environmental Laws which are specifically addressed in Section 5.1.22) in all jurisdictions in which any Loan Party or Subsidiary of any Loan Party is presently or currently anticipates it will be doing business except where the failure to do so would not constitute a Material Adverse Change.

#### 5.1.18 MATERIAL CONTRACTS.

SCHEDULE 5.1.18 lists all material contracts relating to the business operations of each Loan Party and each Subsidiary of any Loan Party, including all employee benefit plans and Labor Contracts. All such material contracts are valid, binding and enforceable upon such Loan Party or Subsidiary and each of the other parties thereto in accordance with their respective terms, and there is no default thereunder, to the Loan Parties' knowledge, with respect to parties other than such Loan Party or Subsidiary. For purposes of this Section 5.1.18 the term "material contracts" shall mean those contracts or other agreements which the Company would be required to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to item 601(a)(10) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

#### 5.1.19 INVESTMENT COMPANIES.

None of the Loan Parties or any Subsidiaries of any Loan Party is an "investment company" registered or required to be registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 or under the "control" of an "investment company" as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940 and shall not become such an "investment company" or under such "control".

#### 5.1.20 PLANS AND BENEFIT ARRANGEMENTS.

Except as set forth on SCHEDULE 5.1.20:

- The Company and each other member of the ERISA Group are in compliance in all material respects with any applicable provisions of ERISA with respect to all Benefit Arrangements, Plans and Multiemployer Plans. There has been no Prohibited Transaction with respect to any Benefit Arrangement or any Plan or, to the best knowledge of the Company, with respect to any Multiemployer Plan or Multiple Employer Plan, which could result in any material liability of the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group. The Company and all other members of the ERISA Group have made when due any and all payments required to be made under any agreement relating to a Multiemployer Plan or a Multiple Employer Plan or any Law pertaining thereto. With respect to each Plan and Multiemployer Plan, the Company and each other member of the ERISA Group (i) have fulfilled in all material respects their obligations under the minimum funding standards of ERISA, (ii) have not incurred any liability to the PBGC, and (iii) have not had asserted against them any penalty for failure to fulfill the minimum funding requirements of ERISA;
- (ii) To the best of each Loan Parties' knowledge, each Multiemployer Plan and Multiple Employer Plan is able to pay benefits thereunder when due;
- (iii) Neither the Company nor any other member of the ERISA Group has instituted or intends to institute proceedings to terminate any Plan;
- (iv) No event requiring notice to the PBGC under Section 302(f)(4)(A) of ERISA has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur with respect to any Plan, and no amendment with respect to which

- security is required under Section 307 of ERISA has been made or is reasonably expected to be made to any Plan;
- (v) The aggregate accumulated benefit obligations determined in accordance with GAAP as of the end of the most recent calendar year for all Plans does not exceed by more than \$8 million the fair market value of all assets of the Plans:
- (vi) Neither the Company nor any other member of the ERISA Group has incurred or reasonably expects to incur any material withdrawal liability under ERISA to any Multiemployer Plan or Multiple Employer Plan. Neither the Company nor any other member of the ERISA Group has been notified by any Multiemployer Plan or Multiple Employer Plan that such Multiemployer Plan or Multiple Employer Plan has been terminated within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA and, to the best knowledge of the Company, no Multiemployer Plan or Multiple Employer Plan is reasonably expected to be reorganized or terminated, within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA;
- (vii) To the extent that any Benefit Arrangement is insured, the Company and all other members of the ERISA Group have paid when due all premiums required to be paid for all periods through the Closing Date. To the extent that any Benefit Arrangement is funded other than with insurance, the Company and all other members of the ERISA Group have made when due all contributions required to be paid for all periods through the Closing Date; and
- (viii) All Plans, Benefit Arrangements and Multiemployer Plans have been administered in accordance with their terms and applicable Law.

## 5.1.21 EMPLOYMENT MATTERS.

Each of the Loan Parties and each of their Subsidiaries is in compliance with the Labor Contracts and all applicable federal, state and local labor and employment Laws including those related to equal employment opportunity and affirmative action, labor relations, minimum wage, overtime, child labor, medical insurance continuation, worker adjustment and relocation notices, immigration controls and worker and unemployment compensation, where the failure to comply would constitute a Material Adverse Change. There are no outstanding grievances, arbitration awards or appeals therefrom arising out of the Labor Contracts or current or threatened strikes, picketing, handbilling or other work stoppages or slowdowns at facilities of any of the Loan Parties or any of their Subsidiaries which in any case would constitute a Material Adverse Change.

### 5.1.22 ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS.

Except as disclosed on SCHEDULE 5.1.22:

(i) Except for notices which could reasonably relate to a Material Adverse Change, none of the Loan Parties or any Subsidiaries of any Loan Party has received any Environmental Complaint from any Official Body or private Person alleging that such Loan Party or Subsidiary or any prior or subsequent owner of any Property is a potentially responsible party under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C.sec. 9601, ET SEQ., and none of the Loan Parties has any reason to believe that such an Environmental Complaint might be received. There are no pending or, to any Loan Party's knowledge, threatened Environmental Complaints relating to any Loan Party or any Subsidiary of any Loan Party or, to any Loan Party's knowledge, any prior or subsequent owner of any Property pertaining to, or arising out of, any Environmental Conditions which could reasonably result in a Material Adverse Change,

- (ii) Except for Environmental Conditions, violations or failures which individually and in the aggregate are not reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Change, there are no circumstances at, on or under any Property that constitute a breach of or non-compliance with any of the Environmental Laws, and there are no past or present Environmental Conditions at, on or under any Property or, to any Loan Party's knowledge, at, on or under adjacent property, that prevent compliance with the Environmental Laws at any Property,
- (iii) Neither any Property nor any structures, improvements, equipment, fixtures, activities or facilities thereon or thereunder contain or use Regulated Substances, except in compliance with Environmental Laws, which could reasonably result in a Material Adverse Change. There are no processes, facilities, operations, equipment or other activities at, on or under any Property, or, to any Loan Party's knowledge, at, on or under adjacent property, that currently result in the release or threatened release of Regulated Substances onto any Property, except to the extent that such releases or threatened releases are not a breach of or otherwise not a violation of the Environmental Laws or are not likely to result in a Material Adverse Change,
- There are no aboveground storage tanks, underground (iv) storage tanks or underground piping associated with such tanks, used for the management of Regulated Substances at, on or under any Property that (a) do not have, to the extent required by Environmental Laws, a full operational secondary containment system in place, and (b) are not otherwise in compliance with all Environmental Laws, except in any case where such would not result in a Material Adverse Change. There are no abandoned underground storage tanks or underground piping associated with such tanks, previously used for the management of Regulated Substances at, on or under any Property that have not either been closed in place in accordance with Environmental Laws or removed in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and no contamination associated with the use of such tanks exists on any Property that is not in compliance with Environmental Laws, except in any case where such would not result in a Material Adverse Change,
- (v) The applicable Loan Party or a Subsidiary of a Loan Party has all permits, licenses, authorizations, plans and approvals necessary under the Environmental Laws for the conduct of the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, except in any case where the failure to so have would not result in a Material Adverse Change. Each Loan Party and each Subsidiary of a Loan Party has submitted all notices, reports and other filings required by the Environmental Laws to be submitted to an Official Body which pertain to past and current operations on any Property, except in any case where the failure to so submit would not result in a Material Adverse Change, and
- (vi) Except for violations which individually and in the aggregate are not likely to result in a Material Adverse Change, all past and present on-site generation, storage, processing, treatment, recycling, reclamation, disposal or other use or management of Regulated Substances at, on, or under

any Property and all off-site transportation, storage, processing, treatment, recycling, reclamation, disposal or other use or management of Regulated Substances have been done in accordance with the Environmental Laws.

#### 5.1.23 SENIOR DEBT STATUS.

The Obligations of each Loan Party under this Agreement, the Notes, the Master Guaranty Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents to which it is a party do rank and will rank at least PARI PASSU in priority of payment with all other Indebtedness of such Loan Party except Indebtedness of such Loan Party to the extent secured by Permitted Liens and will rank senior in priority of payment to the Subordinated Notes. There is no Lien upon or with respect to any of the properties or income of any Loan Party or Subsidiary of any Loan Party which secures indebtedness or other obligations of any Person except for Permitted Liens.

### 5.1.24 YEAR 2000.

The Borrower and its Subsidiaries have reviewed the areas within their business and operations which could be adversely affected by, and have developed or are developing a program to address on a timely basis, the risk that certain computer applications used by the Borrower or its Subsidiaries (or any of their respective material suppliers, customers or vendors but excluding the U.S. Customs Service and related agencies provided any such failure to comply shall not result as a Material Adverse Change) may be unable to recognize and perform properly date-sensitive functions involving dates prior to and after December 31, 1999 (the "Year 2000 Problem"). The Year 2000 Problem will not result in any Material Adverse Change.

### 5.2 SUBSIDIARIES OTHER THAN MATERIAL SUBSIDIARIES.

The breach of any of the representations and warranties contained in Section 5.1 with respect to a Subsidiary of the Borrower other than a Material Subsidiary shall not be deemed to breach such representation or warranty unless such breach constitutes a Material Adverse Change.

#### 5.3 UPDATES TO SCHEDULES.

Should any of the information or disclosures provided on any of the Schedules attached hereto become outdated or incorrect in any material respect, the applicable Loan Parties shall promptly provide to the Managing Agents in writing with such revisions or updates to such Schedule as may be necessary or appropriate to update or correct same; PROVIDED, however, that no Schedule shall be deemed to have been amended, modified or superseded by any such correction or update (other than the amendments and updates contained in the Schedules delivered on the Closing Date), nor shall any breach of warranty or representation resulting from the inaccuracy or incompleteness of any such Schedule be deemed to have been cured thereby, unless and until the Required Banks, in their sole and absolute discretion, shall have accepted in writing such revisions or updates to such Schedule, which decision to accept or not must be communicated to the Borrower promptly.

### 6. CONDITIONS OF LENDING

The obligation of each Bank to make Revolving Credit Loans and of the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks to issue Letters of Credit hereunder is subject to the performance by each of the Loan Parties of its Obligations to be per-

formed hereunder at or prior to the making of any such Revolving Credit Loans or issuance of such Letters of Credit and to the satisfaction of the following further conditions:

### 6.1 FIRST REVOLVING CREDIT LOANS.

On the Closing Date:

#### 6.1.1 OFFICER'S CERTIFICATE.

The representations and warranties of each of the Loan Parties contained in Article and in each of the other Loan Documents shall be true and accurate on and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though such representations and warranties had been made on and as of such date (except representations and warranties which relate solely to an earlier date or time, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct on and as of the specific dates or times referred to therein), and each of the Loan Parties shall have performed and complied with all covenants and conditions hereof and thereof, no Event of Default or Potential Default shall have occurred and be continuing or shall exist; and there shall be delivered to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of each Bank a certificate of the Borrower, the Company and each of the Material Subsidiaries, dated the Closing Date and signed by the Chief Executive Officer, President or Chief Financial Officer of such Person, to each such effect.

### 6.1.2 SECRETARY'S CERTIFICATE.

There shall be delivered to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of each Bank a certificate dated the Closing Date and signed by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of each of the Company, the Borrower and each Material Subsidiary, certifying as appropriate as to:

- (i) all action taken by such Loan Party in connection with this Agreement and the other Loan Documents which are effective as of the Closing Date hereof;
- (ii) the names of the officer or officers authorized to sign this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and the true signatures of such officer or officers and specifying the Authorized Officers permitted to act on behalf of such Loan Party for purposes of this Agreement and the true signatures of such officers, on which the Administrative Agent and each Bank may conclusively rely; and
- (iii) copies of its organizational documents, including its certificate of incorporation and bylaws as in effect on the Closing Date (except if there have been no changes to such organizational documents with respect to any such Loan Party since the date on which such documents were delivered in connection with the Prior Credit Agreement, the secretary of such Loan Party may certify to such effect in lieu of delivering copies of such organizational documents) certified by the appropriate state official where such documents are filed in a state office together with certificates from the appropriate state officials as to the continued existence and good standing of the Borrower in the state where organized.

#### 6.1.3 DELIVERY OF LOAN DOCUMENTS.

#### 6.1.3.1 THIS AGREEMENT.

This Agreement shall have been executed by all of the parties hereto and delivered to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Banks.

### 6.1.3.2 REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES AND BID NOTES.

The Borrower shall have executed and delivered to each Revolving Credit Bank a Revolving Credit Note in the form of Exhibit 1.1(R) of the Credit Agreement and a Bid Note in the form of EXHIBIT 1.1(B) of this Agreement.

6.1.3.3 ACKNOWLEDGMENT REGARDING MASTER GUARANTY AGREEMENT AND MASTER INTERCOMPANY SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT AND JOINDER THERETO.

Each of the parties to the Master Guaranty Agreement and Master Intercompany Subordination Agreement shall sign an acknowledgment (the "Acknowledgment") in the form of EXHIBIT 6.1.3.3(A) hereto, provided however, that the Company must sign and deliver its signature page to such Acknowledgment on or before May 21, 1998 in accordance with Section 7.2.22 hereof, (1) acknowledging that the Master Guaranty Agreement and Master Intercompany Subordination Agreement remain in full force and effect after giving effect to this Amendment and the transactions contemplated hereby, and (2) including a new schedule of Guarantors to be attached to such Master Guaranty Agreement and Master Intercompany Subordination Agreement and an acknowledgment that all such Guarantors are obligated thereunder. Each Subsidiary of the Company which has not executed the Master Guaranty Agreement or Master Intercompany Subordination Agreement shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Banks the joinder (the "Joinder") in the form attached as EXHIBIT 6.1.3.3(B) hereto.

#### 6.1.3.4 SCHEDULES.

The Loan Parties shall have delivered the Schedules to this Agreement (which may be in substantially the same form as those delivered in connection with the Prior Agreement, but which shall be updated to reflect any changes thereto).

### 6.1.4 OPINION OF COUNSEL.

There shall be delivered to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of each Bank a written opinion of Benesch, Friedlander, Coplan & Aronoff L.L.P. and of Albert J. Bell, Esq., counsel for the Loan Parties (who may rely on the opinions of such other counsel as may be acceptable to the Administrative Agent), dated the Closing Date and in form and substance satisfactory to the Managing Agents and their counsel as to the matters set forth in EXHIBIT 6.1.4.

### 6.1.5 LEGAL DETAILS.

All legal details and proceedings in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, Documentation Agent, Syndication Agent and Co-Syndication Agent and their counsel, and the Administrative Agent and Documentation Agent shall have received all such other counterpart originals or certified or other copies of such documents and pro-

ceedings in connection with such transactions, in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and Documentation Agent and said counsel, as any of the Administrative Agent or Documentation Agent or said counsel may reasonably request.

#### 6.1.6 PAYMENT OF FEES.

The Borrower shall have paid or caused to be paid to the Administrative Agent for itself and for the account of the Banks to the extent not previously paid all Facility Fees, arrangement fees and other fees accrued through the Closing Date and the costs and expenses for which the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent and the Banks are entitled to be reimbursed.

#### 6.1.7 CONSENTS.

All material consents required to effectuate the transactions contemplated hereby as set forth on SCHEDULE 5.1.13 shall have been obtained.

#### 6.1.8 OFFICER'S CERTIFICATE REGARDING MACS.

Since January 31, 1998 (i) no Material Adverse Change shall have occurred and (ii) there shall have been no material change in the management of the Company or the Borrower (except as disclosed to the Banks in a writing referencing this provision); and there shall have been delivered to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of each Bank a certificate dated the Closing Date and signed by the Chief Executive Officer, President or Chief Financial Officer of the Borrower and the Company to each such effect.

#### 6.1.9 NO VIOLATION OF LAWS.

The making of the Revolving Credit Loans and issuance of the Letters of Credit shall not contravene any Law applicable to any Loan Party or any of the

#### 6.1.10 NO ACTIONS OR PROCEEDINGS.

No action, proceeding, investigation, regulation or legislation shall have been instituted, threatened or proposed before any court, governmental agency or legislative body to enjoin, restrain or prohibit, or to obtain damages in respect of, this Agreement, the other Loan Documents or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or which, in the Administrative Agent's, the Documentation Agent's, the Syndication Agent's and the Co-Syndication Agent's sole discretion, would make it inadvisable to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents.

### 6.1.11 [INTENTIONALLY OMITTED].

## 6.1.12 TERMINATION OF PRIOR CREDIT AGREEMENT.

The Borrower shall have terminated the Prior Credit Agreement and paid all amounts owed thereunder and the parties thereto shall have executed and delivered a payoff letter in connection with such termination and repayment. It is acknowledged that the Facility Fee thereunder shall accrue through (and not beyond) the Closing Date and

appropriate credits shall be made to the payoff amount under the Prior Credit Agreement to provide for any prepayment of such Facility Fee relating to periods after the Closing Date.

### 6.2 EACH ADDITIONAL LOAN.

At the time of making any Revolving Credit Loans, Bid Loan or Swing Loans or issuance of any Letters of Credit other than Revolving Credit Loans or Bid Loans made or Letters of Credit deemed issued on the Closing Date and after giving effect to the proposed extensions of credit: the representations and warranties of the Loan Parties contained in Article and in the other Loan Documents shall be true on and as of the date of such additional Revolving Credit Loan, Bid Loan or Swing Loan or Letter of Credit with the same effect as though such representations and warranties had been made on and as of such date (except representations and warranties which expressly relate solely to an earlier date or time, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct on and as of the specific dates or times referred to therein) and the Loan Parties shall have performed and complied with all covenants and conditions hereof; no Event of Default or Potential Default shall have occurred and be continuing or shall exist; the making of the Revolving Credit Loans, Bid Loans or Swing Loans or issuance of such Letter of Credit shall not contravene any Law applicable to any Loan Party or Subsidiary of any Loan Party or any of the Banks; and the Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent or the Issuing Letter of Credit Bank, a duly executed and completed Loan Request or application for a Letter of Credit as the case may be.

# 7. COVENANTS

#### 7.1 AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS.

The Borrower covenants and agrees that until payment in full of the Revolving Credit Loans and Reimbursement Obligations and interest thereon, expiration or termination of all Letters of Credit, satisfaction of all of the Loan Parties' other Obligations under the Loan Documents and termination of the Revolving Credit Commitments, the Loan Parties shall comply at all times with the following affirmative covenants:

### 7.1.1 PRESERVATION OF EXISTENCE, ETC.

The Company, the Borrower and, except as permitted by Section 7.2.6, each Material Subsidiary shall maintain its corporate existence and its license or qualification and good standing in each jurisdiction in which its ownership or lease of property or the nature of its business makes such license or qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified would not result in a Material Adverse Change.

# 7.1.2 PAYMENT OF LIABILITIES, INCLUDING TAXES, ETC.

Each Loan Party shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, duly pay and discharge all liabilities to which it is subject or which are asserted against it, promptly as and when the same shall become due and payable, including all taxes, assessments and governmental charges upon it or any of its properties, assets, income or profits, prior to the date on which penalties attach thereto, except to the extent that such liabilities, including taxes, assessments or charges, are being contested in good faith and by appropriate and lawful proceedings diligently conducted and for which such reserve or other appropriate provisions, if any, as shall be required by GAAP shall have been made, but only to the extent that failure to discharge any such liabilities would not result in any additional liability which would adversely affect to a material extent the financial condition of the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries taken as a

whole, PROVIDED that the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries will pay all such liabilities forthwith upon the commencement of proceedings to foreclose any Lien which may have attached as security therefor unless and as long as such proceedings are stayed.

#### 7.1.3 MAINTENANCE OF INSURANCE.

Each Loan Party shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, insure its properties and assets against loss or damage by fire and such other insurable hazards as such assets are commonly insured (including fire, extended coverage, property damage, workers' compensation, public liability and business interruption insurance) and against other risks (including errors and omissions) in such amounts as similar properties and assets are insured by prudent companies in similar circumstances carrying on similar businesses, and with reputable and financially sound insurers, including self-insurance to the extent customary, all as reasonably determined by the Documentation Agent. At the request of the Administrative Agent, the Loan Parties shall deliver to the Administrative Agent (x) on the Closing Date and annually thereafter an original certificate of insurance signed by the Loan Parties' independent insurance broker describing and certifying as to the existence of the insurance required to be maintained by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and (y) from time to time a summary schedule indicating all insurance then in force with respect to each of the Loan Parties.

#### 7.1.4 MAINTENANCE OF PROPERTIES AND LEASES.

Each Loan Party shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, maintain in good repair, working order and condition (ordinary wear and tear excepted) in accordance with the general practice of other businesses of similar character and size, all of those material properties necessary to its business, and from time to time, such Loan Party or such Subsidiary will make or cause to be made all appropriate repairs, renewals or replacements thereof.

### 7.1.5 MAINTENANCE OF PATENTS, TRADEMARKS, ETC.

Each Loan Party shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, maintain in full force and effect all patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, licenses, franchises, permits and other authorizations necessary for the ownership and operation of its properties and business if the failure so to maintain the same would constitute a Material Adverse Change.

### 7.1.6 VISITATION RIGHTS.

Each Loan Party shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, permit any of the officers or authorized employees or representatives of the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent or any of the Revolving Credit Banks to visit and inspect any of its properties and to examine and make excerpts from its books and records and discuss its business affairs, finances and accounts with its officers, all in such detail and at such times and as often as any of the Revolving Credit Banks may reasonably request, PROVIDED that each Revolving Credit Bank shall provide the Borrower and the Administrative Agent with reasonable notice prior to any visit or inspection.

### 7.1.7 KEEPING OF RECORDS AND BOOKS OF ACCOUNT.

The Company shall, and shall cause each Subsidiary of the Company including the Borrower to, maintain and keep proper books and records which enable the Company and its Subsidiaries to issue financial statements in accordance with GAAP and as otherwise required by applicable Laws of any Official Body having jurisdiction over the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, and in which full, true and correct entries shall be made in all material respects of all its dealings and business and financial affairs.

### 7.1.8 PLANS AND BENEFIT ARRANGEMENTS.

The Company shall, and shall cause each other member of the ERISA Group to, comply with ERISA, the Internal Revenue Code and other applicable Laws applicable to Plans and Benefit Arrangements except where such failure, alone or in conjunction with any other failure, would not result in a Material Adverse Change. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company shall cause all of its Plans and all Plans maintained by any other member of the ERISA Group to be funded in accordance with the minimum funding requirements of ERISA and shall make, and cause each other member of the ERISA Group to make, in a timely manner, all contributions due to Plans, Benefit Arrangements and Multiemployer Plans.

#### 7.1.9 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.

Each Loan Party shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, comply with all applicable Laws, including all Environmental Laws, in all respects, PROVIDED that it shall not be deemed to be a violation of this Section 7.1.9 if any failure to comply with any Law would not result in fines, penalties, remediation costs, other similar liabilities or injunctive relief which in the aggregate would constitute a Material Adverse Change.

### 7.1.10 USE OF PROCEEDS.

The Borrower will use the Letters of Credit and the proceeds of the Loans only for lawful purposes in accordance with Section 2.8 and such uses shall not contravene any applicable Law or any other provision hereof.

### 7.1.11 SUBORDINATION OF INTERCOMPANY LOANS.

Each Loan Party shall cause any Intercompany Loans owed by any Loan Party to any other Loan Party or Subsidiary of a Loan Party to be subordinated pursuant to the terms of the Master Intercompany Subordination Agreement.

### 7.2 NEGATIVE COVENANTS.

The Borrower covenants and agrees that until payment in full of the Revolving Credit Loans and Reimbursement Obligations and interest thereon, expiration or termination of all Letters of Credit, satisfaction of all of the Loan Parties' other Obligations hereunder and termination of the Revolving Credit Commitments, the Loan Parties shall comply with the following negative covenants:

# 7.2.1 INDEBTEDNESS.

Each of the Loan Parties shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, at any time create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Indebtedness, except:

- (i) Indebtedness under the Loan Documents;
- (ii) existing Indebtedness as set forth on SCHEDULE 7.2.1, including any extensions or renewals thereof, PROVIDED there is no increase in the amount thereof or imposition of additional material obligations therein unless otherwise specified on SCHEDULE 7.2.1;
- (iii) capitalized and operating leases;
- (iv) Intercompany Loans which is subordinated in accordance with the provisions of Section 7.1.11;
- (v) Indebtedness secured by Purchase Money Security Interests not exceeding \$10,000,000;
- (vi) Indebtedness of a Loan Party to another Loan Party;
- (vii) the Subordinated Notes;
- (viii) Indebtedness permitted under Section 7.2.3;
- (ix) commercial paper maturing in not more than 180 days; and
- (x) any other Indebtedness not referenced above which does not exceed in the aggregate at any one time outstanding \$200,000,000.

### 7.2.2 LIENS.

Each of the Loan Parties shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (i) at any time create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien on any of its property or assets, tangible or intangible, now owned or hereafter acquired, or agree or become liable to do so, except Permitted Liens or (ii) at any time agree, directly or indirectly, with respect to any asset material to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole to any restriction (including without limitation on the foregoing any requirement to grant a third Person a Lien in the event that the Banks are granted a Lien) on the granting or conveying of Liens to the Banks.

# 7.2.3 GUARANTIES.

Each of the Loan Parties shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, at any time, directly or indirectly, become or be liable in respect of any Guaranty, or assume, guarantee, become surety for, endorse or otherwise agree, become or remain directly or contingently liable upon or with respect to any obligation or liability of any other Person, except for Guaranties of Indebtedness of the Loan Parties permitted hereunder; provided, however, that no Subsidiary of the Borrower shall guaranty the Subordinated Notes.

### 7.2.4 LOANS AND INVESTMENTS.

Each of the Loan Parties shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, at any time make or suffer to remain outstanding any loan or advance to, or purchase, acquire or own any stock, bonds, notes or securities of, or any partnership interest (whether general or limited) in, or any other investment or interest in, or make any capital contribution to, any other Person, or agree, become or remain liable to do any of the foregoing, except as set forth on SCHEDULE 7.2.4 and:

- (i) trade credit extended on usual and customary terms in the ordinary course of business;
- (ii) advances to employees to meet expenses incurred by such employees in the ordinary course of business;
- (iii) Permitted Investments;
- (iv) loans, advances and investments in other Loan Parties and Subsidiaries of Loan Parties;
- (v) Indebtedness permitted by Section 7.2.1, liquidations, mergers, consolidations and acquisitions permitted by Section 7.2.6, and capital expenditures; and
- (vi) Investments other than those set forth herein above not to exceed \$35,000,000 at any time outstanding.

### 7.2.5 DIVIDENDS AND RELATED DISTRIBUTIONS.

Except as provided herein, each of the Loan Parties shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, make or pay, or agree to become or remain liable to make or pay, any dividend or other distribution of any nature (whether in cash, property, securities or otherwise) on account of or in respect of its shares of capital stock or partnership interests on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement or acquisition of its shares of capital stock (or warrants, options or rights therefor) or partnership interests, except dividends or other distributions payable to another Loan Party. The Company may declare and pay dividends on its capital stock which are payable solely in shares of its capital stock or other equity interests of the Company. Except during the existence of an Event of Default, the Company may (i) pay cash dividends on its capital stock, or (ii) make purchases and redemptions of its capital stock pursuant to existing plans, PROVIDED that the aggregate of all such cash dividends, purchases and redemptions referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) does not exceed \$50,000,000 between the Closing Date and the payment in full of all Obligations hereunder and the termination of the Revolving Credit Commitments.

### 7.2.6 LIQUIDATIONS, MERGERS, CONSOLIDATIONS, ACQUISITIONS.

Except as permitted by Section 7.2.7, each of the Loan Parties shall not, and shall not permit any of the Company, the Borrower and the Material Subsidiaries to, dissolve, liquidate or windup its affairs, or become a party to any merger or consolidation, or acquire by purchase, lease or otherwise all or substantially all of the assets or capital stock of any other Person; PROVIDED that any Loan Party other than the Borrower and the Company may consolidate, liquidate, dissolve or merge into, or acquire, another Loan Party which is wholly-owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company; and PROVIDED further that any Loan Party may acquire by merger, purchase or otherwise all or substantially all of the assets of any other Person or any division or subsidiary of such other Person if (a) the Borrower is in compliance with all of the provisions of this Agreement immediately prior to such acquisition and after giving effect to such acquisi-

tion the Borrower will be in compliance with all of the provisions of this Agreement and (b) with respect to any acquisition of capital stock of another Person, Borrower shall acquire at least fifty percent (50%) of such capital stock so that such other Person shall become a Subsidiary of the Borrower, and such Person shall join in the Master Guaranty Agreement in accordance with Section 10.18, provided that any Subsidiary which is organized, owns assets and conducts its business in a jurisdiction other than the United States (each a "Foreign Subsidiary") shall not be required to join the Master Guaranty Agreement if both of the following are true: (i) the total assets of all of the Foreign Subsidiaries which are not Guarantors is less than 10% of the total consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries which are not Guarantors for the immediately preceding fiscal year is less than 10% of the total consolidated revenues of the Company and its Subsidiaries for such year.

### 7.2.7 DISPOSITIONS OF ASSETS OR SUBSIDIARIES.

Each of the Loan Parties shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, sell, convey, assign, lease, abandon or otherwise transfer or dispose of, voluntarily or involuntarily, any of its properties or assets, tangible or intangible (including sale, assignment, discount or other disposition of accounts, contract rights, chattel paper, equipment or general intangibles with or without recourse or of capital stock, shares of beneficial interest or partnership interests of a Subsidiary of such Loan Party), except:

- (i) transactions involving the sale of inventory in the ordinary course of business;
- (ii) any sale, transfer or lease of assets in the ordinary course of business which are no longer necessary or required in the conduct of such Loan Party's or such Subsidiary's business;
- (iii) any sale, transfer or lease of assets by any wholly owned Subsidiary of such Loan Party to another Loan Party;
- (iv) any sale, transfer or lease of assets, other than those specifically excepted pursuant to clauses (i) through (iii) above or clauses (v) and (vi) below, provided that there shall not exist any Event of Default or Potential Default after such sale and the Loan Parties shall be in compliance with all of the covenants herein applicable to any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries including those in Section 7.2.10 (Continuation of or Change in Business), 7.2.16 (Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio), 7.2.17 (Total Indebtedness to Total Capitalization Ratio) and 7.2.18 (Minimum Tangible Net Worth) and the Borrower shall deliver a certificate to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Banks at least five (5) Business Days before such sale confirming the same:
- (v) any sale or transfer by the Company of the capital stock or other equity interests of the Company; and
- (vi) cash payments pursuant to transactions not prohibited hereunder.

### 7.2.8 AFFILIATE TRANSACTIONS.

Each of the Loan Parties shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into or carry out any transaction with any of its Affiliates (including purchasing property or services from or selling property or services to

any Affiliate of any Loan Party or other Person other than a Loan Party) unless such transaction is not otherwise prohibited by this Agreement, is entered into in the ordinary course of business upon fair and reasonable arm's-length terms and conditions (including without limitation employment arrangements with any Executive Officer of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) which are fully disclosed to the Administrative Agent and is in accordance with all applicable

### 7.2.9 SUBSIDIARIES, PARTNERSHIPS AND JOINT VENTURES.

Each of the Loan Parties shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, own or create directly or indirectly any Subsidiaries other than (i) any Subsidiary which has joined this Agreement as Guarantor on the Closing Date; (ii) any Subsidiary acquired or formed after the Closing Date which joins this Agreement as a Guarantor pursuant to Section 10.18; and (iii) any Foreign Subsidiary, provided that such Foreign Subsidiary shall join this Agreement as a Guarantor if the conditions described in both clauses (i) and (ii) of the last sentence of Section 7.2.6 are not met. Each of the Loan Parties shall not become or agree to become a general or limited partner in any general or limited partnership or a joint venturer in any joint venture other than (i) solely with other Loan Parties; (ii) as permitted by Section 7.2.4; (iii) for the acquisition of inventory; and (iv) for transactions which when aggregated do not exceed \$20,000,000, except that the Loan Parties may be general or limited partners in other Loan Parties.

### 7.2.10 CONTINUATION OF OR CHANGE IN BUSINESS.

Each of the Company and the Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, engage in any business other than the wholesale and retail sale of general merchandise, substantially as conducted and operated by the Company, the Borrower and their Subsidiaries and as conducted and operated by Kay-Bee Center, Inc. and its Subsidiaries, during the 1996 fiscal year. This Section 7.2.10 shall not prohibit the Company, the Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof from engaging in a business which provides services common to the retail or wholesale trade in general merchandise to the Company, the Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof or to any Person engaged in the sale of general retail merchandise.

#### 7.2.11 PLANS AND BENEFIT ARRANGEMENTS.

Each of the Loan Parties shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to:

- (i) fail to satisfy the minimum funding requirements of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code with respect to any Plan where such would result in a Material Adverse Change;
- (ii) request a minimum funding waiver from the Internal Revenue Service with respect to any Plan;
- (iii) engage in a Prohibited Transaction with any Plan, Benefit Arrangement or Multiemployer Plan which, alone or in conjunction with any other circumstances or set of circumstances resulting in liability under ERISA, would constitute a Material Adverse Change;
- (iv) permit, as of the end of any calendar year, the aggregate accumulated benefit obligations determined in accordance with GAAP for all Plans to exceed by more than \$8 million the fair market value of all assets of the Plans;

- (v) fail to make when due any contribution to any Multiemployer Plan that the Borrower or any member of the ERISA Group may be required to make under any agreement relating to such Multiemployer Plan, or any Law pertaining thereto where such would result in a Material Adverse Change;
- (vi) withdraw (completely or partially) from any Multiemployer Plan or withdraw (or be deemed under Section 4062(e) of ERISA to withdraw) from any Multiple Employer Plan, where any such withdrawal is likely to result in a material liability of the Borrower or any member of the ERISA Group;
- (vii) terminate, or institute proceedings to terminate, any Plan, where such termination is likely to result in a material liability to the Borrower or any member of the ERISA Group;
- (viii) make any amendment to any Plan with respect to which security is required under Section 307 of ERISA; or
- (ix) fail to give any and all notices and make all disclosures and governmental filings required under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code, where such failure is likely to result in a Material Adverse Change.

### 7.2.12 FISCAL YEAR.

The Company shall not, and shall not permit any Subsidiary of the Company to, change its fiscal year from the fifty-two/fifty-three week fiscal year beginning on the Sunday closest to February 1, and ending on the Saturday closest to February 1 of each year.

### 7.2.13 ISSUANCE OF STOCK.

Each of the Loan Parties shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, issue any additional shares of its capital stock or any options, warrants or other rights in respect thereof other than to another Loan Party or Subsidiary of a Loan Party; provided, however, that nothing contained herein shall prohibit the Company from issuing shares of its capital stock or other equity interests of the Company.

### 7.2.14 CHANGES IN ORGANIZATIONAL DOCUMENTS.

Except as permitted by Section 7.2.6, each of the Loan Parties shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, amend in any respect its certificate of incorporation (including any provisions or resolutions relating to capital stock), by-laws or other organizational documents without providing at least five (5) calendar days' prior written notice to the Administrative Agent and the Banks and, in the event such change would be adverse to the Banks as determined by the Required Banks in their sole discretion, obtaining the prior written consent of the Required Banks.

### 7.2.15 MINIMUM FIXED CHARGE COVERAGE RATIO.

The Loan Parties shall not permit at any time the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, calculated as of the end of each fiscal quarter to be less than 1.35 to 1.0 for fiscal quarters ending on or before January 31, 1999 and 1.5 to 1.0 thereafter.

### 7.2.16 TOTAL INDEBTEDNESS TO TOTAL CAPITALIZATION RATIO.

The Loan Parties shall not permit at any time the ratio of (i) the sum of (A) Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries determined and consolidated in accordance with GAAP plus (B) the product of four times the Consolidated Rentals, to (ii) the sum of (A) Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries determined and consolidated in accordance with GAAP plus (B) the product of four times the Consolidated Rentals plus (C) the stockholders equity of the Company and its Subsidiaries determined and consolidated in accordance with GAAP, to be greater than (1) .7 to 1.0 as of the end of each fiscal quarter other than fiscal quarters which end on the fiscal year end of the Company, and (2) .6 to 1.0 as of the end of each fiscal year of the Company.

### 7.2.17 MINIMUM TANGIBLE NET WORTH.

The Loan Parties shall not permit at any time Consolidated Tangible Net Worth to be less than the Base Tangible Net Worth.

#### 7.2.18 AMENDMENTS TO CERTAIN DOCUMENTS.

The Loan Parties shall not permit, without the prior written consent of the Required Banks, any amendment, waiver or modification to the Subordinated Note Agreement or the Subordinated Notes, or any other document or instrument delivered in connection with any of the foregoing except for amendments, waivers or modifications to provisions other than those which subordinate the obligations of the Borrower under the Subordinated Notes and the Subordinated Note Agreement to the Obligations and which amendments, waivers or modifications do not change or otherwise affect the terms of such agreements or instruments in a material manner.

### 7.2.19 NO PREPAYMENT OF SUBORDINATED DEBT.

The Loan Parties shall not permit the payment or prepayment, directly or indirectly (including without limitation of the foregoing any purchase of one or more of the notes issued thereunder or any interest or participation in any such notes or any redemption of any of the Subordinated Notes), of any principal of the Subordinated Notes (provided that this provision shall not prohibit transfers by any holder or holders of the Subordinated Notes to Persons other than the Company and direct or indirect Subsidiaries of the Company), except that the Borrower may prepay principal of such Subordinated Notes or pay the principal of such Subordinated Notes on the due date thereof provided that after giving effect to such payment (i) none of the circumstances described in Section 22.2 or 22.3 of the Subordinated Note Agreement shall exist, (ii) the Loan Parties shall be in compliance with the terms of this Agreement and no Potential Default or Event of Default shall then exist, (iii) the Loan Parties shall have adequate liquidity to meet their working capital needs, and (iv) the Borrower shall deliver a certificate in the form of Exhibit 7.2.19 evidencing the matters described in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) (including demonstrations of compliance with the Borrower's financial covenants) and (v) the Administrative Agent, the Syndication Agent, the Co-Syndication Agent and the Documentation Agent shall have, in their reasonable discretion, approved of the Borrower's certificate described in clause (iv) and concurred with

the Borrower's determinations made thereon and shall have acknowledged in writing such approval and concurrence. All payments of principal, interest or other amounts by the Borrower under the Subordinated Notes are subject to the terms of subordination governing such Subordinated Notes contained in Section 22 of the Subordinated Note Agreement or in any other provisions of the Subordinated Note Agreement or Subordinated Notes and the Agents and the Banks do not hereby waive or limit in any manner such terms of subordination.

### 7.2.20 INVENTORY PURCHASES.

The Loan Parties shall not permit (i) any material amount of inventory to be purchased by any Person other than the Borrower and the Material Subsidiaries or (ii) any Loan Party or any Subsidiary of a Loan Party, other than the Borrower and the Material Subsidiaries, to be obligated directly or indirectly to any Person other than a Loan Party with respect to any material amount of purchased inventory.

#### 7.2.21 NEGATIVE PLEDGES.

Each of the Loan Parties covenants and agrees that it shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into any agreement with any Person which prohibits or restricts in any manner the right of any of the Loan Parties to grant Liens in any of their assets to any Person or imposes any conditions which must be satisfied in order for any such Liens to be so granted or creates any breach or default, whether absolute, conditional or potential upon the occurrence of any grant of such Liens.

### 7.2.22 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS.

There shall be delivered to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of each Bank a signed signature page to the Acknowledgment of the Master Guaranty Agreement and Master Intercompany Subordination Agreement ("Acknowledgment") by the Company, and a written opinion of Benesch, Friedlander, Coplan & Aronoff L.L.P. and of Albert J. Bell, Esquire, counsel for the Loan Parties on or before May 21, 1998, addressing the authorization, execution and delivery of such Acknowledgment by the Company and the enforceability of such Acknowledgment with respect to the Company (in a form similar to the form of opinion referenced in Section 6.1.4).

### 7.3 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS.

The Borrower covenants and agrees that until payment in full of the Revolving Credit Loans and Reimbursement Obligations and interest thereon, expiration or termination of all Letters of Credit, satisfaction of all of the Loan Parties' other Obligations hereunder and under the other Loan Documents and termination of the Revolving Credit Commitments, the Loan Parties will furnish or cause to be furnished to the Administrative Agent and each of the Revolving Credit Banks:

### 7.3.1 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

As soon as available and in any event within forty-five (45) calendar days after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters in each fiscal year, financial statements of the Company, consisting of a consolidated and consolidating balance sheet as of the end of such fiscal quarter and related consolidated and consolidating statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the fiscal quarter then ended and the fiscal year through that date, all in reasonable detail and certified (subject to normal year-end audit adjustments) by the Chief Executive Officer, Presi-

dent or Chief Financial Officer of the Borrower as having been prepared in accordance with GAAP and as to fairness of presentation, consistently applied, and setting forth in comparative form the respective financial statements for the corresponding date and period in the previous fiscal year. Wherever referenced in this Section 7, the term "consolidating" is limited to consolidating information on a basis consistent with current accounting practices of the Company.

### 7.3.2 ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

As soon as available and in any event within ninety (90) days after the end of each fiscal year of the Company, consolidated and consolidating financial statements of the Company consisting of a consolidated and consolidating balance sheet as of the end of such fiscal year, and related consolidated and consolidating statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the fiscal year then ended, all in reasonable detail and setting forth in comparative form the financial statements as of the end of and for the preceding fiscal year, and with respect to the consolidated statements, certified by independent certified public accountants of nationally recognized standing satisfactory to the Administrative Agent. The certificate or report of accountants shall be free of qualifications (other than any consistency qualification that may result from a change in the method used to prepare the financial statements as to which such accountants concur) and shall not indicate the occurrence or existence of any event, condition or contingency which would materially impair the prospect of payment or performance of any covenant, agreement or duty of any Loan Party under any of the Loan Documents, together with a letter of such accountants substantially to the effect that, based upon their ordinary and customary examination of the affairs of the Company, performed in connection with the preparation of such consolidated financial statements, and in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, they are not aware of the existence of any condition or event which constitutes an Event of Default or Potential Default or, if they are aware of such condition or event, stating the nature thereof and confirming the Borrower's calculations with respect to the certificate to be delivered pursuant to Section 7.3.3 with respect to such financial statements.

### 7.3.3 CERTIFICATE OF THE BORROWER.

Concurrently with the financial statements of the Company furnished to the Administrative Agent and to the Revolving Credit Banks pursuant to Sections 7.3.1 and 7.3.2, a certificate of the Borrower and the Company signed by the Chief Executive Officer, President or Chief Financial Officer of the Borrower and the Company, in the form of EXHIBIT 7.3.3, to the effect that, except as described pursuant to Section 7.3.4, (i) the representations and warranties contained in Article and in the other Loan Documents are true on and as of the date of such certificate with the same effect as though such representations and warranties had been made on and as of such date (except representations and warranties which expressly relate solely to an earlier date or time) and the Loan Parties have performed and complied with all covenants and conditions hereof, (ii) no Event of Default or Potential Default exists and is continuing on the date of such certificate and (iii) containing calculations in sufficient detail to demonstrate compliance as of the date of such financial statements with all financial covenants contained in Section 7.2.

### 7.3.4 NOTICE OF DEFAULT.

Promptly after any officer of any Loan Party has learned of the occurrence of an Event of Default or Potential Default, a certificate signed by the Chief Executive Officer, President or Chief Financial Officer of such Loan Party setting forth the details of such Event of Default or Potential Default and the action which the such Loan Party proposes to take with respect thereto.

### 7.3.5 NOTICE OF LITIGATION.

Promptly after the commencement thereof, notice of all actions, suits, proceedings or investigations before or by any Official Body or any other Person against any Loan Party or Subsidiary of any Loan Party which involve a claim or series of uninsured claims (provided that a claim shall be deemed to be uninsured unless the insurance company is a reputable insurance company and has acknowledged that the claim is covered by the applicable insurance policy without any reservation to challenge the applicability thereof) in excess of \$10,000,000 or which if adversely determined would constitute a Material Adverse Change.

### 7.3.6 CERTAIN EVENTS.

### Written notice:

- (i) at least five (5) Business Days prior thereto, with respect to any proposed sale or transfer of assets pursuant to Section 7.2.7(iv) which exceed \$25 million, and
- (ii) within the time limits set forth in Section 7.2.14, any amendment to the organizational documents of any Loan Party.

### 7.3.7 REPORTS AND INFORMATION.

Promptly upon their becoming available to any Loan Party:

- any reports including management letters submitted to the Company or the Borrower by independent accountants in connection with any annual, interim or special audit;
- (ii) any reports, notices or proxy statements generally distributed by the Company to its stockholders on a date no later than the date supplied to such stockholders;
- (iii) regular or periodic reports, including Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K, registration statements and prospectuses, as may be filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission;
- (iv) a copy of any order in any proceeding to which the Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is a party issued by any Official Body; and
- (v) such other reports and information as any of the Revolving Credit Banks may from time to time reasonably request. The Loan Parties shall also notify the Revolving Credit Banks promptly of the enactment or adoption of any Law which may result in a Material Adverse Change.
- 7.3.8 NOTICES REGARDING PLANS AND BENEFIT ARRANGEMENTS.

### 7.3.8.1 CERTAIN EVENTS.

Promptly upon becoming aware of the occurrence thereof, notice (including the nature of the event and, when known, any action taken or threatened by the Internal Revenue Service or the PBGC with respect thereto) of:

- any Reportable Event with respect to the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group (regardless of whether the obligation to report said Reportable Event to the PBGC has been waived),
- (ii) any Prohibited Transaction which could subject the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group to a civil penalty assessed pursuant to Section 502(i) of ERISA or a tax imposed by Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code in connection with any Plan, any Benefit Arrangement or any trust created thereunder,
- (iii) any assertion of material withdrawal liability with respect to any Multiemployer Plan,
- (iv) any partial or complete withdrawal from a Multiemployer Plan by the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group under Title IV of ERISA (or assertion thereof), where such withdrawal is likely to result in material withdrawal liability,
- (v) any cessation of operations (by the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group) at a facility in the circumstances described in Section 4063(e) of ERISA,
- (vi) withdrawal by the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group from a Multiple Employer Plan,
- (vii) a failure by the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group to make a payment to a Plan required to avoid imposition of a Lien under Section 302(f) of ERISA,
- (viii) the adoption of an amendment to a Plan requiring the provision of security to such Plan pursuant to Section 307 of ERISA. or
- (ix) any change in the actuarial assumptions or funding methods used for any Plan, where the effect of such change is to materially increase or materially reduce the unfunded benefit liability or obligation to make periodic contributions.

## 7.3.8.2 NOTICES OF INVOLUNTARY TERMINATION AND ANNUAL

REPORTS.

Promptly after receipt thereof, copies of (a) all notices received by the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group of the PBGC's intent to terminate any Plan administered or maintained by the Company or any member of the ERISA Group, or to have a trustee appointed to administer any such Plan; and (b) at the request of the Administrative Agent or any Revolving Credit Bank each annual report (IRS Form 5500 series) and all accompanying schedules, the most recent actuarial reports, the most recent financial information concerning the financial status of each Plan administered or maintained by the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group, and schedules showing the amounts contributed to each such Plan by or on behalf of the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group in which any of their personnel participate or from which such personnel may derive a benefit, and each Schedule B

(Actuarial Information) to the annual report filed by the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group with the Internal Revenue Service with respect to each such Plan.

### 7.3.8.3 NOTICE OF VOLUNTARY TERMINATION.

Promptly upon the filing thereof, copies of any Form 5310, or any successor or equivalent form to Form 5310, filed with the PBGC in connection with the termination of any Plan.

# 8. DEFAULT

### 8.1 EVENTS OF DEFAULT.

An Event of Default shall mean the occurrence or existence of any one or more of the following events or conditions (whatever the reason therefor and whether voluntary, involuntary or effected by operation of Law):

### 8.1.1 PAYMENTS UNDER LOAN DOCUMENTS.

The Borrower shall fail to pay when due any principal of any Loan (including scheduled installments, mandatory prepayments or the payment due at maturity) or any Reimbursement Obligations or shall fail to pay within three (3) Business Days when due any interest on any Loan or on any Reimbursement Obligations or any other amount owing hereunder or under the other Loan Documents after such principal, interest or other amount becomes due in accordance with the terms hereof or thereof;

### 8.1.2 BREACH OF WARRANTY.

Any representation or warranty made or deemed made at any time by any of the Loan Parties herein or by any of the Loan Parties in any other Loan Document, or in any certificate, other instrument or statement furnished pursuant to the provisions hereof or thereof, shall prove to have been false or misleading in any material respect as of the time it was made or deemed made or furnished;

### 8.1.3 BREACH OF NEGATIVE COVENANTS.

Any of the Loan Parties shall default in the observance or performance of any covenant contained in Section 7.2;

### 8.1.4 BREACH OF OTHER COVENANTS.

Any of the Loan Parties shall default in the observance or performance of any other covenant, condition or provision hereof or of any other Loan Document and such default shall continue unremedied for a period of ten (10) Business Days after any Executive Officer of the Borrower or the Company becomes aware of the occurrence thereof (such grace period to be applicable only in the event such default can be remedied by corrective action of the Loan Parties as determined by the Managing Agents in their sole discretion);

### 8.1.5 DEFAULTS IN OTHER AGREEMENTS OR INDEBTEDNESS.

If a breach, default or event of default shall occur at any time under the terms of any other agreement involving borrowed money or the extension of credit or any other Indebtedness under which any Loan Party or Subsidiary of any Loan Party may be obligated as a borrower or guarantor in excess of \$10,000,000 in the aggregate and such breach, default or event of default consists of the failure to pay (beyond any period of grace permitted with respect thereto, whether waived or not) any indebtedness when due (whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) or such breach or default permits or causes the acceleration of any indebtedness (whether or not such right shall have been waived) or the termination of any commitment to lend;

### 8.1.6 FINAL JUDGMENTS OR ORDERS.

Any final judgments or orders for the payment of money in excess of \$10,000,000 in the aggregate shall be entered against any Loan Party by a court having jurisdiction in the premises, which judgment either (i) is not discharged, vacated, bonded or stayed pending appeal within a period of sixty (60) days from the date of entry, or (ii) is not fully insured (provided that a judgment shall be deemed to be uninsured unless the insurance company is a reputable insurance company and has acknowledged that the judgment is covered by the applicable insurance policy without any reservation to challenge the applicability thereof) or any Loan Parties' or any of their Subsidiaries' assets having a value on the Company's books in excess of \$10,000,000 are attached, seized, levied upon or subjected to a writ or distress warrant; or such come within the possession of any receiver, trustee, custodian or assignee for the benefit of creditors and the same is not cured within sixty (60) days thereafter;

### 8.1.7 LOAN DOCUMENT UNENFORCEABLE.

Any of the Loan Documents shall cease to be legal, valid and binding agreements enforceable against the party executing the same or such party's successors and assigns (as permitted under the Loan Documents) in accordance with the respective terms thereof or shall in any way be terminated (except in accordance with its terms) or become or be declared ineffective or inoperative or shall in any way be challenged or contested;

### 8.1.8 NOTICE OF LIEN OR ASSESSMENT.

A notice of Lien or assessment in excess of \$10,000,000 which is not a Permitted Lien is filed of record with respect to all or any part of any of the Loan Parties' or any of their Subsidiaries' assets by the United States, or any department, agency or instrumentality thereof, or by any state, county, municipal or other governmental agency, including the PBGC, or if any taxes or debts owing at any time or times hereafter to any one of these becomes payable and the same is not paid within sixty (60) days after the same becomes payable (unless the validity or amount thereof is being contested in good faith by appropriate and lawful proceedings diligently conducted so long as levy and execution thereon have been stayed and continue to be stayed);

### 8.1.9 INSOLVENCY.

The Company, the Borrower, any Material Subsidiary, or one or more other Subsidiaries of the Borrower which individually or in the aggregate represent more than five percent (5%) of the book value of the consolidated assets of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, ceases to be able to pay its debts as they become due or admits in writing its inability to pay its debts as they mature;

### 8.1.10 EVENTS RELATING TO PLANS AND BENEFIT ARRANGEMENTS.

Any of the following occurs: (i) any Reportable Event, which the Documentation Agent and the Administrative Agent determine in good faith constitutes grounds for the termination of any Plan by the PBGC or the appointment of a trustee to administer or liquidate any Plan, shall have occurred and be continuing; (ii) proceedings shall have been instituted or other action taken to terminate any Plan, or a termination notice shall have been filed with respect to any Plan; (iii) a trustee shall be appointed to administer or liquidate any Plan; (iv) the PBGC shall give notice of its intent to institute proceedings to terminate any Plan or Plans or to appoint a trustee to administer or liquidate any Plan; and, in the case of the occurrence of (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) above, the Administrative Agent determines in good faith that the amount of the Company's liability is likely to exceed 10% of its Consolidated Tangible Net Worth; (v) the Company or any member of the ERISA Group shall fail to make any contributions when due to a Plan or a Multiemployer Plan; (vi) the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group shall make any amendment to a Plan with respect to which security is required under Section 307 of ERISA; (vii) the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group shall withdraw completely or partially from a Multiemployer Plan; (viii) the Company or any other member of the ERISA Group shall withdraw (or shall be deemed under Section 4062(e) of ERISA to withdraw) from a Multiple Employer Plan; or (ix) any applicable Law is adopted, changed or interpreted by any Official Body with respect to or otherwise affecting one or more Plans, Multiemployer Plans or Benefit Arrangements and, with respect to any of the events specified in (v), (vi), (vii), (viii) or (ix), the Documentation Agent and the Administrative Agent determine in good faith that any such occurrence would be reasonably likely to materially and adversely affect the total enterprise represented by the Company and the other members of the ERISA Group;

#### 8.1.11 CESSATION OF BUSINESS.

Any of the Company, the Borrower, (except as permitted by Section 7.2.6 or Section 7.2.7) any Material Subsidiary, or (except as permitted by Section 7.2.6 or Section 7.2.7) one or more other Subsidiaries of the Borrower which individually or in the aggregate represent more than five percent (5%) of the book value of the consolidated assets of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, ceases to conduct its business as contemplated or such Loan Party is enjoined, restrained or in any way prevented by court order from conducting all or any material part of its business and such injunction, restraint or other preventive order is not dismissed within thirty (30) days after the entry thereof;

### 8.1.12 CHANGE OF CONTROL.

(i) Any person or group of persons (within the meaning of Section 13(a) or 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) shall have acquired beneficial ownership of (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under said Act) 33.33% or more of the voting capital stock of the Company; or (ii) within a period of twelve (12) consecutive calendar months, individuals who were directors on the board of directors of the Company on the first day of such period together with any directors whose election by such board of directors or whose nomination for election by the shareholders was approved by a vote of the majority of the directors then in office shall cease to constitute a majority of the board of directors of the Company;

### 8.1.13 INVOLUNTARY PROCEEDINGS.

A proceeding shall have been instituted in a court having jurisdiction in the premises seeking a decree or order for relief in respect of any the Company, the Borrower, any Material Subsidiary, or any other Subsidiary the result of which proceeding against such other Subsidiary would be a Material Adverse Change, in an involuntary case under

any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator, conservator (or similar official) of any Loan Party or any Subsidiary of any Loan Party for any substantial part of its property, or for the winding-up or liquidation of its affairs, and such proceeding shall remain undismissed or unstayed and in effect for a period of sixty (60) consecutive days or such court shall enter a decree or order granting any of the relief sought in such proceeding; or

### 8.1.14 VOLUNTARY PROCEEDINGS.

Any of the Company, the Borrower, any Material Subsidiary or any other Subsidiary the result of which voluntary case by such other Subsidiary would be a Material Adverse Change, shall commence a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, shall consent to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such law, or shall consent to the appointment or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator, conservator (or other similar official) of itself or for any substantial part of its property or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall fail generally to pay its debts as they become due, or shall take any action in furtherance of any of the foregoing.

### 8.2 CONSEQUENCES OF EVENT OF DEFAULT.

 $8.2.1\,$  EVENTS OF DEFAULT OTHER THAN BANKRUPTCY, INSOLVENCY OR REORGANIZATION PROCEEDINGS.

If an Event of Default specified under Sections 8.1.1 through 8.1.12 shall occur and be continuing, the Banks and the Administrative Agent shall be under no further obligation to make Loans or issue Letters of Credit, as the case may be, no Swing Loans shall be made, and the Administrative Agent may, and upon the request of the Required Banks, shall by written notice to the Borrower, take one or more of the following actions: (i) terminate the Revolving Credit Commitments and thereupon the Revolving Credit Commitments shall be terminated and of no further force and effect, (ii) declare the unpaid principal amount of the Revolving Credit Notes, the Swing Note and all Reimbursement Obligations then outstanding and all interest accrued thereon, any unpaid fees and all other Indebtedness of the Borrower to the Revolving Credit Banks hereunder and thereunder to be forthwith due and payable, and the same shall thereupon become and be immediately due and payable to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of each Revolving Credit Bank without presentment, demand, protest or any other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived, and (iii) require the Borrower to, and the Borrower shall thereupon, deposit in a non-interest bearing account with the Administrative Agent, as cash collateral for its Obligations under the Loan Documents, an amount equal to the maximum amount currently or at any time thereafter available to be drawn on all outstanding Letters of Credit, and the Borrower hereby pledges to the Administrative Agent and the Banks, and grants to the Administrative Agent and the Banks a security interest in, all such cash as security for such Obligations. Upon the curing of all existing Events of Default to the satisfaction of the Required Banks, the Administrative Agent shall return such cash collateral to the Borrower;

### 8.2.2 BANKRUPTCY, INSOLVENCY OR REORGANIZATION PROCEEDINGS.

If an Event of Default specified under Section 8.1.13 or 8.1.14 shall occur, the Revolving Credit Commitments shall automatically terminate and be of no further force and effect, the Banks shall make no Loans hereunder and the Swing Lender shall make no Swing Loans hereunder and the unpaid principal amount of the Revolving Credit Notes, the Swing Note and all Reimbursement Obligations then outstanding and all interest accrued thereon, any unpaid fees and all other Indebtedness of the Borrower to the Revolving Credit Banks hereunder and thereunder shall be immedi-

ately due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived;

#### 8.2.3 SET-0FF.

If an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, any Bank to whom any Obligation is owed by any Loan Party hereunder or under any other Loan Document or any participant of such Bank which has agreed in writing to be bound by the provisions of Section 9.13 and any branch, Subsidiary or Affiliate of such Bank or participant anywhere in the world shall have the right, subject to the approval of the Required Banks, in addition to all other rights and remedies available to it, without notice to such Loan Party, to set off against and apply to the then unpaid balance of all the Revolving Credit Loans and all other Obligations of the Borrower and the other Loan Parties hereunder or under any other Loan Document any debt owing to, and any other funds held in any manner for the account of, the Borrower or such other Loan Party by such Bank or participant or by such branch, Subsidiary or Affiliate, including all funds in all deposit accounts (whether time or demand, general or special, provisionally credited or finally credited, or otherwise) now or hereafter maintained by the Borrower or such other Loan Party for its own account (but not including funds held in custodian or trust accounts) with such Bank or participant or such branch, Subsidiary or Affiliate. Such right shall exist whether or not any Bank or the Administrative Agent shall have made any demand under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, whether or not such debt owing to or funds held for the account of the Borrower or such other Loan Party is or are matured or unmatured and regardless of the existence or adequacy of any collateral, any Guaranty or any other security, right or remedy available to any Bank or the Administrative Agent;

### 8.2.4 SUITS, ACTIONS, PROCEEDINGS.

If an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, and whether or not the Administrative Agent shall have accelerated the maturity of Revolving Credit Loans pursuant to any of the foregoing provisions of this Section 8.2, the Administrative Agent or any Revolving Credit Bank, with the approval of the Required Banks, if owed any amount with respect to the Revolving Credit Notes, may proceed to protect and enforce its rights by suit in equity, action at law and/or other appropriate proceeding, whether for the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement or the Revolving Credit Notes, including as permitted by applicable Law the obtaining of the EX PARTE appointment of a receiver, and, if such amount shall have become due, by declaration or otherwise, proceed to enforce the payment thereof or any other legal or equitable right of the Administrative Agent or such Revolving Credit Bank:

### 8.2.5 APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS.

From and after the date on which the Administrative Agent has taken any action pursuant to this Section 8.2 and until all Obligations of the Loan Parties have been paid in full, any and all proceeds received by the Administrative Agent from any sale or other disposition of any collateral, or any part thereof, the exercise of any other remedy by the Administrative Agent, shall be applied as follows:

(i) first, to reimburse the Administrative Agent and the Banks for out-of-pocket costs, expenses and disbursements, including reasonable attorneys' and paralegals' fees and legal expenses, incurred by the Administrative Agent or the Banks in connection with realizing on any collateral or collection of any Obligations of any of the Loan Parties under any of the Loan Documents, including advances made by the Banks or any one of them or the Administrative Agent for the reasonable

maintenance, preservation, protection or enforcement of, or realization upon, any collateral, including advances for taxes, insurance, repairs and the like and reasonable expenses incurred to sell or otherwise realize on, or prepare for sale or other realization on, any of any collateral:

- (ii) second, to the repayment of all Indebtedness then due and unpaid of the Loan Parties to the Banks incurred under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, whether of principal, interest, fees, expenses or otherwise, in such manner as the Managing Agents may determine in their discretion; and
- (iii) the balance, if any, to the Borrower or as required by Law.

### 8.2.6 OTHER RIGHTS AND REMEDIES.

The Administrative Agent may, and upon the request of the Required Banks shall, exercise all post-default rights granted to the Administrative Agent and the Banks under the Loan Documents or applicable Law.

### 8.2.7 RIGHT OF COMPETITIVE BID LOAN BANKS.

If any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, the Banks which have any Bid Loans then outstanding to the Borrower (the "Bid Loan Banks") shall not be entitled to accelerate payment of the Bid Loans or to exercise any right or remedy related to the collection of the Bid Loans until the earlier of the date on which the Revolving Credit Commitments shall be terminated hereunder pursuant to Section 8.2 or the Revolving Credit Loans or any other Indebtedness of the Borrower to the Revolving Credit Banks shall have become due and payable pursuant to Section 8.2. Upon such a termination of the Revolving Credit Commitments: (i) reference to Revolving Credit Loans and Revolving Credit Notes in Section 8.2 shall be deemed to apply also to the Bid Loans and the Bid Notes, respectively, and the Bid Loan Banks shall be entitled to all enforcement rights given to a holder of Revolving Credit Loans in Section 8.2 and (ii) the definition of Required Banks shall be changed as provided in Section 1.1 so that each Bank shall have voting rights hereunder in proportion to its share of the total Loans outstanding; provided that each Designating Bank shall serve as the agent of its Designated Lender and as such shall exercise all voting, approval and related rights on behalf of its Designated Lender as more fully described in Section 10.11.3 and in the Designation Agreement.

### 8.3 NOTICE OF SALE.

Any notice required to be given by the Administrative Agent of a sale, lease, or other disposition of the any collateral or any intended action by the Administrative Agent, if given ten (10) days prior to such proposed action, shall constitute commercially reasonable and fair notice thereof to the

# 9. THE MANAGING AGENTS

### 9.1 APPOINTMENT.

Each Bank hereby irrevocably designates, appoints and authorizes PNC Bank to act as Documentation Agent and National City Bank to act as Administrative Agent for such Bank under this Agreement and to execute and deliver or accept on behalf of each of the Banks the other Loan Documents. Each Bank hereby irrevocably authorizes, and

each holder of any Revolving Credit Note by the acceptance of a Revolving Credit Note shall be deemed irrevocably to authorize, the Documentation Agent and the Administrative Agent to take such action on its behalf under the provisions of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and any other instruments and agreements referred to herein, and to exercise such powers and to perform such duties hereunder as are specifically delegated to or required of the Documentation Agent or the Administrative Agent by the terms hereof, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. PNC Bank, agrees to act as the Documentation Agent and National City Bank agrees to act as the Administrative Agent on behalf of the Banks to the extent provided in this Agreement.

### 9.2 DELEGATION OF DUTIES.

The Documentation Agent and the Administrative Agent may perform any of their respective duties hereunder by or through agents or employees (PROVIDED such delegation does not constitute a relinquishment of its duties as Documentation Agent or Administrative Agent, respectively) and, subject to Sections 9.5 and 9.6, shall be entitled to engage and pay for the advice or services of any attorneys, accountants or other experts concerning all matters pertaining to its duties hereunder and to rely upon any advice so obtained.

### 9.3 NATURE OF DUTIES; INDEPENDENT CREDIT INVESTIGATION.

The Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Managing Agents and the Syndication Agent shall have no duties or responsibilities except those expressly set forth in this Agreement and no implied covenants, functions, responsibilities, duties, obligations, or liabilities shall be read into this Agreement or otherwise exist. The duties of the Administrative Agent shall be mechanical and administrative in nature. The Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Managing Agents and the Syndication Agent shall not have by reason of this Agreement a fiduciary or trust relationship in respect of any Bank; and nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended to or shall be so construed as to impose upon the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Managing Agents or the Syndication Agent any obligations in respect of this Agreement except as expressly set forth herein. Each Bank expressly acknowledges (i) that the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Managing Agents and the Syndication Agent have not made any representations or warranties to it and that no act by the Documentation Agent, any Managing Agent, the Syndication Agent or the Administrative Agent hereafter taken, including any review of the affairs of any of the Loan Parties, shall be deemed to constitute any representation or warranty by the Documentation Agent, any Managing Agent, the Syndication Agents or the Administrative Agent to any Bank; (ii) that it has made and will continue to make, without reliance upon the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Managing Agents and the Syndication Agent, its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness of each of the Loan Parties in connection with this Agreement and the making and continuance of the Loans hereunder; and (iii) except as expressly provided herein, that the Documentation Agent, the Managing Agents, the Syndication Agent and the Administrative Agent shall have no duty or responsibility, either initially or on a continuing basis, to provide any Bank with any credit or other information with respect thereto, whether coming into its possession before the making of any Loan or at any time or times thereafter.

# 9.4 ACTIONS IN DISCRETION OF DOCUMENTATION AGENT AND ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT; INSTRUCTIONS FROM THE BANKS.

The Documentation Agent and the Administrative Agent each agrees, upon the written request of the Required Banks, to take or refrain from taking any action of the type specified as being within the Documentation Agent's or the Administrative Agent's rights, powers or discretion herein, PROVIDED that the Documentation Agent or Administrative Agent shall not be required to take any action which exposes the Documentation Agent or the Administrative

Agent to personal liability or which is contrary to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or applicable Law. In the absence of a request by the Required Banks, the Documentation Agent or the Administrative Agent shall have authority, in its sole discretion, to take or not to take any such action, unless this Agreement specifically requires the consent of the Required Banks or all of the Banks. Any action taken or failure to act pursuant to such instructions or discretion shall be binding on the Banks, subject to Section 9.6. Subject to the provisions of Section 9.6, no Bank shall have any right of action whatsoever against the Administrative Agent as a result of the Documentation Agent or the Administrative Agent acting or refraining from acting hereunder in accordance with the instructions of the Required Banks, or in the absence of such instructions, in the absolute discretion of the Documentation Agent or the Administrative Agent.

# 9.5 REIMBURSEMENT AND INDEMNIFICATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND DOCUMENTATION AGENT BY THE BORROWER.

The Borrower unconditionally agrees to pay or reimburse the Administrative Agent and Documentation Agent and save the Administrative Agent and Documentation Agent harmless against (a) liability for the payment of all reasonable out-of-pocket costs, expenses and disbursements, including fees and expenses of counsel, appraisers and environmental consultants, incurred by the Administrative Agent and Documentation Agent (i) in connection with the development, negotiation, preparation, printing, execution, administration, syndication, interpretation and performance of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, (ii) relating to any requested amendments, waivers or consents pursuant to the provisions hereof, (iii) in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or collection of amounts due hereunder or thereunder or the proof and allowability of any claim arising under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, whether in bankruptcy or receivership proceedings or otherwise, and (iv) in any workout or restructuring or in connection with the protection, preservation, exercise or enforcement of any of the terms hereof or of any rights hereunder or under any other Loan Document or in connection with any foreclosure, collection or bankruptcy proceedings, and (b) all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Administrative Agent, in its capacity as such, the Documentation Agent, in its capacity as such, in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement or any other Loan Documents or any action taken or omitted by the Documentation Agent or the Administrative Agent hereunder or thereunder, PROVIDED that the Borrower shall not be liable for any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements if the same results from the Documentation Agent's or Administrative Agent's gross negligence or willful misconduct, or if the Borrower was not given notice of the subject claim and the opportunity to participate in the defense thereof, at its expense (except that the Borrower shall remain liable to the extent such failure to give notice does not result in a loss to the Borrower), or if the same results from a compromise or settlement agreement entered into without the consent of the Borrower, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. In addition, the Borrower agrees to reimburse and pay all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent's regular employees and agents engaged to perform audits of the Loan Parties' books, records and business properties.

### 9.6 EXCULPATORY PROVISIONS.

None of the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, any Managing Agent, the Syndication Agent or any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, attorneys or Affiliates shall (a) be liable to any Bank for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it or them hereunder, or in connection herewith including pursuant to any Loan Document, unless caused by its or its respective directors, officers, employees, agents, attorneys or Affiliates own gross negligence or willful misconduct, (b) be responsible in any manner to any of the Banks for the effectiveness, enforceability, genuineness, validity or due execution of this Agreement or any

other Loan Documents or for any recital, representation, warranty, document, certificate, report or statement herein or made or furnished under or in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Documents, or (c) be under any obligation to any of the Banks to ascertain or to inquire as to the performance or observance of any of the terms, covenants or conditions hereof or thereof on the part of the Loan Parties, or the financial condition of the Loan Parties, or the existence or possible existence of any Event of Default or Potential Default. None of the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, any Managing Agent, the Syndication Agent or Issuing Letter of Credit Bank or any Bank or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, attorneys or Affiliates shall be liable to any of the Loan Parties for consequential damages resulting from any breach of contract, tort or other wrong in connection with the negotiation, documentation, administration or collection of the Loans or any of the Loan Documents.

9.7 REIMBURSEMENT AND INDEMNIFICATION BY BANKS OF THE DOCUMENTATION AGENT, THE MANAGING AGENTS, THE SYNDICATION AGENT AND THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT.

Each Bank agrees to reimburse and indemnify the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, any Managing Agent, the Syndication Agent and any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank (to the extent not reimbursed by the Borrower and without limiting the Obligation of the Borrower to do so) in proportion to its Ratable Share from and against all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, any Managing Agent, the Syndication Agent or any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank in its capacity as such, in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement or any other Loan Documents or any action taken or omitted by the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, a Managing Agent, the Syndication Agent or any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank hereunder or thereunder, PROVIDED that no Bank shall be liable for any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements (a) if the same results from the Documentation Agent's, Administrative Agent's, any Managing Agent's, the Syndication Agent's or any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank's gross negligence or willful misconduct, or (b) if such Bank was not given notice of the subject claim and the opportunity to participate in the defense thereof, at its expense (except that such Bank shall remain liable to the extent such failure to give notice does not result in a loss to the Bank), or (c) if the same results from a compromise and settlement agreement entered into without the consent of such Bank, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. In addition, each Bank agrees promptly upon demand to reimburse the Administrative Agent (to the extent not reimbursed by the Borrower and without limiting the Obligation of the Borrower to do so) in proportion to its Ratable Share for all amounts due and payable by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent in connection with the Administrative Agent's periodic audit of the Loan Parties' books, records and business properties.

9.8 RELIANCE BY DOCUMENTATION AGENT, ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, MANAGING AGENTS AND SYNDICATION AGENT.

The Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Managing Agents, the Syndication Agent and the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks shall be entitled to rely upon any writing, telegram, telex or teletype message, resolution, notice, consent, certificate, letter, cablegram, statement, order or other document or conversation by telephone or otherwise believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper Person or Persons, and upon the advice and opinions of counsel and other professional advisers selected by the Administrative Agent. The Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Syndication Agent and the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks shall be fully justified in failing or refusing to take any action hereunder unless it shall first be indemnified to its satisfaction by the Banks against any and all liability and expense (other than a liability or ex-

pense relating to gross negligence or willful misconduct) which may be incurred by it by reason of taking or continuing to take any such action.

### 9.9 NOTICE OF DEFAULT.

The Administrative Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge or notice of the occurrence of any Potential Default or Event of Default unless the Administrative Agent has received written notice from a Revolving Credit Bank or the Borrower referring to this Agreement, describing such Potential Default or Event of Default and stating that such notice is a "notice of default."

#### 9.10 NOTICES.

The Administrative Agent and the Documentation Agent shall promptly send to each Revolving Credit Bank a copy of all notices and other documents received from the Borrower pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents promptly upon receipt thereof. The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower and the other Revolving Credit Banks of each change in the Base Rate and the effective date thereof.

### 9.11 BANKS IN THEIR INDIVIDUAL CAPACITIES.

With respect to their Revolving Credit Commitments and the Loans made by them, the Documentation Agent and the Administrative Agent shall have the same rights and powers hereunder as any other Revolving Credit Bank and may exercise the same as though it were not the Documentation Agent or the Administrative Agent, and the term "Revolving Credit Banks" shall, unless the context otherwise indicates, include the Documentation Agent and the Administrative Agent in their individual capacity. The Documentation Agent and its Affiliates, the Administrative Agent and its Affiliates and each of the Banks and their respective Affiliates may, without liability to account, except as prohibited herein, make loans to, accept deposits from, discount drafts for, act as trustee under indentures of, and generally engage in any kind of banking or trust business with, the Loan Parties and their Affiliates, in the case of the Documentation Agent, as though it were not acting as Documentation Agent hereunder and in the case of each Bank, as though such Bank were not a Bank hereunder.

### 9.12 HOLDERS OF NOTES.

The Administrative Agent may deem and treat any payee of any Note as the owner thereof for all purposes hereof unless and until written notice of the assignment or transfer thereof shall have been filed with the Administrative Agent. Any request, authority or consent of any Person who at the time of making such request or giving such authority or consent is the holder of any Note shall be conclusive and binding on any subsequent holder, transferee or assignee of such Note or of any Note or Notes issued in exchange therefor.

### 9.13 EQUALIZATION OF BANKS.

The Banks and the holders of any participations in any Revolving Credit Notes agree among themselves that, with respect to all amounts received by any Bank or any such holder for application on any Obligation hereunder or under any Revolving Credit Note or under any such participation, whether received by voluntary payment, by realization upon security, by the exercise of the right of set-off or banker's lien, by counterclaim or by any other non-pro rata source, equitable adjustment will be made in the manner stated in the following sentence so that, in effect, all such ex-

cess amounts will be shared ratably among the Banks and such holders in proportion to their interests in payments under the Revolving Credit Notes, except as otherwise provided in Sections 3.4.2 or 4.5.1. The Banks or any such holder receiving any such amount shall purchase for cash from each of the other Banks an interest in such Bank's Revolving Credit Loans in such amount as shall result in a ratable participation by the Banks and each such holder in the aggregate unpaid amount under the Revolving Credit Notes, PROVIDED that if all or any portion of such excess amount is thereafter recovered from the Bank or the holder making such purchase, such purchase shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, together with interest or other amounts, if any, required by law (including court order) to be paid by the Bank or the holder making such purchase.

### 9.14 SUCCESSOR ADMINISTRATIVE AND DOCUMENTATION AGENTS.

The Administrative Agent (i) may resign as Administrative Agent or (ii) shall resign if such resignation is requested by the Required Banks (if the Administrative Agent is a Revolving Credit Bank, the Administrative Agent's Loans and its Revolving Credit Commitment shall be considered in determining whether the Required Banks have requested such resignation), in either case of (i) or (ii) by giving not less than thirty (30) days' prior written notice to the Borrower. The Documentation Agent may resign as Documentation Agent. If the Administrative Agent or Documentation Agent shall resign under this Agreement, then subject to the consent of the Borrower (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld and which consent shall not be required during any period in which an Event of Default exists) either (a) the Required Banks shall appoint from among the Revolving Credit Banks a successor administrative agent or documentation agent for the Revolving Credit Banks, or (b) if a successor agent shall not be so appointed and approved within the thirty (30) day period following the Administrative Agent's notice or the Documentation Agent's notice to the Revolving Credit Banks of its resignation, then the Administrative Agent or the Documentation Agent, as the case may be, shall appoint a successor administrative agent or documentation agent, as the case may be, who shall serve as Administrative Agent or Documentation Agent until such time as the Required Banks appoint a successor administrative agent or documentation agent. Upon its appointment, such successor administrative agent or documentation agent shall succeed to the rights, powers and duties of the Administrative Agent or the Documentation Agent, as the case may be, and the term "Administrative Agent" or "Documentation Agent" shall mean such successor effective upon its appointment, and the former Administrative Agent's or Documentation Agent's rights, powers and duties as Administrative Agent or Documentation Agent, as the case may be, shall be terminated without any other or further act or deed on the part of such former Administrative Agent or Documentation Agent or any of the parties to this Agreement. After the resignation of any Administrative Agent or Documentation Agent hereunder, the provisions of this Article shall inure to the benefit of such former Administrative Agent or Documentation Agent and such former Administrative Agent or Documentation Agent shall not by reason of such resignation be deemed to be released from liability for any actions taken or not taken by it while it was an Administrative Agent or Documentation Agent under this Agreement.

### 9.15 OTHER FEES.

The Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent, at the times set forth in such letter, the bid loan processing fee and administrative fees due pursuant to that certain commitment letter dated March 25, 1996, among the Borrower and the various Agents and that certain letter agreement between Borrower and the Administrative Agent dated March 21, 1997, and each as later amended.

### 9.16 AVATIABILITY OF FUNDS.

Unless the Administrative Agent shall have been notified by a Bank prior to the date upon which a Loan is to be made that such Bank does not intend to make available to the Administrative Agent such Bank's portion of such Loan, the Administrative Agent may assume that such Bank has made or will make such proceeds available to the Administrative Agent on such date and the Administrative Agent may, in reliance upon such assumption (but shall not be required to), make available to the Borrower a corresponding amount. If such corresponding amount is not in fact made available to the Administrative Agent by such Bank, the Administrative Agent shall be entitled to recover such amount on demand from such Bank (or, if such Bank fails to pay such amount forthwith upon such demand from the Borrower) together with interest thereon, in respect of each day during the period commencing on the date such amount was made available to the Borrower and ending on the date the Administrative Agent recovers such amount, at a rate per annum equal to the Federal Funds Effective Rate.

### 9.17 CALCULATIONS.

In the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct, the Administrative Agent shall not be liable for any error in computing the amount payable to any Bank whether in respect of the Loans, fees or any other amounts due to the Banks under this Agreement. In the event an error in computing any amount payable to any Bank is made, the Administrative Agent, the Borrower and each affected Bank shall, forthwith upon discovery of such error, make such adjustments as shall be required to correct such error, and any compensation therefor will be calculated at the Federal Funds Effective Rate.

### 9.18 BENEFICIARIES.

Except as expressly provided herein, the provisions of this Article are solely for the benefit of the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Managing Agents, the Syndication Agent and the Banks, and the Loan Parties shall not have any rights to rely on or enforce any of the provisions hereof. In performing its functions and duties under this Agreement, the Administrative Agent shall act solely as agent of the Banks and does not assume and shall not be deemed to have assumed any obligation toward or relationship of agency or trust with or for any of the Loan Parties.

### 9.19 ABSENCE OF DUTIES OF MANAGING AGENTS AND SYNDICATION AGENT.

The Managing Agents and the Syndication Agent shall have no obligations or duties under this Agreement.

# 10. MISCELLANEOUS

### 10.1 MODIFICATIONS, AMENDMENTS OR WAIVERS.

With the written consent of the Required Banks, the Administrative Agent, acting on behalf of all the Banks, and the Borrower, on behalf of the Loan Parties, may from time to time enter into written agreements amending or changing any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the rights of the Banks or the Loan Parties hereunder or thereunder, or may grant written waivers or consents to a departure from the due performance of the Obligations of the Loan Parties hereunder or thereunder; provided, however, that the written consent of the Required Banks shall not be required with respect to the joinder of additional Loan Parties pursuant to Section 10.18 Any such agreement, waiver or consent made with such written consent shall be effective to bind all the Banks and the Loan

Parties; PROVIDED, that, without the written consent of all the Banks, no such agreement, waiver or consent may be made which will:

 $10.1.1\,$  INCREASE OF REVOLVING CREDIT COMMITMENT; EXTENSION OR EXPIRATION DATE.

Increase the amount of the Revolving Credit Commitment of any Bank hereunder or extend the Expiration Date;

10.1.2 EXTENSION OF PAYMENT; REDUCTION OF PRINCIPAL INTEREST OR FEES; MODIFICATION OF TERMS OF PAYMENT.

Whether or not any Loans are outstanding, extend the time for payment of principal or interest of any Loan, the Facility Fee or any other fee payable to any Bank, or reduce the principal amount of or the rate of interest borne by any Loan or reduce the Facility Fee or any other fee payable to any Bank, or otherwise affect the terms of payment of the principal of or interest of any Loan, the Facility Fee or any other fee payable to any Bank;

### 10.1.3 RELEASE OF GUARANTOR.

Release the Company or any Material Subsidiary from its Obligations under the Master Guaranty Agreement or any other security for any of the Loan Parties' Obligations; or

### 10.1.4 MISCELLANEOUS

Amend Sections 4.2 [Pro Rata Treatment of Banks], 9.6 [Exculpatory Provisions] or 9.13 [Equalization of Banks] or this Section 10.1, alter any provision regarding the pro rata treatment of the Banks, change the definition of Required Banks, or change any requirement providing for the Banks or the Required Banks to authorize the taking of any action hereunder.

No agreement, waiver or consent which would modify the interests, rights or obligations of the Documentation Agent in its capacity as Documentation Agent, of the Administrative Agent in its capacity as Administrative Agent or of an Issuing Letter of Credit Bank in its capacity as the issuer of Letters of Credit shall be effective without the written consent of the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent or such Issuing Letter of Credit Bank, respectively.

### 10.2 NO IMPLIED WAIVERS; CUMULATIVE REMEDIES; WRITING REQUIRED.

No course of dealing and no delay or failure of the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent or any Bank in exercising any right, power, remedy or privilege under this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall affect any other or future exercise thereof or operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right, power, remedy or privilege preclude any further exercise thereof or of any other right, power, remedy or privilege. The rights and remedies of the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Syndication Agent, the Managing Agents, the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks and the Banks under this Agreement and any other Loan Documents are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies which they would otherwise have. Any waiver, permit, consent or approval of any kind or character on the

part of any Bank of any breach or default under this Agreement or any such waiver of any provision or condition of this Agreement must be in writing and shall be effective only to the extent specifically set forth in such writing.

10.3 REIMBURSEMENT AND INDEMNIFICATION OF BANKS BY THE BORROWER; TAXES.

The Borrower agrees unconditionally upon demand to pay or reimburse to each Bank (other than the Administrative Agent and the Documentation Agent, as to which the Borrower's Obligations are set forth in Section 9.5) and to save such Bank harmless against (i) liability for the payment of all reasonable out-of-pocket costs, expenses and disbursements (including fees and expenses of counsel for each Bank except with respect to (a) and (b) below), incurred by such Bank (a) in connection with the administration and interpretation of this Agreement, and other instruments and documents to be delivered hereunder, (b) relating to any amendments, waivers or consents pursuant to the provisions hereof,(c) in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or collection of amounts due hereunder or thereunder or the proof and allowability of any claim arising under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, whether in bankruptcy or receivership proceedings or otherwise, and (d) in any workout or restructuring or in connection with the protection, preservation, exercise or enforcement of any of the terms hereof or of any rights hereunder or under any other Loan Document or in connection with any foreclosure, collection or bankruptcy proceedings, or (ii) all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against such Bank, in its capacity as such, in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement (including without limitation Section 4.5.2) or any other Loan Documents or any action taken or omitted by such Bank hereunder or thereunder, PROVIDED that the Borrower shall not be liable for any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements (A) if the same results from such Bank's gross negligence or willful misconduct, or (B) if the Borrower was not given notice of the subject claim and the opportunity to participate in the defense thereof, at its expense (except that the Borrower shall remain liable to the extent such failure to give notice does not result in a loss to the Borrower), or (C) if the same results from a compromise or settlement agreement entered into without the consent of the Borrower, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Banks will attempt to minimize the fees and expenses of legal counsel for the Banks which are subject to reimbursement by the Borrower hereunder by considering the usage of one law firm to represent the Banks and the Administrative Agent if appropriate under the circumstances. The Borrower agrees unconditionally to pay all stamp, documentary, transfer, recording or filing taxes or fees and similar impositions now or hereafter determined by the Administrative Agent or any Bank to be payable in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document, and the Borrower agrees unconditionally to save the Administrative Agent and the Banks harmless from and against any and all present or future claims, liabilities or losses with respect to or resulting from any omission to pay or delay in paying any such taxes, fees or impositions.

### 10.4 HOLIDAYS.

Whenever any payment or action to be made or taken hereunder shall be stated to be due on a day which is not a Business Day, such payment or action shall be made or taken on the next following Business Day (except as provided in Section 3.2.1 with respect to Interest Periods under the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option), and such extension of time shall be included in computing interest or fees, if any, in connection with such payment or action.

10.5 FUNDING BY BRANCH, SUBSIDIARY OR AFFILIATE.

10.5.1 NOTIONAL FUNDING.

Each Bank shall have the right from time to time, without notice to the Borrower, to deem any branch, Subsidiary or Affiliate (which for the purposes of this Section 10.5 shall mean any corporation or association which is directly or indirectly controlled by or is under direct or indirect common control with any corporation or association which directly or indirectly controls such Bank) of such Bank to have made, maintained or funded any Loan to which the Revolving Credit Euro-Rate Option applies at any time, PROVIDED that immediately following (on the assumption that a payment were then due from the Borrower to such other office), and as a result of such change, the Borrower would not be under any greater financial obligation pursuant to Section 4.5 than it would have been in the absence of such change. Notional funding offices may be selected by each Bank without regard to such Bank's actual methods of making, maintaining or funding the Loans or any sources of funding actually used by or available to such Bank; and

### 10.5.2 ACTUAL FUNDING.

Each Bank shall have the right from time to time to make or maintain any Loan by arranging for a branch, Subsidiary or Affiliate of such Bank to make or maintain such Loan subject to the last sentence of this Section 10.5.2. If any Bank causes a branch, Subsidiary or Affiliate to make or maintain any part of the Loans hereunder, all terms and conditions of this Agreement shall, except where the context clearly requires otherwise, be applicable to such part of the Loans to the same extent as if such Loans were made or maintained by such Bank, but in no event shall any Bank's use of such a branch, Subsidiary or Affiliate to make or maintain any part of the Loans hereunder cause such Bank or such branch, Subsidiary or Affiliate to incur any cost or expenses payable by the Borrower hereunder or require the Borrower to pay any other compensation to any Bank (including any expenses incurred or payable pursuant to Section 4.5) which would otherwise not be incurred.

#### 10.6 NOTICES.

All notices, requests, demands, directions and other communications (as used in this Section 10.6, collectively referred to as "notices") given to or made upon any party hereto under the provisions of this Agreement shall be by telephone or in writing (including telex or facsimile communication) unless otherwise expressly permitted hereunder and shall be delivered or sent by telex or facsimile to the respective parties at the addresses and numbers set forth under their respective names on the signature pages hereof or in accordance with any subsequent unrevoked written direction from any party to the others. All notices shall, except as otherwise expressly herein provided, be effective (a) in the case of telex or facsimile, when received, (b) in the case of hand-delivered notice, when hand-delivered, (c) in the case of telephone, when telephoned, PROVIDED, however, that in order to be effective, telephonic notices must be confirmed in writing no later than the next day by letter, facsimile or telex, (d) if given by mail, four (4) days after such communication is deposited in the mail with first-class postage prepaid, return receipt requested, and (e) if given by any other means (including by air courier), when delivered; PROVIDED, that notices to the Administrative Agent shall not be effective until received. Any Bank giving any notice to any Loan Party shall simultaneously send a copy thereof to the Administrative Agent, and the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the other Banks of the receipt by it of any such notice. Each Designated Lender appoints its Designating Bank as its agent for the purpose of delivering and receiving all notices hereunder as more fully set forth in Section 10.11.3 and in its Designation Agreement with such Designating Bank.

### 10.7 SEVERABILITY.

The provisions of this Agreement are intended to be severable. If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part in any jurisdiction, such provision shall, as to such jurisdiction, be inef-

fective to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability without in any manner affecting the validity or enforceability thereof in any other jurisdiction or the remaining provisions hereof in any jurisdiction.

#### 10.8 GOVERNING LAW.

Each Letter of Credit and Section 2.9 shall be subject to the Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits (1993 Revision), International Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 500, as the same may be revised or amended from time to time, and to the extent not inconsistent therewith, the internal laws of the New York without regard to its conflict of laws principles and the balance of this Agreement shall be deemed to be a contract under the Laws of the Ohio and for all purposes shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Ohio without regard to its conflict of laws principles.

### 10.9 PRIOR UNDERSTANDING.

This Agreement and the other documents and instruments executed in connection herewith supersede all prior understandings and agreements, whether written or oral, between the parties hereto and thereto relating to the transactions provided for herein and therein, including any prior confidentiality agreements and commitments.

### 10.10 DURATION; SURVIVAL.

All representations and warranties of the Loan Parties contained herein or made in connection herewith shall survive the making of Loans and issuance of Letters of Credit and shall not be waived by the execution and delivery of this Agreement, any investigation by the Administrative Agent, the Documentation Agent, the Syndication Agent, the Managing Agents, the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks or the Banks, the making of Loans, issuance of Letters of Credit, or payment in full of the Loans. All covenants and agreements of the Loan Parties contained in Sections 7.1, 7.2, and 7.3 shall continue in full force and effect from and after the date hereof so long as the Borrower may borrow or request Letters of Credit hereunder and until termination of the Revolving Credit Commitments, repayment of all Loans and expiration or termination of all Letters of Credit. All covenants and agreements of the Borrower contained herein relating to the payment of principal, interest, premiums, additional compensation or expenses and indemnification, including those set forth in the Notes, Article 4 and Sections 9.5, 9.7 and 10.3, shall survive payment in full of the Loans, expiration or termination of the Letters of Credit and termination of the Revolving Credit Commitments.

### 10.11 SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.

### 10.11.1 BINDING EFFECT; ASSIGNMENTS BY LOAN PARTIES.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Banks, the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent, the Syndication Agent, the Managing Agents, the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks, the Loan Parties and their respective successors and assigns, except that none of the Loan Parties may assign or transfer any of its rights and Obligations hereunder or any interest herein without consent of all of the Revolving Credit Banks (each on its own behalf and on behalf of any Designated Lenders of such Revolving Credit Bank).

10.11.2 ASSIGNMENTS AND PARTICIPATIONS BY BANKS OTHER THAN ASSIGNMENTS OF BID LOANS AMONG DESIGNATING BANKS AND DESIGNATED LENDERS.

of its Loans, Letters of Credit Outstandings or Revolving Credit Commitment except for assignments or designations of Bid Loans among Designating Banks or Designated Lenders described in Section 10.11.3. Each Revolving Credit Bank may, at its own cost, make assignments of all or any part of its Revolving Credit Commitment and Revolving Credit Loans and Bid Loans and its Ratable Share of Letter of Credit Outstandings to one or more banks or other entities, subject to the consent of the Borrower (which consent shall not be required during any period in which an Event of Default exists), the Issuing Letter of Credit Banks and the Administrative Agent with respect to any assignee, such consents not to be unreasonably withheld, and PROVIDED that assignments may not be made in amounts less than \$5,000,000 and a Bank may assign a Bid Loan to another Person only if either such Bank is a Revolving Credit Bank and is simultaneously assigning all or a portion of its Revolving Credit Commitment to such Person or the assignee is already a Revolving Credit Bank hereunder. Each Bank may, at its own cost, grant participations in all or any part of its Revolving Credit Commitment and the Revolving Credit Loans and Bid Loans made by it and of its Ratable Share of Letter of Credit Outstandings to one or more banks or other entities, without the consent of any party hereto. In the case of an assignment of all or any portion of a Revolving Credit Commitment, upon receipt by the Administrative Agent of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the assignee shall have, to the extent of such assignment (unless otherwise provided therein), the same rights, benefits and obligations as it would have if it had been a signatory Revolving Credit Bank hereunder, the Revolving Credit Commitments in Section 2.1 shall be adjusted accordingly, and upon surrender of any Revolving Credit Note subject to such assignment, the Borrower shall execute and deliver a new Revolving Credit Note to the assignee in an amount equal to the amount of the Revolving Credit Commitment assumed by it and a new Revolving Credit Note to the assigning Revolving Credit Bank in an amount equal to the Revolving Credit Commitment retained by it hereunder. The assigning Bank shall surrender its Bid Note if it is assigning all of its Revolving Credit Commitment. The Borrower shall executed and deliver to the assignee a Bid Note in the form of EXHIBIT 1.1(B). Any assigning Bank (other than assignments by any Managing Agent within ninety (90) days after the Closing Date) shall pay to the Administrative Agent a service fee in the amount of \$3,500 for each assignment, which amount shall not be subject to reimbursement or indemnification by the Borrower. In the case of a participation, the participant shall only have the rights specified in Section 8.2.3 (the participant's rights against the selling Bank in respect of such participation to be those set forth in the agreement executed by such Bank in favor of the participant relating thereto and not to include any voting rights except with respect to changes of the type referenced in Sections 10.1.1, 10.1.2 and 10.1.3), all of such Bank's obligations under this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall remain unchanged, and all amounts payable by any Loan Party hereunder or thereunder shall be determined as if such Bank had not sold such participation. Any assignee or participant which is not incorporated under the Laws of the United States of America or a state thereof shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent the form of certificate described in Section 10.17 relating to federal income tax withholding. Each Bank may furnish any publicly available information concerning any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries and any other information concerning any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries in the possession of such Bank from time to time to assignees and participants (including prospective assignees or participants), PROVIDED that such assignees and participants agree to be bound by the provisions of Section 10.12.

This Section shall apply to any assignment or participation by a Bank

10.11.3  $\,$  ASSIGNMENTS OF BID LOANS AMONG DESIGNATING BANKS AND DESIGNATED LENDERS.

### 10.11.3.1 ASSIGNMENTS TO DESIGNATED LENDERS.

Any Revolving Credit Bank (each a "Designating Bank") may at any time, subject to the consent of the Borrower, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld and subject to the terms of this Section 10.11.3.1, designate one or more Designated Lenders to fund Bid Loans which the Designating Bank is required to fund. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that any Designation Agreement signed by any Bank prior to the Closing Date pursuant to the

Prior Credit Agreement shall remain in effect after the Closing Date. The provisions of Section 10.11.2 shall not apply to any designation made under this Section. No Revolving Credit Bank shall be entitled to make more than two such designations. The parties to each such designation shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent, for its acceptance, a Designation Agreement. Upon its receipt of an appropriately completed Designation Agreement executed by a Designating Bank, a designee representing that it is a Designated Lender and the Borrower, the Administrative Agent will accept such Designation Agreement. From and after the later of the date on which the Administrative Agent receives the executed Designation Agreement and the effective date specified in the Designation Agreement, the Designated Lender shall become a party to this Agreement with a right to make any Bid Loan on behalf of its Designating Bank pursuant to Section 2.11 after the Borrower has accepted a Bid (or a portion thereof) of the Designating Bank. The Designating Bank shall not be obligated to designate its Designated Lender to fund any Bid Loan, and such Designated Lender shall not be obligated to fund any Bid Loan, each such designation being subject to the agreement of the Designating Bank and its Designated Lender and to be made at the time that such Bid Loan is made. Each Designating Bank shall serve as the agent of the Designated Lender for purposes of giving and receiving all communications and notices and taking all actions hereunder, including without limitation votes, approvals, waivers, consents and amendments under or relating to this Agreement or the other Loan Documents. Any such notice, communication, vote, approval, waiver, consent or amendment shall be signed by the Designating Bank as agent for the Designated Lender and shall not be signed by the Designated Lender. The Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Banks may rely thereon without any requirement that the Designated Lender sign or acknowledge the same. Any Designated Lender which is not incorporated under the Laws of the United States of America or a state thereof shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent the form of certificate described in Section 10.17relating to federal income tax withholding.

### 10.11.3.2 ASSIGNMENTS BY DESIGNATED LENDERS.

Any Designated Lender may assign its Bid Loan to its Designating Bank or to another Designated Lender designated by such Designating Bank and such assignment shall not be subject to the requirements of Section 10.11.2, provided that the Designated Lender and Designating Bank shall notify the Administrative Agent promptly of such assignment.

### 10.11.4 ASSIGNMENTS BY BANKS TO FEDERAL RESERVE BANKS.

Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, any Bank may at any time pledge or grant a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement, its Notes and the other Loan Documents to any Federal Reserve Bank in accordance with Regulation A of the FRB or US Treasury Regulation 31 CFR Section 203.14 without notice to or consent of the Borrower or any agent. No such pledge or grant of a security interest shall release the transferor Bank of its obligations hereunder or under any other Loan Document.

### 10.12 CONFIDENTIALITY.

The Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent and the Banks each agree to keep confidential all information obtained from any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries which is nonpublic and confidential or proprietary in nature (including any information the Borrower specifically designates as confidential), except as provided below, and to use such information only in connection with their respective capacities under this Agreement and for the purposes contemplated hereby. The Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent and the Banks shall be permitted to disclose such information (i) to outside legal counsel, accountants and other professional advisors who need to know such in-

formation in connection with the administration and enforcement of this Agreement and who are notified that the information is to be treated as confidential, (ii) to assignees and participants as contemplated by Section 10.11, (iii) to the extent requested by any bank regulatory authority or, with notice to the Borrower if not prohibited, as otherwise required by applicable Law or by any subpoena or similar legal process, or in connection with any investigation or proceeding arising out of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (iv) if it becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Agreement or becomes available from a source not known to be subject to confidentiality restrictions, (v) if the Borrower shall have consented to such disclosure, or (vi) after notice to the Borrower unless the Borrower is an adverse party in such litigation, in connection with any litigation to which any Bank is a party the subject matter of which involves this Agreement or is deemed necessary upon the advice of legal counsel of such Bank by such Bank in any defense of such litigation.

### 10.13 COUNTERPARTS.

This Agreement may be executed by different parties hereto on any number of separate counterparts, including facsimiles, each of which, when so executed and delivered, shall be an original, and all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.

### 10.14 DOCUMENTATION AGENT'S OR BANK'S CONSENT.

Whenever the Documentation Agent's, the Administrative Agent's any Managing Agent's, the Syndication Agent's, any Issuing Letter of Credit Bank's or any Bank's consent is required to be obtained under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents as a condition to any action, inaction, condition or event, the Documentation Agent, the Administrative Agent each Managing Agent, the Syndication Agent, each Issuing Letter of Credit Bank and each Bank shall be authorized to give or withhold such consent in its sole and absolute discretion and to condition its consent upon the giving of additional collateral, the payment of money or any other matter.

#### 10.15 EXCEPTIONS.

The representations, warranties and covenants contained herein shall be independent of each other, and no exception to any representation, warranty or covenant shall be deemed to be an exception to any other representation, warranty or covenant contained herein unless expressly provided, nor shall any such exceptions be deemed to permit any action or omission that would be in contravention of applicable Law.

### 10.16 CONSENT TO FORUM; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.

EACH LOAN PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS TO THE NONEXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF FRANKLIN COUNTY AND THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO, AND WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF ANY AND ALL PROCESS UPON IT AND CONSENTS THAT ALL SUCH SERVICE OF PROCESS BE MADE BY CERTIFIED OR REGISTERED MAIL DIRECTED TO SUCH LOAN PARTY AT THE ADDRESSES PROVIDED FOR IN SECTION 10.6 AND SERVICE SO MADE SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE COMPLETED UPON ACTUAL RECEIPT THEREOF. EACH LOAN PARTY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION TO JURISDICTION AND VENUE OF ANY ACTION INSTITUTED AGAINST IT AS PROVIDED HEREIN AND AGREES NOT TO ASSERT ANY DEFENSE BASED ON LACK OF JURISDICTION OR VENUE OR INCONVENIENT FORUM. EACH LOAN PARTY, THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND THE BANKS HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, SUIT, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM OF ANY KIND

ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT OR THE COLLATERAL TO THE FULL EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW.

#### 10.17 TAX WITHHOLDING CLAUSE.

Each Bank or assignee or participant of a Bank that is not incorporated under the Laws of the United States of America or a state thereof agrees that it will deliver to each of the Borrower and the Administrative Agent two (2) duly completed copies of the following: (i) Internal Revenue Service Form W-9, 4224 or 1001, or other applicable form prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service, certifying that such Bank, assignee or participant is entitled to receive payments under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents without deduction or withholding of any United States federal income taxes, or is subject to such tax at a reduced rate under an applicable tax treaty, or (ii) Internal Revenue Service Form W-8 or other applicable form or a certificate of such Bank, assignee or participant indicating that no such exemption or reduced rate is allowable with respect to such payments. Each Bank, assignee or participant required to deliver to the Borrower and the Documentation Agent a form or certificate pursuant to the preceding sentence shall deliver such form or certificate as follows: (A) each Bank which is a party hereto on the Closing Date shall deliver such form or certificate at least five (5) Business Days prior to the first date on which any interest or fees are payable by the Borrower hereunder for the account of such Bank; (B) each assignee or participant shall deliver such form or certificate at least five (5) Business Days before the effective date of such assignment or participation (unless the Documentation Agent in its sole discretion shall permit such assignee or participant to deliver such form or certificate less than five (5) Business Days before such date in which case it shall be due on the date specified by the Documentation Agent). Each Bank, assignee or participant which so delivers a Form W-8, W-9, 4224 or 1001 further undertakes to deliver to each of the Borrower and the Documentation Agent two (2) additional copies of such form (or a successor form) on or before the date that such form expires or becomes obsolete or after the occurrence of any event requiring a change in the most recent form so delivered by it, and such amendments thereto or extensions or renewals thereof as may be reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Documentation Agent, either certifying that such Bank, assignee or participant is entitled to receive payments under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents without deduction or withholding of any United States federal income taxes or is subject to such tax at a reduced rate under an applicable tax treaty or stating that no such exemption or reduced rate is allowable. The Documentation Agent shall be entitled to withhold United States federal income taxes at the full withholding rate unless the Bank, assignee or participant establishes an exemption or that it is subject to a reduced rate as established pursuant to the above provisions.

### 10.18 JOINDER OF GUARANTORS.

Any Subsidiary of the Borrower which is required to join the Master Guaranty Agreement pursuant to Section 7.2.9 shall execute and deliver to the Documentation Agent a signature page to the Master Guaranty Agreement and to the Master Intercompany Subordination Agreement. The Loan Parties shall deliver such Guarantor Joinder to the Documentation Agent within five (5) Business Days after the date of the filing of such Subsidiary's articles of incorporation if the Subsidiary is a corporation, the date of the filing of its certificate of limited partnership if it is a limited partnership or the date of its organization if it is an entity other than a limited partnership or corporation or, if acquired, the date of acquisition.

## [SIGNATURE PAGE 1 OF 4 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, by their officers thereunto duly authorized, have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

BORROWER:
CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION
By:
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT:
NATIONAL CITY BANK, as Administrative Agent, as a Managing Agent and as a Bank
By: Title:
OTHER MANAGING AGENTS:
THE BANK OF NEW YORK, as Syndication Agent, as a Managing Agent and as a Bank
By: Title:
BANK ONE, N.A., as Co-Syndication Agent, as a Managing Agent and as a Bank
By: Title:
BANK OF AMERICA NT & SA, as a Managing Agent and as a Bank
By:

# [SIGNATURE PAGE 2 OF 4 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK , as a Managing Agent and as a $\ensuremath{Bank}$
By: Title:
FLEET NATIONAL BANK, as a Managing Agent and as a Bank
By: Title:
NATIONSBANK, N.A., as a Managing Agent and as a Bank
By: Title:
PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Documentation Agent, as a Managing Agent and as a Bank
By: Title:
CO-AGENTS:
BANK OF TOKYO - MITSUBISHI TRUST COMPANY, as a Co-Agent and as a Bank
By:

# [SIGNATURE PAGE 3 OF 4 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]

KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Co-Agent and as a $\ensuremath{Bank}$
By: Title:
OTHER BANKS:
ABN AMRO BANK N.V. By: ABN AMRO NORTH AMERICA, INC., its Agent
By: Title:
By: Title:
BANKBOSTON, N.A.
By: Title:
COMERICA BANK
By: Title:
THE FIFTH THIRD BANK OF COLUMBUS
By: Title:

# [SIGNATURE PAGE 4 OF 4 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]

FIRST HAWAIIAN BANK

By:
Title:
MARINE MIDLAND BANK
Dva
By:
MERCANTILE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
_
By:
Title:
STAR BANK, N.A.
•
By:
Title:
WACHOVIA BANK OF GEORGIA, N.A.
WACHOVIA BANK OF GLORGIA, N.A.
By:
Title:
JELLO EADOO DANK N. A
WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.
By:
ri+lo.

# EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT is entered into as of the 19th day of May, 1998, by and among CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation ("CSC"), CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION, an Ohio corporation ("Consolidated") (CSC and Consolidated are hereinafter jointly referred to as "Employer"), and William G. Kelley, an individual residing in Florida ("Executive").

### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Employer and Executive desire to enter into this Employment Agreement to insure to Employer and Employer's direct and indirect subsidiaries the services of Executive and to set forth the rights and duties of the parties thereto; and

WHEREAS, Executive is a director of each of CSC and Consolidated; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CSC and Consolidated have elected Executive as the Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of each of CSC and Consolidated.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises herein contained, the parties agree as follows:

### EMPLOYMENT; DUTIES.

- (a) EMPLOYMENT. Employer employs Executive as the senior officer of each of CSC and Consolidated, with such duties as may from time to time be prescribed by the Board of Directors of CSC and Consolidated and as the Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of each of CSC and Consolidated, and Executive hereby accepts such employment, on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.
- (b) DUTIES. During the term of this Employment Agreement, Executive shall devote his entire business time and attention to his employment and perform diligently such duties as are customarily performed by the Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of a company the size and structure of CSC and its subsidiaries, together with, as of the date hereof, such other duties as may be reasonably requested from time to time by the Board of Directors of CSC or Consolidated, which duties shall be consistent with his position as set forth above and in Paragraph 2 of this Employment Agreement. Executive shall cooperate and work with all committees formed by the Board of Directors of CSC or Consolidated including, but not limited to, the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, and the Nominating Committee. As Chief Executive Officer Executive shall have the authority to implement the policies and deci-

sions of the Board of Directors and to direct Employer's business strategy, development and operations. So long as Executive shall serve as Chief Executive Officer, Executive shall report only to the Board of Directors of each of CSC and Consolidated and shall not be subject to the authority, direction or discretion of any officer, whether in a position now existing or hereafter created or appointed. All employees of CSC and Consolidated shall, directly or indirectly, report to Executive.

Any material adverse modification or diminution of Executive's duties or diminution in Executive's authority, title or office shall be considered to be a Change in Control of Employer and shall entitle Executive, in addition to any other rights he may have, to the rights and remedies provided in Paragraph 7(d) hereof; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that Executive shall notify Employer of any alleged such modification or diminution, specifying the same, and Employer shall have a period of fifteen (15) days after such notice to cure such alleged modification or diminution before Executive shall be entitled to exercise any such rights and remedies. The right of Employer to cure any modification or diminution in Executive's authority, title or office set forth in the immediately preceding sentence shall be applicable only in the event that a "Change in Control" shall have occurred solely by reason of such modification or diminution of duties or authority and shall not be applicable following the occurrence of any change in Control as defined in Paragraph 7(f)

- (c) FULL TIME AND ATTENTION. Except as expressly permitted herein, Executive shall not, without the prior written consent of Employer, directly or indirectly during the term of this Employment Agreement, render services of a business, professional or commercial nature to any other person or firm, whether for compensation or otherwise. So long as it does not interfere with his full time employment hereunder, Executive may (i) attend to outside investments and serve as a director, trustee or officer of or otherwise participate in educational, welfare, social, religious and civic organizations and (ii) serve as a director of not more than two (2) public corporations that are not engaged in the Company Business (as defined in Paragraph 9(a) hereof).
- (d) BUSINESS DECISIONS. Executive shall have no liability to Employer for any act or omission undertaken during the term of this Employment Agreement in his good faith business judgment in furtherance of his duties as prescribed in or under this Employment Agreement.

### TERM AND POSITIONS.

(a) TERM. Subject to the provisions for termination as hereinafter provided, the term of this Employment Agreement shall begin on May 19, 1998 and shall continue thereafter until Executive's employment is terminated as provided in Paragraph 7. This Employment Agreement supersedes and replaces the December 12, 1989 Employment Agreement between Employer and Executive as amended on January 26, 1995.

 ${\tt POSITIONS.} \ \, {\tt Executive \ shall, \ without \ any \ compensation}$ (b) in addition to that which is specifically provided in this Employment Agreement, serve as an officer of CSC and of Consolidated and in such substitute or further offices or positions with Employer or any subsidiary of Employer as shall from time to time be reasonably requested by the Board of Directors of CSC. Each office and position with Employer or any subsidiary of Employer in which Executive may serve or to which he may be appointed shall be consistent in title and duties with Executive's position as Chief Executive Officer of Employer. For service as a director or officer of CSC, Consolidated or any subsidiary of either of them, which service shall in each instance be deemed to be at the request of CSC and its Board of Directors, Executive shall be entitled to the protection of the applicable indemnification provisions of the charter and by-laws of CSC, Consolidated and any such subsidiary and Employer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Executive from and against any claims, liabilities, damages or expenses incurred by Executive in or arising out of the status, capacities and activities as an officer or director of CSC, Consolidated and any subsidiary of either to the maximum extent permitted by law. For purposes of this Employment Agreement, all references herein to subsidiaries of CSC and/or Consolidated shall be deemed to include references to subsidiaries now or hereafter existing.

#### COMPENSATION.

- (a) SALARY. For all services he may render to CSC and Consolidated (and any subsidiary of either of them) during the term of this Employment Agreement, as determined by the Compensation Committee of the CSC Board of Directors on February 23, 1998, Employer shall pay to Executive, commencing on February 1, 1998, a salary at the rate (the "Salary Rate") of Nine Hundred Thirty-five Thousand Dollars (\$935,000.00) per annum, subject to adjustment by the Board of Directors of CSC, payable in those installments customarily used in payment of salaries to Employer's executives (but in no event less frequently than monthly).
- (b) BONUS. In addition to the salary compensation as above stated, Employer shall pay to Executive bonus compensation during the term of this Employment Agreement in amounts to be determined and paid as follows:
  - (i) Beginning February 1, 1998 for each fiscal year of Employer completed during the term of this Employment Agreement, an amount equal to the Salary Rate at the end of such fiscal year multiplied by the Bonus Payout percentage as determined by the Bonus Program set each fiscal year by the Compensation Committee of the CSC Board of Directors. The Bonus Program is based upon the achievement of Employer's annual financial plan. The Target Bonus for

Executive is 100% of base salary and the Stretch Bonus for Executive is 200% of base salary, both of which are defined in the Bonus Program and are subject to adjustment by the Board of Directors of CSC.

- (ii) Any bonus paid for a fiscal year under Paragraph 3(b)(i) shall be paid within forty-five (45) days after Employer's independent auditor has delivered its opinion with respect to the financial statements of Employer for such fiscal year (whether or not Executive is then in the employ of Employer). Employer shall use all reasonable efforts to cause such auditor to deliver such opinion within ninety (90) days after the close of such fiscal year.
- (iii) For purposes of this Employment Agreement, the term "fiscal year" shall mean with respect to any year, the period commencing on the Sunday next following the Saturday closest to January 31 in a calendar year and ending in the next following calendar year on the Saturday closest to January 31.
- 4. DISABILITY IN THE EVENT OF DEATH OR PERMANENT DISABILITY. In the event of a termination of employment as a consequence of Employee's death or "permanent disability" (as defined below) during the term of this Employment Agreement:
  - (a) Executive or his estate, as the case may be, shall be entitled to receive a pro rata portion of the bonus applicable to the fiscal year in which such death or permanent disability occurs, as such bonus is determined under Paragraph 3(b) of this Employment Agreement. Such pro rata portion shall be determined by multiplying a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of days in the applicable fiscal year elapsed prior to the date of death or permanent disability, as the case may be, and the denominator of which shall be 365, by the amount of bonus that would have been payable, if any, pursuant to such Paragraph 3(b), if Executive had remained employed under this Employment Agreement for the entire applicable fiscal year. The bonus shall be paid when and as provided in Paragraph 3(b)(ii) of this Employment Agreement.
  - (b) Except as otherwise provided in Paragraphs 5, 6 and 8 of this Employment Agreement, Executive shall be entitled to no further compensation or other benefits under this Employment Agreement, except as to that portion of any unpaid salary and other benefits accrued and earned by him hereunder up to and including the date of such death or permanent disability, as the case may be.
  - (c) For the purposes of this Employment Agreement, Executive's "permanent disability" occurrence and benefits shall be determined in the same manner as are other such occurrences and benefits under Employer's Disability Policy in effect at the date of the occurrence.
- 5. TRANSPORTATION. During the term of this Employment Agreement, Employer shall provide Executive with a current luxury model automobile purchased or leased by Em-

ployer, in accordance with applicable policies of Employer. Employer shall pay all maintenance and repair expenses with respect to the automobile, procure and maintain in force at Employer's expense collision, comprehensive, and liability insurance coverage with respect to the automobile, and pay operating expenses with respect to the automobile to the extent such operating expenses are incurred in the conduct of Employer's business. Executive shall be permitted and is expected to utilize Employer's aircraft for business and personal travel in order to increase his personal security and his availability to attend to the Company Business.

### 6. LIFE INSURANCE AND OTHER BENEFITS.

- (a) VACATION AND SICK LEAVE. Executive shall be entitled to such periods of vacation and sick leave allowance each year which shall not be less than as provided under Employer's Vacation and Sick Leave Policy for executive officers.
- (b) GROUP PLANS, ETC. Executive shall be entitled to participate in any group life, hospitalization, or disability insurance plan, health program, or other executive benefit plan (other than bonus compensation or performance plans to the extent that such plans, in the case of Executive, are in lieu of the bonus plan set forth in Paragraph 3(b) above) that is generally available to senior executive officers, as distinguished from general management, of Employer. Executive's participation in and benefits under any such plan shall be on the terms and subject to the conditions specified in the governing document of the particular plan. Executive shall be entitled to 100% reimbursement of his medical and dental expenses incurred during the term of this Employment Agreement.

### 7. TERMINATION AND FURTHER COMPENSATION.

- (a) The employment of Executive under this Employment Agreement and the term hereof may be terminated:
  - (i) by Employer or Executive at any time upon thirty (30) days notice to the other party of such termination, or
  - (ii) by Employer on death or permanent disability of Executive, or
  - (iii) By Employer for cause at any time. For purposes hereof, the term "cause" shall mean:
    - (A) Executive's conviction of fraud or a felony or any crime involving moral turpitude or Executive's commission of acts of embezzlement or theft in connection with his duties or in the course of his employment with Employer or any subsidiary;

- (B) Executive's willful breach of any material provision of this Employment Agreement which failure has not been cured in all substantial respects within ten (10) days after Employer gives notice thereof to Executive; or
- (C) Executive's willful, wrongful engagement in any Competitive Activity (as that term is hereinafter defined).

Any termination of Executive for "cause" shall not be effective until all the following shall have taken place:

- (i) The Secretary of CSC pursuant to resolution of the Board of Directors of CSC, shall have given written notice to Executive that, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, Executive may be terminated for cause, specifying the details;
- (ii) Executive shall have been given a reasonable opportunity to appear before the Board of Directors prior to the determination of the Board evidenced by such resolution;
- (iii) With respect to any matters other than Executive's conviction of fraud or a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude, Executive shall neither have ceased to engage in the activity giving rise to the proposed determination for cause within thirty (30) days after his receipt of such notice nor diligently taken all reasonable steps to that end during such thirty (30) day period and thereafter;
- (iv) After complying with the procedures set forth in subparagraphs (i) through (iii) above, Executive shall have been delivered a certified copy of a resolution of the Board of Directors of CSC adopted by the affirmative vote of not less than three-fourths (3/4) of the entire membership of the Board of Directors finding that Executive was guilty of the conduct giving rise to the termination for cause.

Any termination by reason of the foregoing shall not be in limitation of any other right or remedy Employer may have under this Employment Agreement, at law, in equity or otherwise. On any termination of this Employment Agreement, Executive shall be deemed to have resigned from all offices and directorships held by Executive in Employer and any subsidiaries of CSC.

The term "Competitive Activity" shall mean Executive's participation, without the written consent of the Board of Directors of CSC, in the management of any business operation of any enterprise if such operation (a "Competitive Operation") engages in substantial and direct competition with Employer or any subsidiary. For purposes of this Employment Agreement, a business enterprise shall be considered in substantial and direct competition with Employer or any subsidiary if such business operation's sales of closeout merchandise or toy merchandise amount to ten percent (10%) or more of such business operation's

total sales. "Competitive Activity" shall not include (i) the mere ownership of securities in any publicly traded enterprise and the exercise of rights appurtenant thereto or (ii) participation in management of any publicly traded enterprise or business operation thereof other than in connection with the Competitive Operation of such enterprise.

- In the event of termination for any of the (b) reasons set forth in subparagraph (a)(iii) of this Paragraph 7, except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 8 of this Employment Agreement, Executive shall be entitled to no further compensation or other benefits under this Employment Agreement (other than as provided by law), except as to that portion of any unpaid salary and other benefits accrued and earned by him hereunder up to and including the effective date of such termination, and Executive shall not be entitled to receive any bonus determined under Paragraph 3 of this Employment Agreement or otherwise, except for and in respect of completed fiscal years for which Executive has not then been paid.
- In the event of the termination of (c) Executive's employment by Employer pursuant to subparagraph (a)(i) above, Executive shall be entitled to severance compensation as follows: (x) the continuation of his compensation for a period of 365 days, including bonus compensation (as provided below), and (y) all other benefits and perguisites to which he is entitled hereunder for a period of 365 days following the date of such termination of employment, except that (i) the benefits and perquisites referred to in clause (y) shall be sooner reduced and/or terminated (other than as provided by law) when and to the extent that the Executive is entitled to receive the same from another employer during such period (but no obligation of Executive to attempt to mitigate damages under this subparagraph (c) shall be implied) and (ii) any bonus compensation to be paid to Executive in respect of such period shall be limited solely to the pro rata portion thereof earned in the fiscal year of Employer (determined in the manner provided in Paragraph 3) in which such termination occurs, except for and in respect of completed fiscal years for which Executive has not then been paid.
- (d) If there is a Change in Control (as defined in Section 7(f) hereof) and Executive's employment is thereupon terminated or terminated within twenty four (24) months after the effective date thereof, Executive shall be entitled to the termination benefits set forth in Section 7(e) hereof. For purposes of this Employment Agreement, Executive's employment shall be deemed to have been terminated only if Employer terminates such employment other than for cause (as defined in Section 7(a)(iii) hereof) or if a Constructive Termination occurs. "Constructive Termination" shall mean a resignation by Executive because of any material adverse change or material diminution in Executive's then current reporting relationships, job description, duties, responsibilities, compensation, perquisites, office or location of employment (as reasonably determined by Executive in his good faith discretion).

- (e) The benefits payable to Executive pursuant to Section 7(d) hereof are as follows:
  - (i) Consolidated shall pay to Executive a lump sum cash payment, net of any applicable withholding taxes in an amount equal to two times the annual salary paid or payable to Executive immediately prior to the effective date of such Change in Control (the "Lump Sum Payment"); provided, that if there are fewer than twenty four (24) months remaining from the date of Executive's termination to Executive's normal retirement date at age 65, Consolidated shall instead pay Executive the amount obtained by multiplying the Lump Sum Payment by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months so remaining and the denominator of which is 24. The applicable amount shall be paid on the later of (x) the next business day after the day Executive's employment is terminated, or (y) the next business day after the effective date of such Change in Control.
  - (ii) In addition to the payment described in Subsection 7(e)(i) above, Consolidated shall pay to Executive a lump sum cash payment, net of any applicable withholding taxes, in an amount equal to two times the Executive's then current annual Stretch Bonus, as defined in the Bonus Program described in Subsection 3(b)(i) above (the "Lump Sum Bonus Payment"); provided, that (A) in the event the Executive's then current Stretch Bonus is undefined or is not subject to a maximum payout, the Executive's annual Stretch Bonus shall be deemed to be 200% of the Executive's then current base salary and (B) if there are fewer than twenty four (24) months remaining from the date of Executive's termination to Executive's normal retirement date at age 65, Consolidated shall instead pay Executive the amount obtained by multiplying the Lump Sum Bonus Payment by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months so remaining and the denominator of which is 24. Executive shall receive the Lump Sum Bonus Payment at the same time Executive receives the Lump Sum Payment described in Subsection 7(e)(i) above.
  - For a period of one year, Executive (iii) (and his family, if their participation is permitted under the terms of the subject plan) shall be entitled to participate in any group life, hospitalization, or disability insurance plan, health program, or other executive benefit plan (other than bonus compensation or performance plans to the extent that such plans, in the case of Executive, are in lieu of the bonus plan set forth in Subsection 7(e)(ii) above) that is generally available to similarly titled executive officers of Consolidated; provided, that Executive's participation in the plans referred to in this Subsection 7(e)(iii)

shall be terminated (other than as provided by law) when and to the extent that Executive is entitled to receive the same from another employer during such period. Executive's participation in and benefits under any such plan shall be on the terms and subject to the conditions specified in the governing document of the particular plan, including, but not limited to, reimbursement of 100% of all medical

and dental expenses incurred during the period of participation in the plans referred to above.

- (iv) If all or any portion of the amount payable to Executive under this Employment Agreement, either alone or together with other amounts that Executive is entitled to receive in connection with a Change in Control, constitutes "excess parachute payments," within the meaning of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), or successor provision, that are subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (or any similar tax or assessment), the amounts payable hereunder shall be increased to the extent necessary to place Executive in the same after-tax position as Executive would have been in had no such excise tax or assessment been imposed on any such payment paid or payable to Executive under this Employment Agreement or any other payment that Executive may receive as a result of such Change in Control. The determination of the amount of any such tax or assessment and the resulting amount of incremental payment required hereby in connection therewith shall be made by the independent accounting firm employed by Consolidated immediately prior to the applicable Change in Control, within thirty (30) calendar days after the payment of the amount payable pursuant to Subsections (e)(i), (e)(ii) and (e)(iii) hereof, and said incremental payment shall be made within five (5) business days after said determination has been made.
- If, after the date upon which any (v) payment required under this Employment Agreement has been made, it is determined (pursuant to final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction, or an agreed upon tax assessment) that the amount of excise or other similar taxes or assessments payable by Executive is greater than the amount initially so determined, then Consolidated shall pay Executive an amount equal to the sum of (i) such additional excise or other similar taxes, plus (ii) any interest, fines and penalties resulting from such underpayment, plus (iii) an amount necessary to reimburse Executive for any income, excise or other tax or assessment payable by Executive with respect to the amounts specified in (i) and (ii) above, and the reimbursement provided by this clause (iii). Payment thereof shall be made within five (5) business days after the date upon which such subsequent determination is made.
- (f) As used herein, "Change in Control" means any of the following events:
   (i) any person or group (as defined for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) becomes the beneficial owner of, or has the right to acquire (by contract, option, warrant, conversion of convertible securities or otherwise), 20% or more of the outstanding equity

securities of CSC entitled to vote for the election of directors; (ii) a majority of the Board of Directors of CSC is replaced within any period of two years or less by directors not nominated and approved by a majority of the directors of CSC in office at the beginning of such period (or their successors so nominated and approved), or a majority of the Board of Di-

rectors of CSC at any date consists of persons not so nominated and approved; (iii) the stockholders of CSC approve an agreement to reorganize, merge or consolidate with another corporation (other than Consolidated or an affiliate); or (iv) the stockholders of CSC adopt a plan or approve an agreement to sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of CSC's assets (including without limitation, a plan of liquidation or dissolution), in a single transaction or series of related transactions. The effective date of any such Change in Control shall be the date upon which the last event occurs or last action taken such that the definition of such Change in Control (as set forth above) has been met. For purposes of this Employment Agreement, the term "affiliate" shall mean: (i) any person or entity qualified as part of an affiliated group which includes Consolidated and CSC pursuant to Section 1504 of the Code; or (ii) any person or entity qualified as part of a parent-subsidiary group of trades and businesses under common control within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.414(c)(2)(b)Determination of affiliate shall be tested as of the date immediately prior to any event constituting a Change in Control. The other provisions of this Paragraph 7(f) notwithstanding, the term "Change in Control" shall not mean any transaction, merger, consolidation, or reorganization in which CSC exchanges or offers to exchange newly issued or treasury shares in an amount less than 50% of the then outstanding equity securities of CSC entitled to vote for the election of directors, for 51% or more of the outstanding equity securities entitled to vote for the election of at least the majority of the directors of a corporation other than Employer or an affiliate thereof (the "Acquired Corporation"), or for all or substantially all of the assets of the Acquired Corporation.

- (g) Executive shall provide
  Consolidated with at least forty
  five (45) days notice of any
  election by Executive to terminate
  his employment, which shall set
  forth in detail the grounds upon
  which any Constructive Termination
  of Executive's employment is based,
  and shall not be entitled to the
  benefits available hereunder in
  connection therewith unless such
  notice is timely given.
- (h) If Executive hires legal counsel with respect to any alleged failure by Consolidated or CSC to comply with any of the terms of this Employment Agreement, or institutes any negotiation or institutes or responds to any legal action to assert or defend the validity of or to enforce Executive's rights under, or to recover damages for breach of, this Employment Agreement, Consolidated shall pay Executive's actual expenses for attorneys' fees and disbursements, together with such additional

payments, if any, as may be necessary so that the net after-tax payments so made to Executive equal such fees and disbursements; provided, that Executive shall be responsible for his own fees and expenses with respect to any lawsuit between Executive and Employer to enforce rights or obligations under this Employment Agreement in which Employer is the prevailing party. The fees and expenses incurred by Executive in instituting or responding to any such negotiation or legal action shall be paid by Consolidated as they are incurred, in advance of the final disposition of the action or proceeding, upon re-

ceipt of an undertaking by Executive to repay such amounts if Employer is ultimately determined to be the prevailing party.

- (i) If any amount due Executive hereunder is not paid when due, then Consolidated shall pay interest on said amount at an annual rate equal to the base lending rate of National City Bank, Cleveland, Ohio, or successor, as in effect from time to time, for the period between the date on which such payment is due and the date said amount is paid.
- (j) Consolidated's obligation to pay Executive the compensation and to make the arrangements required hereunder shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance, including, without limitation, any setoff, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right that Consolidated may have against Executive or otherwise. All amounts payable by Consolidated hereunder shall be paid without notice or demand. Subject to the proviso in Section 7(h) above, each and every payment made hereunder by Consolidated shall be final and Consolidated shall not seek to recover all or any part of such payment from Executive or from whosoever may be entitled thereto, for any reason whatsoever Executive shall not be obligated to seek other employment or compensation or insurance in mitigation of any amount payable or arrangement made under any provision of this Employment Agreement, and the obtaining of any such other employment or compensation or insurance shall in no event effect any reduction of Consolidated's obligations to make the payments and arrangements required to be made under this Employment Agreement.
- (k) From and after any termination of Executive's employment, Executive shall retain in confidence and not use for his own benefit or on behalf of any other person or entity any confidential information known to him concerning CSC, Consolidated, their respective subsidiaries or their respective businesses so long as such information is not publicly disclosed by someone other than Executive.
- (1) In partial consideration of the benefits granted to Executive herein, Executive agrees that during the six-month period immediately following Executive's termination, if Executive shall have received benefits under Section 7(e) above, Executive shall not engage in any Competitive Activity, as defined in Section 7(a).
- (m) Any provision in this Employment Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating or affecting the remaining provision hereof, and any

such prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.

(n) Except as specifically set forth herein, this Employment Agreement shall not be deemed to negate, supersede or alter any other agreement or arrangement be-

tween Executive and Consolidated or CSC or any other rights to which Executive may be entitled, and shall be and remain in effect in addition to any such other agreement or rights, whether now existing or later created.

- 8. EXPENSES. Employer shall reimburse Executive during the term of this Employment Agreement for travel, entertainment and other expenses reasonably incurred by Executive in the promotion of Employer's business. Executive shall furnish such documentation with respect to reimbursement to be paid under this Paragraph 8 as Employer shall reasonably request.
- 9. COVENANTS OF EXECUTIVE.
  - (a) Covenant Against Competition. Executive acknowledges that (i) the principal businesses of Employer include the operation of its "Odd Lots", "Big Lots",
    "MacFrugal's" and "Pic N' Save" discount general merchandise consumer goods retail outlets, the inventories of which are acquired primarily through special purchase situations such as overstocks, closeouts, liquidations, bankruptcies, wholesale distribution of overstock, distress, liquidation and other volume inventories the operation of its KoB Toy, KoB Toy Works, and KoB Toy Liquidator toy stores, and the operation of its Big Lots Furniture and Odd Lots Furniture stores (the "Company Business"); (ii) Employer is one of the limited number of persons who has developed such business; (iii) the Company Business is national in scope; (iv) Executive's work for Employer will give him access to the confidential affairs of Employer; and (v) the agreements and covenants of Executive contained in this Paragraph 9 are essential to the business and goodwill of Employer. Accordingly, Executive covenants and agrees that:
    - During the term of Executive's employment (A) with Employer and for a period of two (2) years (the "Restricted Period") following either the voluntary termination of such employment by Executive or the termination of such employment for "cause" (as such terms is defined in Subsection 7(a)(iii)above, Executive shall not in any location where Employer's retail stores are located throughout the United States of America, directly or indirectly, (1) engage in the Company Business for Executive's own account (other than pursuant to this Employment Agreement), (2) render any services to any person engaged in such activities (other than Employer), or (3) or engage in any Competitive Activity (as defined above), provided, however, that in the event of a Change in Control the Restricted Period shall be for a period of six (6) months.
    - (B) During the Restricted Period, Executive shall keep secret and retain in strictest confidence, and shall not use for his benefit or the benefit of others, all confidential matters relating to the Company Business hereafter learned by Executive, and shall not disclose them to anyone except with Employer's express written consent and except for information which (i) is

at the time of receipt or thereafter becomes publicly known through no wrongful act of Executive, or (ii) is received from a third party not under an obligation to keep such information confidential and without breach of this Employment Agreement.

- (C) So long as there has not occurred a Change in Control, Executive shall not, during the Restricted Period, without Employer's prior written consent, directly or indirectly, solicit or encourage to leave the employment of Employer or any of its subsidiaries, any executive of Employer or any of its subsidiaries.
- (D) All memoranda, notes, lists, records and other documents (and all copies thereof) made or compiled by Executive or made available to Executive concerning the Company Business shall be Employer's property and shall be delivered to Employer at any time on request.
- (b) Rights and Remedies Upon Breach. If Executive breaches any of the provisions of Paragraph 9(a) (the "Restrictive Covenants"), or a breach thereof is imminent, Employer shall have the following rights and remedies, each of which rights and remedies shall be independent of the other and severally enforceable, and all of which rights and remedies shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights and remedies available to Employer under law or in equity:
  - (i) The right and remedy to have the Restrictive Covenants specifically enforced by any court having equity jurisdiction, including, without limitation, the right to an entry against Executive of restraining orders and injunctions (preliminary, temporary or permanent) against violations, threatened or actual, and whether or not then continuing, of such covenants, it being acknowledged and agreed that any such breach or threatened breach will cause irreparable injury to Employer and that money damage will not provide adequate remedy to Employer; and
  - (ii) The right and remedy to require Executive to account for and pay over to Employer all compensation, profits, monies, accruals, increments, or other benefits derived or received by him as the result of any transactions constituting a breach of the Restrictive Covenants. Employer may set off any amounts finally determined to be due it under this Paragraph 9(b) against any amounts owed to Executive.
- (c) Severability of Covenants. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Restrictive Covenants are reasonable in geographical and temporal scope, with respect to the activities restricted and in all other respects. If it is determined that any of the Restrictive Covenants, or any part thereof, is invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of the Restrictive Covenants shall not thereby be affected and shall be given full effect, without regard to the invalid portions.

- (d) Blue-penciling. If it is determined that any of the Restrictive Covenants, or any part thereof, is unenforceable because of the duration or geographical scope of such provision, the duration or scope of such provision, as the case may be, shall be reduced so that such provision becomes enforceable and, in its reduced form, such provision shall then be enforceable and shall be enforced.
- 10. WITHHOLDING TAXES. Except as otherwise provided, all payments to Executive, including the bonus compensation under this Employment Agreement, shall be subject to withholding on account of federal, state, and local taxes as required by law. Any amounts remitted by Employer to the appropriate taxing authorities a taxes withheld by Employer from Executive on income realized by Executive shall reduce the amounts payable by Employer to Executive hereunder. If any particular payment required hereunder is insufficient to provide the amount of such taxes required to be withheld, Employer may withhold such taxes from any other payment due Executive.
- 11. NO CONFLICTING AGREEMENTS. Executive represents and warrants that he is not a party to any agreement, contract or understanding, whether employment or otherwise, which would restrict or would prohibit him from undertaking or performing employment in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Employment Agreement.
- 12. SEVERABLE PROVISIONS. The provisions of this Employment Agreement are severable, and if any one or more provisions may be determined to be illegal or otherwise unenforceable, in whole or in part, the remaining provisions and any partially unenforceable provision to the extent enforceable in any jurisdiction shall, nevertheless, be binding and enforceable.
- 13. BINDING AGREEMENT. Each of CSC and Consolidated shall require any successor (whether direct or indirect), by purchase, merger, consolidation, reorganization or otherwise, to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of any of them expressly to assume and to agree to perform this Employment Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that each of them would be required to perform if no such succession has taken place. This Employment Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of CSC and Consolidated and any successor of any of them, including without limitation any persons acquiring directly or indirectly all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of any of them whether by sale, merger, consolidation, reorganization or otherwise (and such successor shall thereafter be deemed the "Employer" for purposes of this Employment Agreement), but shall not otherwise be assignable or delegatable by CSC or Consolidated.

This Employment Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Executive and each of Executive's personal or legal representatives, executive, administrators, successor, heirs, distributees and/or legatees.

14. NOTICES. Any notice or other communication required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally, telegraphed, telexed, sent by facsimile transmission or sent by certified, registered or express mail, postage prepaid. Any such notice shall be deemed given when so delivered personally, telegraphed, telexed, or sent by facsimile transmission or, if mailed five (5) days after the date of deposit in the United States mails as follows:

(i) if to the Employer to: Consolidated Stores Corporation

300 Phillipi Road

Columbus, Ohio 43228-1310 Attention: Albert J. Bell, Esq. Executive Vice President

with a copy to: Chairman of the Compensation

Committee of the CSC Board of

Directors

(ii) if to the Executive to: William G. Kelley

2800 Gordon Drive Naples, Florida 34102

Any such person may by notice given in accordance with this Paragraph to the other parties hereto, designate another address or person for receipt by such person of notices hereunder.

- 15. WAIVER. The failure of either party to enforce any provision or provisions of this Employment Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a waiver of any such provision or provisions as to any future violations thereof, nor prevent that party thereafter from enforcing each and every other provision of this Employment Agreement. The rights granted the parties herein are cumulative and the waiver of any single remedy shall not constitute a waiver of such party's rights to assert all other legal remedies available to it under the circumstances.
- 16. MISCELLANEOUS. This Employment Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between the parties and may not be modified or terminated orally. No modification, termination or attempted waiver shall be valid unless in writing and signed by the party against whom the same is sought to be enforced. If Executive is successful in any proceeding against Employer to collect amounts due Executive under this Employment Agreement, Employer shall reimburse Executive for his court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees in connection therewith.
- 17. GOVERNING LAW. This Employment Agreement shall be governed by and constructed according to the laws of the State of Ohio.

- 18. CAPTIONS AND PARAGRAPHS HEADINGS. Captions and paragraph headings used herein are for convenience and are not a part of this Employment Agreement and shall not be used in construing it.
- 19. INTERPRETATION. Where necessary or appropriate to the meaning hereof, the singular and plural shall be deemed to include each other, and the masculine, feminine and neuter shall be deemed to include each other.
- 20. AMENDMENTS. Neither CSC nor Consolidated shall amend, terminate, or suspend this Employment Agreement or any provision hereof without the written consent of Executive.
- 21. LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES. It is the intent of Employer that Executive not be required to incur the expenses associated with the enforcement of his rights under this Employment Agreement in the event of a Change in Control by litigation or other legal action because the cost and expense thereof would substantially detract from the benefits intended to be extended to Executive hereunder. Accordingly, if it should appear to Executive that Employer has failed to comply with any of its obligations under this Employment Agreement, or in the event that Employer or any other person takes any action to declare this Employment Agreement void and/or unenforceable, or institutes any litigation designed to deny, and/or to recover from, Executive the benefits intended to be provided to Executive hereunder, Employer hereby irrevocably authorizes Executive from time to time to retain counsel of his choice at the expense of Employer to represent Executive in connection with the initiation or defense of any litigation and/or other legal action, whether by or against Employer or any director, officer, stockholder, or other person affiliated with Employer in any jurisdiction. Notwithstanding any existing or prior attorney-client relationship between Employer and such counsel, into an attorney-client relationship with such counsel, and in that connection Employer acknowledges that a confidential relationship shall exist between Executive and such counsel. Employer shall pay and be solely responsible for any and all attorneys' and related fees and expenses incurred by Executive as a result of Employer or any person contesting the validity and/or enforceability of this Employment Agreement or any provision hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this  ${\tt Employment}$  Agreement to be effective as of the 19th day of May, 1998.

Attest: CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION,

a Delaware Corporation

/s/ Albert J. Bell By: /s/ Michael J. Potter

-----Secretary

Michael J. Potter, Executive Vice President

Attest: CONSOLIDATED STORES CORPORATION,

an Ohio Corporation

/s/ Albert J. Bell By: /s/ Michael J. Potter

Secretary Michael J. Potter, Executive Vice President

/s/ William G. Kelley

-----

William G Kelley

This schedule contains summary financial data extracted from Consolidated Stores Corporation and Subsidiaries Consolidated Financial Statements filed in FORM 10-Q as of August 1, 1998, and the thirteen and twenty-six week periods then ended, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to such financial statements.

```
3-M0S
         JAN-30-1999
            FEB-01-1998
              AUG-01-1998
                          39,408
                         0
                   15,000
                 1,190,195
            1,392,439
                1,070,093
417,562
              2,068,865
         535,146
                        385,168
               0
                          0
                         1,094
                   1,076,193
2,068,865
                      1,647,172
            1,647,172
                          964,938
                  660,476
                    0
                     0
              9,764
                11,994
                    4,671
             7,323
                      0
                      0
                     7,323
0.07
0.06
```